
For the best experience, open this PDF portfolio in
 
Acrobat X or Adobe Reader X, or later.
 

Get Adobe Reader Now! 

http://www.adobe.com/go/reader




ITEM #1 
March 23, 2016 


 


1 
 


                                                                                


 


 ENVIRONMENTAL LABORATORY ACCREDITATION PROGRAM 
ELTAC MEETING 


 Wednesday, March 23, 2016 – 9:00 a.m. 
1001 I Street 


Sacramento, CA 95814 
 


 
 
 
 


MEETING PACKET 
 
 
ITEM #1 – Call to Order/Roll Call – 9:00 am 
 
 


Name Affiliation Type Present 


Christine Sotelo ELAP DELAPO  


Katelyn McCarthy ELAP, Scribe Scribe  


Mindy Boele CWEA Rep  


Jill Brodt Brelje and Race Laboratories Rep  


Bruce Burton Division of Drinking Water SRAE  


Gail Cho CA Dept. of Fish and Wildlife SRAE  


Stephen Clarke Pacific EcoRisk Rep  


Ronald Coss CWEA Rep  


Huy Do CASA Rep  


Andy Eaton, Eurofins Eaton Analytical Rep  


Miriam Ghabour Metropolitan Water District of Southern 
California 


Rep  


Bruce Godfrey ACIL Rep  


Anthony Gonzales CAPHLD Rep  


Rich Gossett Physis Environmental Rep  


David Kimbrough Pasadena Water and Power Rep  


Mark Koekemoer Napa Sanitation District Rep  


Bruce LaBelle Dept. of Toxic Substances Control SRAE  


Allison Mackenzie Babcock Laboratories Rep  


Guilda Neshvad Positive Lab Service Rep  


Renee Spears State Water Resources Control Board SRAE  


 
 
Abbreviation Member Type 


DELAPO Designated ELAP Officer, nonvoting 


Scribe Minutes (non-member) 


SRAE State Regulatory Agency Employee, nonvoting 


Rep Representative Member, voting 


 
 








ITEM #2 
March 23, 2016 


2 
 


 
ITEM #2 – Public Comments on Items Not on Agenda – 9:05 am 
 
Notes: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   
 
Action Items: 


 
 


 








  


 


NOTICE OF ENVIRONMENTAL LABORATORY TECHNICAL ADVISORY 
COMMITTEE (ELTAC) MEETING 


 
March 23, 2016 


9:00 a.m. – 5:00 p.m. 
(or until completion of business) 


California Environmental Protection Agency Building 
1001 I Street, Room 2540 
Sacramento, CA 95814 


 
The Environmental Laboratory Accreditation Program (ELAP) will hold a meeting of its 
technical advisory committee, Environmental Laboratory Technical Advisory Committee 
(ELTAC), as noted above. The notice and agenda for this meeting and others can be 
found at  www.waterboards.ca.gov/elap. For further information regarding this agenda, 
see below or contact ELAP at  elapca@waterboards.ca.gov or (916) 323-3431. 


 


This meeting is available via teleconference and webcast. See connection 
information below. 


 


 


AGENDA 


ITEM #1 - Call to Order/Roll Call 


ITEM #2 - Public Comments on Items Not on Agenda 
(The Committee will not take any action but will consider placing any item 
raised on the agenda at a future meeting.) 


 
ITEM #3 - Welcome 


1.  Division of Drinking Water Executive Staff remarks 
2.  Designated ELAP Officer remarks 
3.  Introductions of committee members 


 
ITEM #4 - Procedural Review 


1. Establish ground rules for all meetings 
2. Review By-Laws to clarify the role of ELTAC 
3. Discuss development of Mission Statement 
4. Review Bagley-Keene Open Meeting Act requirements 


 


 



http://www.waterboards.ca.gov/elap

mailto:elapca@waterboards.ca.gov





ELTAC Meeting  March 23, 2016 


5. Review Robert’s Rules of Order 
6. ELTAC Members’ roles and responsibilities 
7. Reporting procedures 


 
ITEM #5 - Laboratory Accreditation Standard 


1.  Presentation and discussion of the three laboratory accreditation standard 
options in the Expert Review Panel report 


 
ITEM #6 - Field of Testing Lists 


1.  Presentation of revised FOT lists 
 


ITEM #7 – Future ELTAC Planning 
1.  Alignment with Work Plan  
2.  Discuss ELTAC advisory plan  
3.  Meeting dates and agenda items  


 
ITEM #8- Chairperson Nomination process 
 
ITEM #9 - Close 


1.  Review action items 
 
 


Connection Information 


 
Webcast www.calepa.ca.gov/broadcast 


Web Meeting https://stateofcaswrcbweb.centurylinkccc.com/CenturylinkWeb/KatelynM 
cCarthy 


Dial-in option 1-877-279-0026, Passcode 675535# 
 


*All meetings of the Environmental Laboratory Technical Advisory Committee comply with Government 
Code Section 11120-11132, known as the Bagley-Keene Open Meeting Act. 



http://www.calepa.ca.gov/broadcast

https://stateofcaswrcbweb.centurylinkccc.com/CenturylinkWeb/KatelynMcCarthy

https://stateofcaswrcbweb.centurylinkccc.com/CenturylinkWeb/KatelynMcCarthy






1 
 


Robert’s Rules of Order Cheat Sheet 
 
HOW TO INTRODUCE NEW BUSINESS – The Main Motion Process 
 


  


1
•Member makes a clearly worded motion to take action or a position.
• "I move..."
•Motions recorded in minutes


2
•Motion must be seconded.
• "Second!"
•A second allows discussion to occur; it does not signify approval.
•A motion without a second does not move forward.


3
•Chairman restates the motion.
• "It is moved and seconded that..."
•Provides clarity


4
•Discussion/debate occurs.
•Maker of motion starts discussion.
•Ammendments may be offered - return to step 1 to ammend motion: "I move to amend 
the motion by..."


5
•Chair closes discussion and states the question/asks for a vote.
• "The question is on the adoption of the motion that…"
•Motion repeated word-for-word


6
•Chairman provides voting directions:
•“Those in favor of the motion, say aye”; 
•“Those opposed, say no”


7
•Chairman announces the result of the vote:
•“The ayes have it, and the motion is adopted” or
•“The noes have it, the motion is lost.”
•Recorded in minutes







2 
 


Robert’s Rules of Order Cheat Sheet 
 
WHAT DO I SAY? 
 


To Do This Motion You Say This Debate 
Allowed? 


Vote 
Required 


Introduce Business Main “I move that…” Yes Majority 


Second a Motion Second “Second!” No No 


Change the Wording 
or add Clarity of a 
Motion 


Amend “I move to amend the motion by…” 


(adding words; striking out words; 
substitute words) 


Yes Majority 


Send to Committee Commit/ 
Refer 


“I move the motion be referred to 
…” 


 


Yes Majority 


Postpone Action until 
a Specific Time 


Postpone  “I move the motion be postponed 
until…” 


(provide a specific time on the 
agenda or next meeting date) 


Yes Majority 


Postpone Action until 
an Unspecified Time 
(a motion will be 
required to discuss in 
the future) 


Lay on 
the Table 


“I move to lay the motion on the 
table.” 


No  Majority 


Limit Debate Limit 
Debate 


“I move that the debate on this 
motion be limited to (one) speech 
of (two) minutes for each 
member.” 


No Two-
thirds 


End Debate or 
Request a Vote 


Previous 
Question 


“I move the previous question.” No Two-
thirds 


Take Intermission Recess “I move to recess for (time).” No Majority 


Close Meeting Adjourn “I move to adjourn.” No Majority 


 
  







3 
 


Robert’s Rules of Order Additional Information 
 
Why follow Robert’s Rules of Order? 
 Allows for democratic speech and action 
 Preservers order 
 Rights of the organization supersede the rights of individuals 
 Facilitates group decisions 


 
Meeting Agendas 


1. Approval of Minutes 
2. Reports (from officers, committees, task forces) 
3. Unfinished Business (replaces term “old business”) 
4. New Business – items brought forward by motion procedure 


 
Meeting Minutes 
 Minutes are a legal record of meetings and the organization. 
 Minutes are a record of what is done at a meeting, not what is said. 


 
Minutes should include: 


1. Name, date and location of meeting 
2. List of attendees (note presence of a quorum) 
3. Time meeting was called to order 
4. Conflict of Interest & Antitrust Avoidance Affirmation 
5. Approval of previous meeting minutes 
6. Motion text and name of maker 
7. Status/results of motions 
8. Time meeting was adjourned 


 
Minutes do not include: 
 Discussion 
 Personal opinion 
 Name of seconder of a motion is not necessary 
 Motions withdrawn 
 Entire reports (rather attach to minutes) 


 
Motion 
 A motion is a formal proposal by a member that the group take a certain action or 


position. 
 A main motion is required to begin the decision making process. 
 A motion occurs prior to discussion  


 
Ground Rules for Debating 
 Remarks must be germane (relevant and appropriate to the discussion); stay on subject. 
 Debate issues, not personalities 


 
  







4 
 


Robert’s Rules of Order Additional Information 
 
Subsidiary Motions 
Assist in treating or disposing of a main motion 
 Postpone Indefinitely = a way to dispose of an embarrassing motion before it can be 


brought to vote 
 Amend = a way to clarify or modify wording 


o Amendments should say exactly where in the main motion the change is to be 
made, and precisely what words to use. 


o Amendments must be germane 
o Follow the motion process for an amendment, then follow procedure to vote on 


the newly revised main motion. 
o Rather than amend an amendment; ask group to strike down the pending 


amendment vote then offer a different version. 
 Commit/Refer = when additional time or information is needed, the item may be sent to 


a committee or task force (either an existing or newly created) 
o Before voting on a main motion, you may feel the main motion may require 


additional study and/or redrafting.  
o Motion to commit or refer should specifically state the committee and deadline 
o A special committee may be formed through the motion to commit (motion should 


include committee make-up and deadline) 
o Motion is debatable, but only about the matters of the referral and not on the 


main motion  
 Postpone to a Certain Time = to move to a later time on the agenda or to the next 


meeting 
o A time is specified when motion will be addressed 
o Preferred over laying on the table 


 Limit or Extend Debate = when circumstances call for shorter or longer speech 
 Previous Question = to close debate and bring to an immediate vote 
 Lay on the Table = lay motion aside temporarily without setting a time for its 


consideration 
o Taken up again, via motion process, when the majority decides 
o Often misused term for postpone to a certain time 


 
Motions that Bring a Question Before the Assembly Again 


1. Take from the Table = resume consideration of a main motion 
2. Rescind, Repeal or Annul  = cancel something that has been previously adopted 
3. Amend Something Previous Adopted = proposal to modify wording or text previously 


adopted 
4. Discharge a Committee = if a question has been referred or a task assigned to a 


committee that has not made a final report the committee may be discharged to allow 
the Board to take action or to drop the motion 


5. Reconsider = within the same meeting a motion has been voted on the question may 
come before the assembly again as if it had not been voted on 


 
  







5 
 


Robert’s Rules of Order Information for Chairs 
 
Effective Presiding 


1. Start On Time 
2. Stick to the Agenda 
3. Memorize Frequently Used Procedures 
4. Make Sure All Know What is Being Debated and Voted On 


a. See that motions are worded clearly 
b. Repeat wording of motions frequently 
c. Make the effects of amendments clear 


5. Learn How to Conduct Voting 
 
 
Voting 
 
Types of Votes 


1. Majority* = More than half of the votes cast by persons entitled to vote, excluding blanks 
or abstentions. Whenever a majority vote of the Board of Directors is taken, it shall mean 
of the quorum present. 


2. Two-Thirds = two-thirds of the votes cast by persons entitled to vote, excluding 
abstentions. Whenever a two-thirds vote of the Board is required, it shall mean of the 
entire Board whether voting or not.  


3. Majority of Entire Membership = a majority of the total number of those who are 
members of the voting body at the time of the vote 


 
*Note: A majority vote is different than a plurality vote, which is the largest number of votes 
(which may be less than a majority) when there are three or more alternatives. Under Robert’s 
Rules of Order, a plurality vote is not sufficient. Re-vote to achieve a majority. 
 
Voting Methods 


1. Voice Vote 
2. Standing Vote 
3. Show of Hands Vote 
4. Counted Vote 
5. Ballot Vote 


 
Putting the Motion to a Vote  
 
When no one seeks the floor to debate, the chairman asks, “Is there any further debate?” 
 
Voice Vote 
The question is on the adoption of the motion that … (repeat the motion) 
Those in favor of the motion, say aye 
[pause] 
Those opposed, say no 
[pause] 
 
The ayes have it and the motion is adopted 
- or - 
The noes have it and the motion is lost 
 







6 
 


Robert’s Rules of Order Information for Chairs 
 
Show of Hands Vote 
The question is on the adoption of the motion that … (repeat the motion) 
Those in favor of the motion will raise the right hand 
[Pause] 
Thos opposed with raise the right hand 
[Pause] 
 
Majority vote: 
The affirmative has it and the motion is adopted 
- or - 
The negative has it and the motion is lost 
 
Two-thirds vote: 
There are two-thirds in the affirmative and the motion is adopted. 
- or - 
The are less than two-thirds in the affirmative and the motion is lost 
 
Counted Show of Hands Vote 
The question is on the adoption of the motion that … (repeat the motion) 
Those in favor of the motion will raise the right hand and keep it raised until counted 
[Pause] 
Thos opposed with raise the right hand and keep it raised until counted 
[Pause] 
There are __ in the affirmative and ___ in the negative 
 
Majority vote: 
The affirmative has it and the motion is adopted 
- or - 
The negative has it and the motion is lost 
 
Two-thirds vote: 
There are two-thirds in the affirmative and the motion is adopted. 
- or - 
The are less than two-thirds in the affirmative and the motion is lost 
 
 








A Handy Guide

to



The Bagley-Keene Open Meeting Act 2004



California Attorney General’s Office 







INTRODUCTION 


The Bagley-Keene Open Meeting Act (“the Act” or “the Bagley-Keene Act”), set forth in 
Government Code sections 11120-111321, covers all state boards and commissions. Generally, it 
requires these bodies to publicly notice their meetings, prepare agendas, accept public testimony and 
conduct their meetings in public unless specifically authorized by the Act to meet in closed session. 
Following is a brief summary of the Act’s major provisions. Although we believe that this summary 
is a helpful road map, it is no substitute for consulting the actual language of the Act and the court 
cases and administrative opinions that interpret it. 


If you wish to obtain additional copies of this pamphlet, they may be ordered or downloaded 
via the Attorney General’s Home Page, located on the World Wide Web at http://caag.state.ca.us. 
You may also write to the Attorney General’s Office, Public Inquiry Unit, P.O. Box 944255, 
Sacramento, CA 94244-2550 or call us at (800) 952-5225 (for callers within California), or (916) 
322-3360 (for callers outside of California); the TTY/TDD telephone numbers are (800) 952-5548 
(for callers within California), or (916) 324-5564 (for callers outside of California). 


PURPOSE OF THE ACT 


Operating under the requirements of the Act can sometimes be frustrating for both board 
members and staff.  This results from the lack of efficiency built into the Act and the unnatural 
communication patterns brought about by compliance with its rules. 


If efficiency were the top priority, the Legislature would create a department and then permit 
the department head to make decisions. However, when the Legislature creates a multimember 
board, it makes a different value judgment. Rather than striving strictly for efficiency, it concludes 
that there is a higher value to having a group of individuals with a variety of experiences, 
backgrounds and viewpoints come together to develop a consensus. Consensus is developed through 
debate, deliberation and give and take. This process can sometimes take a long time and is very 
different in character than the individual-decision-maker model. 


Although some individual decision-makers follow a consensus-building model in the way that 
they make decisions, they’re not required to do so. When the Legislature creates a multimember 
body, it is mandating that the government go through this consensus building process. 


When the Legislature enacted the Bagley-Keene Act, it imposed still another value judgment 
on the governmental process. In effect, the Legislature said that when a body sits down to develop 
its consensus, there needs to be a seat at the table reserved for the public. (§ 11120.) By reserving 
this place for the public, the Legislature has provided the public with the ability to monitor and 
participate in the decision-making process. If the body were permitted to meet in secret, the public’s 
role in the decision-making process would be negated. Therefore, absent a specific reason to keep 


1All statutory references are to the Government Code. 


2 







the public out of the meeting, the public should be allowed to monitor and participate in the decision-
making process. 


If one accepts the philosophy behind the creation of a multimember body and the reservation 
of a seat at the table for the public, many of the particular rules that exist in the Bagley-Keene Act 
become much easier to accept and understand. Simply put, some efficiency is sacrificed for the 
benefits of greater public participation in government. 


BODIES COVERED BY THE ACT: General Rule 


The general rule for determining whether a body is covered by the Act involves a two part 
test (§ 11121(a)): 


First, the Act covers multimember bodies. A multimember body is two or more people. 
Examples of multimember bodies are: state boards, commissions, committees, panels, and councils. 
Second, the body must be created by statute or required by law to conduct official meetings. If a 
body is created by statute, it is covered by the Act regardless of whether it is decision-making or 
advisory. 


# Advisory Bodies 


The Act governs two types of advisory bodies: (1) those advisory bodies created by the 
Legislature and (2) those advisory bodies having three or more members that are created by formal 
action of another body. (§11121(c).) If an advisory body created by formal action of another body 
has only two members, it is not covered by the Bagley-Keene Act. Accordingly, that body can do its 
business without worrying about the notice and open meeting requirements of the Act. However, if 
it consists of three people, then it would qualify as an advisory committee subject to the requirements 
of the Act. 


When a body authorizes or directs an individual to create a new body, that body is deemed 
to have been created by formal action of the parent body even if the individual makes all decisions 
regarding composition of the committee. The same result would apply where the individual states 
an intention to create an advisory body but seeks approval or ratification of that decision by the body. 


Finally, the body will probably be deemed to have acted by formal action whenever the chair 
of the body, acting in his or her official capacity, creates an advisory committee. Ultimately, unless 
the advisory committee is created by staff or an individual board member, independent of the body’s 
authorization or desires, it probably should be viewed as having been created by formal action of the 
body. 


3







# Delegated Body 


The critical issue for this type of body is whether the committee exercises some power that 
has been delegated to it by another body. If the body has been delegated the power to act, it is a 
delegated committee. (§ 11121(b).) A classic example is the executive committee that is given 
authority to act on behalf of the entire body between meetings. Such executive committees are 
delegated committees and are covered by the requirements of the Act. 


There is no specific size requirement for the delegated body. However, to be a body, it still 
must be comprised of multiple members. Thus, a single individual is not a delegated body. 


# Commissions Created by the Governor 


The Act specifically covers commissions created by executive order. (§ 11121(a).) That 
leaves open two potential issues for resolution with respect to this type of body. First, what’s an 
executive order as opposed to other exercises of power by the Governor?  Second, when is a body 
a “commission” within the meaning of this provision? There is neither case law nor an Attorney 
General opinion addressing either of these issues in this context. 


# Body Determined by Membership 


The next kind of body is determined by who serves on it. Under this provision, a body 
becomes a state body when a member of a state body, in his or her official capacity, serves as a 
representative on another body, either public or private, which is funded in whole or in part by the 
representative’s state body. (§ 11121(d).) It does not come up often, but the Act should be consulted 
whenever a member of one body sits as a representative on another body. 


In summary, the foregoing are the general types of bodies that are defined as state bodies 
under the Bagley-Keene Act. As will be discussed below, these bodies are subject to the notice and 
open meeting requirements of the Act. 


MEMBERS-TO-BE 


The open meeting provisions of the Act basically apply to new members at the time of their 
election or appointment, even if they have not yet started to serve. (§ 11121.95.) The purpose of this 
provision is to prevent newly appointed members from meeting secretly among themselves or with 
holdover members of a body in sufficient numbers so as to constitute a quorum. The Act also 
requires bodies to provide their new members with a copy of the Act. (§ 11121.9.) We recommend 
that this Handy Guide be used to satisfy that requirement. 


4







WHAT IS A MEETING? 


The issue of what constitutes a meeting is one of the more troublesome and controversial 
issues under the Act. A meeting occurs when a quorum of a body convenes, either serially or all 
together, in one place, to address issues under the body’s jurisdiction. (§ 11122.5.) Obviously, a 
meeting would include a gathering where members were debating issues or voting on them. But a 
meeting also includes situations in which the body is merely receiving information. To the extent 
that a body receives information under circumstances where the public is deprived of the opportunity 
to monitor the information provided, and either agree with it or challenge it, the open-meeting process 
is deficient. 


Typically, issues concerning the definition of a meeting arise in the context of informal 
gatherings such as study sessions or pre-meeting get-togethers. The study session historically arises 
from the body’s desire to study a subject prior to its placement on the body’s agenda. However, if 
a quorum is involved, the study session should be treated as a meeting under the Act. With respect 
to pre-meeting briefings, this office opined that staff briefings of the city council a half hour before 
the noticed city council meeting to discuss the items that would appear on the council’s meeting 
agenda were themselves meetings subject to open meeting laws.2  To the extent that a briefing is 
desirable, this office recommends that the executive officer prepare a briefing paper which would 
then be available to the members of the body, as well as, to the public. 


# Serial Meetings 


The Act expressly prohibits the use of direct communication, personal intermediaries, or 
technological devices that are employed by a majority of the members of the state body to develop 
a collective concurrence as to action to be taken on an item by the members of the state body outside 
of an open meeting. (§ 11122.5(b).) Typically, a serial meeting is a series of communications, each 
of which involves less than a quorum of the legislative body, but which taken as a whole involves 
a majority of the body’s members. For example, a chain of communications involving contact from 
member A to member B who then communicates with member C would constitute a serial meeting 
in the case of a five-person body. Similarly, when a person acts as the hub of a wheel (member A) 
and communicates individually with the various spokes (members B and C), a serial meeting has 
occurred. In addition, a serial meeting occurs when intermediaries for board members have a meeting 
to discuss issues. For example, when a representative of member A meets with representatives of 
members B and C to discuss an agenda item, the members have conducted a serial meeting through 
their representatives acting as intermediaries. 


242 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 61 (1963); see also 32 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 240 (1958). 


5 







In the Stockton Newspapers case, the court concluded that a series of individual telephone 
calls between the agency attorney and the members of the body constituted a meeting.3  In that case, 
the attorney individually polled the members of the body for their approval on a real estate 
transaction. The court concluded that even though the meeting was conducted in a serial fashion, it 
nevertheless was a meeting for the purposes of the Act. 


An executive officer may receive spontaneous input from board members on the agenda or 
on any other topic. But problems arise if there are systematic communications through which a 
quorum of the body acquires information or engages in debate, discussion, lobbying, or any other 
aspect of the deliberative process, either among themselves or between board members and the staff. 


Although there are no cases directly on point, if an executive officer receives the same 
question on substantive matters addressed in an upcoming agenda from a quorum of the body, this 
office recommends that a memorandum addressing these issues be provided to the body and the 
public so they will receive the same information. 


This office has opined that under the Brown Act (the counterpart to the Bagley-Keene Act 
which is applicable to local government bodies) that a majority of the board members of a local 
public agency may not e-mail each other to discuss current topics related to the body’s jurisdiction 
even if the e-mails are also sent to the secretary and chairperson of the agency, posted on the agency’s 
Internet website, and made available in printed form at the next public meeting of the board.4 


The prohibition applies only to communications employed by a quorum to develop a 
collective concurrence concerning action to be taken by the body. Conversations that advance or 
clarify a member’s understanding of an issue, or facilitate an agreement or compromise among 
members, or advance the ultimate resolution of an issue, are all examples of communications that 
contribute to the development of a concurrence as to action to be taken by the body. Accordingly, 
with respect to items that have been placed on an agenda or that are likely to be placed upon an 
agenda, members of state bodies should avoid serial communications of a substantive nature that 
involve a quorum of the body. 


In conclusion, serial meeting issues will arise most commonly in connection with rotating 
staff briefings, telephone calls or e-mail communications among a quorum of board members. In 
these situations, part of the deliberative process by which information is received and processed, 
mulled over and discussed, is occurring without participation of the public. 


Just remember, serial-meeting provisions basically mean that what the body can not do as a 
group it can not do through serial communications by a quorum of its members. 


3Stockton Newspapers, Inc. v. Redevelopment Agency (1985) 171 Cal.App.3d 95, 105. 
See also, 65 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 63, 66 (1982); 63 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 820, 828-829 (1980). 


4 Cal.Atty.Gen., Indexed Letter, No. IL 00-906 (February 20, 2001). 


6 







# Contacts by the Public 


One of the more difficult areas has to do with the rights of the public to contact individual 
members. For example, a communication from a member of the public to discuss an issue does not 
violate the Act. (§ 11122.5(c)(1).) The difficulty arises when the individual contacts a quorum of 
the body. 


So long as the body does not solicit or orchestrate such contacts, they would not constitute 
a violation of the Bagley-Keene Act. Whether its good policy for a body to allow these individual 
contacts to occur is a different issue. 


# Social Gatherings 


The Act exempts purely social situations from its coverage. (§ 11122.5(c)(5).) However, this 
construction is based on the premise that matters under the body’s jurisdiction will not be discussed 
or considered at the social occasion. It may be useful to remind board members to avoid “shop talk” 
at the social event. Typically, this is difficult because service on the body is their common bond. 


# Conferences and Retreats 


Conferences are exempt from the Act’s coverage so long as they are open to the public and 
involve subject matter of general interest to persons or bodies in a given field. (§ 11122.5(c)(2).) 
While in attendance at a conference, members of a body should avoid private discussions with other 
members of their body about subjects that may be on an upcoming agenda. However, if the retreat 
or conference is designed to focus on the laws or issues of a particular body it would no be exempt 
under the Act. 


# Teleconference Meetings 


The Act provides for audio or audio and visual teleconference meetings for the benefit of the 
public and the body. (§ 11123.)  When a teleconference meeting is held, each site from which a 
member of the body participates must be accessible to the public. [Hence, a member cannot 
participate from his or her car, using a car phone or from his or her home, unless the home is open 
to the public for the duration of the meeting.] All proceedings must be audible and votes must be 
taken by rollcall. All other provisions of the Act also apply to teleconference meetings. For these 
reasons, we recommend that a properly equipped and accessible public building be utilized for 
teleconference meetings. This section does not prevent the body from providing additional locations 
from which the public may observe the proceedings or address the state body by electronic means. 


NOTICE AND AGENDA REQUIREMENTS 


The notice and agenda provisions require bodies to send the notice of its meetings to persons 
who have requested it. (§ 11125(a).) In addition, at least ten days prior to the meeting, bodies must 


7







prepare an agenda of all items to be discussed or acted upon at the meeting. (§ 11125(b).) In 
practice, this usually translates to boards and commissions sending out the notice and agenda to all 
persons on their mailing lists. The notice needs to state the time and the place of the meeting and 
give the name, phone number and address of a contact person who can answer questions about the 
meeting and the agenda. (§ 11125(a).) The agenda needs to contain a brief description of each item 
to be transacted or discussed at the meeting, which as a general rule need not exceed 20 words in 
length. (§ 11125(b).) 


The agenda items should be drafted to provide interested lay persons with enough information 
to allow them to decide whether to attend the meeting or to participate in that particular agenda item. 
Bodies should not label topics as “discussion” or “action” items unless they intend to be bound by 
such descriptions. Bodies should not schedule items for consideration at particular times, unless they 
assure that the items will not be considered prior to the appointed time. 


The notice and agenda requirements apply to both open and closed meetings. There is a 
tendency to think that agendas need not be prepared for closed session items because the public 
cannot attend. But the public’s ability to monitor closed sessions directly depends upon the agenda 
requirement which tells the public what is going to be discussed. 


REGULAR MEETINGS 


The Act, itself, does not directly define the term “ regular meeting.” Nevertheless, there are 
several references in the Act concerning regular meetings. By inference and interpretation, the 
regular meeting is a meeting of the body conducted under normal or ordinary circumstances. A 
regular meeting requires a 10-day notice. This simply means that at least 10 days prior to the 
meeting, notice of the meeting must be given along with an agenda that sufficiently describes the 
items of business to be transacted or discussed. (§§ 11125(a), 11125(b).) The notice for a meeting 
must also be posted on the Internet, and the web site address must be included on the written agenda. 
In addition, upon request by any person with a disability, the notice must be made available in 
appropriate alternative formats, as required by Section 202 of the Americans with Disabilities Act 
of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sec. 12132), and the applicable federal rules and regulations. The notice must 
contain information regarding the manner in which and the deadline by which a request for any 
disability-related modification or accommodation, including auxiliary aids or services, may be made 
by a person requiring these aids or services in order to participate in the meeting. 


In two special situations, items may be added to the agenda within the 10-day notice period, 
provided that they are added and notice is given no later than 48 hours prior to the meeting. (§ 
11125.) The first such situation is where the body concludes that the topic it wishes to add would 
qualify for an emergency meeting as defined in the Act. (§ 11125.3(a)(1).) The second situation is 
where there is a need for immediate action and the need for action came to the attention of the body 
after the agenda was mailed in accordance with the 10-day notice requirement. (§ 11125.3(a)(2).) 
This second situation requires a two-thirds vote or a unanimous vote if two-thirds of the members are 
not present. 


8







Changes made to the agenda under this section must be delivered to the members of the body 
and to national wires services at least 48 hours before the meeting and must be posted on the Internet 
as soon as practicable. 


SPECIAL MEETINGS 


A few years ago, special meetings were added to the Act to provide relief to agencies that, 
due to the occurrence of unforeseen events, had a need to meet on short notice and were hamstrung 
by the Act’s 10-day notice requirement. (§ 11125.4.) The special meeting requires that notice be 
provided at least 48 hours before the meeting to the members of the body and all national wire 
services, along with posting on the Internet. 


The purposes for which a body can call a special meeting are quite limited. Examples include 
pending litigation, legislation, licencing matters and certain personnel actions. At the commencement 
of the special meeting, the body is required to make a finding that the 10-day notice requirement 
would impose a substantial hardship on the body or that immediate action is required to protect the 
public interest and must provide a factual basis for the finding. The finding must be adopted by two-
thirds vote and must contain articulable facts that support it. If all of these requirements are not 
followed, then the body can not convene the special meeting and the meeting must be adjourned. 


EMERGENCY MEETINGS 


The Act provides for emergency meetings in rare instances when there exists a crippling 
disaster or a work stoppage that would severely impair public health and safety. (§ 11125.5.) An 
emergency meeting requires a one-hour notice to the media and must be held in open session. The 
Act also sets forth a variety of other technical procedural requirements that must be satisfied. 


PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 


Since one of the purposes of the Act is to protect and serve the interests of the general public 
to monitor and participate in meetings of state bodies, bodies covered by the Act are prohibited from 
imposing any conditions on attendance at a meeting. (§ 11124.) For example, while the Act does 
not prohibit use of a sign-in sheet, notice must be clearly given that signing-in is voluntary and not 
a pre-requisite to either attending the meeting or speaking at the meeting. On the other hand, security 
measures that require identification in order to gain admittance to a government building are 
permitted so long as security personnel do not share the information with the body. 


In addition, members of the public are entitled to record and to broadcast (audio and/or video) 
the meetings, unless to do so would constitute a persistent disruption. (§ 11124.1.) 


9







To ensure public participation, the Legislature expressly afforded an opportunity to the public 
to speak or otherwise participate at meetings, either before or during the consideration of each agenda 
item.  (§11125.7.) The Legislature also provided that at any meeting the body can elect to consider 
comments from the public on any matter under the body’s jurisdiction. And while the body cannot 
act on any matter not included on the agenda, it can schedule issues raised by the public for 
consideration at future meetings. Public comment protected by the Act includes criticism of the 
programs, policies and officials of the state body. 


ACCESS TO RECORDS 


Under the Act, the public is entitled to have access to the records of the body. (§ 11125.1.) 
In general, a record includes any form of writing. When materials are provided to a majority of the 
body either before or during the meeting, they must also be made available to the public without 
delay, unless the confidentiality of such materials is otherwise protected. Any records provided to 
the public, must be available in appropriate alternative formats, as required by Section 202 of the 
Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sec. 12132), and the applicable federal rules and 
regulations, upon request by a person with a disability. 


Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Act makes Government Code section 6254, the most 
comprehensive exemption under the California Public Records Act, applicable to records provided 
to the body. That is, if the record that is being provided to the board members is a record that is 
otherwise exempt from disclosure under section 6254 of the Government Code, then the record need 
not be disclosed to members of the public. (§ 11125.1(a).) However, the public interest balancing 
test, set forth in Government Code section 6255, is expressly made inapplicable to records provided 
to members of the body. 


If an agency has received a request for records, the Public Records Act allows the agency to 
charge for their duplication. (§ 11125.1(c).) Please be aware that the Public Records Act limits the 
amount that can be charged to the direct cost of duplication. This has been interpreted to mean a pro-
rata share of the equipment cost and probably a pro-rata share of the employee cost in order to make 
the copies. It does not include anything other than the mere reproduction of the records. (See,§ 
6253.9 for special rules concerning computer records.) Accordingly, an agency may not recover for 
the costs of retrieving or redacting a record. 


ACCESSABILITY OF MEETING LOCATIONS 


The Act requires that the place and manner of the meeting be nondiscriminatory. (§ 11131.) 
As such, the body cannot discriminate on the basis of race, religion, national origin, etc. The meeting 
site must also be accessible to the disabled. Furthermore, the agency may not charge a fee for 
attendance at a meeting governed by the Act. 


10







CLOSED SESSIONS 


Although, as a general rule, all items placed on an agenda must be addressed in open session, 
the Legislature has allowed closed sessions in very limited circumstances, which will be discussed 
in detail below. Closed sessions may be held legally only if the body complies with certain 
procedural requirements. (§ 11126.3) 


As part of the required general procedures, the closed session must be listed on the meeting 
agenda and properly noticed. (§ 11125(b).) Prior to convening into closed session, the body must 
publically announce those issues that will be considered in closed session. (§ 11126.3.) This can be 
done by a reference to the item as properly listed on the agenda. In addition, the agenda should cite 
the statutory authority or provision of the Act which authorizes the particular closed session. 
(§11125(b).)  After the closed session has been completed, the body is required to reconvene in 
public. (§ 11126.3(f).) However, the body is required to make a report only where the body makes 
a decision to hire or fire an individual. (§ 11125.2.) Bodies under the Bagley-Keene Act are required 
to keep minutes of their closed sessions. (§ 11126.1.)  Under the Act, these minutes are confidential, 
and are disclosable only to the board itself or to a reviewing court. 


Courts have narrowly construed the Act’s closed-session exceptions. For example, voting by 
secret ballot at an open-meeting is considered to be an improper closed session. Furthermore, closed 
sessions may be improperly convened if they are attended by persons other than those directly 
involved in the closed session as part of their official duties. 


# Personnel Exception 


The personnel exception generally applies only to employees. (§ 11126(a) and (b).) 
However, a body’s appointment pursuant to subdivision (e) of Section 4 of Article VII of the 
California Constitution (usually the body’s executive director) has been designated an employee for 
purposes of the personnel exception. On the other hand, under the Act, members of the body are not 
to be considered employees, and there exists no personnel exception or other closed session vehicle 
for board members to deal with issues that may arise between them. Board elections, team building 
exercises, and efforts to address personality problems that may arise between members of the board, 
cannot be handled in closed session. 


Only certain categories of subject matter may be considered at a closed session authorized 
under the personnel exception. (§ 11126(a)(1).) The purpose of the personnel exception is to protect 
the privacy of the employee, and to allow the board members to speak candidly. It can be used to 
consider appointments, employment, evaluation of performance, discipline or dismissal, as well as 
to hear charges or complaints about an employee’s actions. Although the personnel exception is 
appropriate for discussion of an employee’s competence or qualifications for appointment or 
employment, we do not think that discussion of employee compensation may be conducted in closed 


11







session in light of an appellate court decision interpreting a similar exception in the Brown Act, (the 
counterpart to the Bagley-Keene Act which is applicable to local government bodies).5 


The Act requires compliance with specific procedures when the body addresses a complaint 
leveled against an employee by a third person or initiates a disciplinary action against an employee. 
Under either circumstance, the Act requires 24-hour written notice to the employee. (§ 11126(a)(2).) 
Failure to provide such notice voids any action taken in closed session. 


Upon receiving notice, the employee has the right to insist that the matter be heard in public 
session. (§ 11126(a)(2).) However, the opposite is not true. Under the Act, an employee has no right 
to have the matter heard in closed session. If the body decides to hold an open session, the Bagley-
Keene Act does not provide any other option for the employee. Considerations, such as the 
employee’s right to privacy, are not addressed under the Bagley-Keene Act. 


If an employee asserts his or her right to have the personnel matter addressed in open session, 
the body must present the issues and information/evidence concerning the employee’s performance 
or conduct in the open session. However, the body is still entitled to conduct its deliberations in 
closed session. (§ 11126(a)(4).) 


# Pending Litigation Exception 


The purpose of the pending litigation exception is to permit the agency to confer with its 
attorney in circumstances where, if that conversation were to occur in open session, it would 
prejudice the position of the agency in the litigation. (§ 11126(e)(1).) The term “litigation” refers 
to an adjudicatory proceeding that is held in either a judicial or an administrative forum. 
(§11126(e)(2)(c)(iii).) For purposes of the Act, litigation is “pending” in three basic situations. 
(§11126(e)(2).) First, where the agency is a party to existing litigation. Secondly, where under 
existing facts and circumstances, the agency has substantial exposure to litigation. And thirdly, 
where the body is meeting for the purpose of determining whether to initiate litigation. All of these 
situations constitute pending litigation under the exception. 


For purposes of the Bagley-Keene Act, the pending litigation exception constitutes the 
exclusive expression of the attorney-client privilege. (§ 11126(e)(2).) In general, this means that 
independent statutes and case law that deal with attorney-client privilege issues do not apply to 
interpretations of the pending litigation provision of the Bagley-Keene Act.  Accordingly, the specific 
language of the Act must be consulted to determine what is authorized for discussion in closed 
session. 


Because the purpose of the closed session exception is to confer with legal counsel, the 
attorney must be present during the entire closed session devoted to the pending litigation. The Act’s 
pending litigation exception covers both the receipt of advice from counsel and the making of 


5San Diego Union v. City Council (1983) 146 Cal.App.3d 947. 


12 







litigation decisions (e.g., whether to file an action, and if so, what approach should be taken, whether 
settlement should be considered, and if so, what the settlement terms should be. 


What happens in a situation where a body desires legal advice from counsel, but the Act’s 
pending litigation exception does not apply?  In such a case, legal counsel can either (1) provide the 
legal advice orally and discuss it in open session; or (2) deliver a one-way legal advice memorandum 
to the board members. The memorandum would constitute a record containing an attorney-client 
privileged communication and would be protected from disclosure under section 6254(k) of the 
Public Records Act. (11125.1(a).) However, when the board members receive that memorandum, 
they may discuss it only in open session, unless there is a specific exception that applies which allows 
them to consider it in closed session.6 


# Deliberations Exception 


The purpose of the deliberations exception is to permit a body to deliberate on decisions in 
a proceeding under the Administrative Procedures Act, or under similar provisions of law, in closed 
session. (§ 11126(c)(3).) 


# Real Property Exception 


Under the Act, the real-property exception provides that the body can, in closed session, 
advise its negotiator in situations involving real estate transactions and in negotiations regarding price 
and terms of payment. (§ 11126(c)(7).) However, before meeting in closed session, the body must 
identify the specific parcel in question and the party with whom it is negotiating. Again, the Act 
requires that the body properly notice its intent to hold a closed session and to cite the applicable 
authority enabling it to do so. 


# Security Exception 


A state body may, upon a two-thirds vote of those present, conduct a closed session to 
consider matters posing a potential threat of criminal or terrorist activity against the personnel, 
property, buildings, facilities, or equipment, including electronic data, owned, leased, or controlled 
by the state body, where disclosure of these considerations could adversely affect their safety or 
security. (11126(c)(18).) After such a closed session, the state body must reconvene in open session 
prior to adjournment and report that a closed session was held along with a description of the general 
nature of the matters considered, and whether any action was taken in closed session. 


Whenever a state body utilizes this closed session exception, it must also provide specific 
written notice to the Legislative Analyst who must retain this information for at least four years. 
(11126(c)(18)(D).) This closed session exception will sunset in 2006. (11126(h).) 


6Roberts v. City of Palmdale (1993) 5 Cal.4th 363, 381. 


13 







REMEDIES FOR VIOLATIONS 


The Act provides for remedies and penalties in situations where violations have allegedly 
occurred. Depending on the particular circumstances, the decision of the body may be overturned 
(§ 11130.3), violations may be stopped or prevented (§ 11130), costs and fees may be awarded 
(§11130.5), and in certain situations, there may be criminal misdemeanor penalties imposed as well. 
(§ 11130.7.) 


Within 90 days of a decision or action of the body, any interested person may file suit alleging 
a violation of the Act and seeking to overturn the decision or action. Among other things, such suit 
may allege an unauthorized closed session or an improperly noticed meeting. Although the body is 
permitted to cure and correct a violation so as to avoid having its decision overturned, this can be 
much like trying to put toothpaste back in the tube. If possible, the body should try to return to a 
point prior to when the violation occurred and then proceed properly. For example, if the violation 
involves improper notice, we recommend that the body invalidate its decision, provide proper notice, 
and start the process over. To the extent that information has been received, statements made, or 
discussions have taken place, we recommend that the body include all of this on the record to ensure 
that everyone is aware of these events and has had an opportunity to respond. 


In certain situations where a body has violated the Act, the decision can not be set aside or 
overturned; namely, where the action taken concerns the issuance of bonds, the entering into 
contracts where there has been detrimental reliance, the collection of taxes, and, in situations where 
there has been substantial compliance with the requirements of the Act. (11130.3(b).) 


Another remedy in dealing with a violation of the Act involves filing a lawsuit to stop or 
prevent future violations of the Act. (§ 11130.) In general, these legal actions are filed as 
injunctions, writs of mandates, or suits for declaratory relief. The Legislature has also authorized the 
Attorney General, the District Attorney or any other interested person to use these remedies to seek 
judicial redress for past violations of the Act. 


A prevailing plaintiff may recover the costs of suit and attorney’s fees from the body (not 
individual members). (§ 11130.5.) On the other hand, if the body prevails, it may recover attorney’s 
fees and costs only if the plaintiff’s suit was clearly frivolous and totally without merit. 


The Act provides for misdemeanor penalties against individual members of the body if the 
member attends a meeting in violation of the Act with the intent to deprive the public of information 
to which he or she knows, or has reason to know, the public is entitled to receive. (§ 11130.7.) 


14







THE BAGLEY-KEENE OPEN MEETING ACT 


Government Code Sections 11120-11132 
(January 2004) 


TABLE OF CONTENTS 


Page 


§ 11120. Policy statement; requirement for open meetings 17 


§ 11121. State body 17 


§ 11121.1. State body; exceptions 18 


§ 11121.9. Requirement to provide law to members 18 


§ 11121.95. Application to persons who have not assumed office 18 


§ 11122. Action taken; defined 18 


§ 11122.5. Meeting defined; exceptions 19 


§ 11123. Requirement for open meetings; teleconference meetings 20 


§ 11123.1. Compliance with the ADA 21 


§ 11124. No conditions for attending meetings 21 


§ 11124.1. Right to record meetings 21 


§ 11125. Required notice 21 


§ 11125.1. Agenda; writings provided to body; public records 22 


§ 11125.2. Announcement of personnel action 24 


§ 11125.3. Exception to agenda requirements 24 


§ 11125.4. Special meetings 24 


§ 11125.5. Emergency meetings 25 


15







§ 11125.6. Emergency meetings; Fish and Game Commission 26



§ 11125.7. Opportunity for public to speak at meeting 27



§ 11125.8. Closed session; Board of Control; crime victims 28



§ 11125.9. Regional water quality control boards; additional notice requirements 28



§ 11126. Closed sessions 29



§ 11126.1. Minutes; availability 35



§ 11126.3. Required notice for closed sessions 35



§ 11126.5. Removal of disruptive persons 36



§ 11126.7. Charging fees prohibited 36



§ 11127. State bodies covered 37



§ 11128. Time restrictions for holding closed sessions 37



§ 11128.5. Adjournment 37



§ 11129. Continuation of meeting; notice requirement 37



§ 11130. Legal remedies to stop or prohibit violations of act 37



§ 11130.3. Cause of action to void action 39



§ 11130.5. Court costs; attorney’s fees 39



§ 11130.7. Violation; misdemeanor 39



§ 11131. Prohibited meeting facilities; discrimination 39



§ 11131.5. Required notice; exemption for name of victim 40



§ 11132. Closed sessions; express authorization required 40



16







THE BAGLEY-KEENE OPEN MEETING ACT 


Government Code Sections 11120-11132 


§ 11120. Policy statement; requirement for open meetings 


11120. It is the public policy of this state that public agencies exist to aid in the conduct of 
the people’s business and the proceedings of public agencies be conducted openly so that the public 
may remain informed. 


In enacting this article the Legislature finds and declares that it is the intent of the law that 
actions of state agencies be taken openly and that their deliberation be conducted openly. 


The people of this state do not yield their sovereignty to the agencies which serve them. The 
people, in delegating authority, do not give their public servants the right to decide what is good for 
the people to know and what is not good for them to know. The people insist on remaining informed 
so that they may retain control over the instruments they have created. 


This article shall be known and may be cited as the Bagley-Keene Open Meeting Act. 


§ 11121. State body 


11121. As used in this article, “state body” means each of the following: 


(a) Every state board, or commission, or similar multimember body of the state that is created 
by statute or required by law to conduct official meetings and every commission created by executive 
order. 


(b) A board, commission, committee, or similar multimember body that exercises any 
authority of a state body delegated to it by that state body. 


(c) An advisory board, advisory commission, advisory committee, advisory subcommittee, 
or similar multimember advisory body of a state body, if created by formal action of the state body 
or of any member of the state body, and if the advisory body so created consists of three or more 
persons. 


(d) A board, commission, committee, or similar multimember body on which a member of 
a body that is a state body pursuant to this section serves in his or her official capacity as a 
representative of that state body and that is supported, in whole or in part, by funds provided by the 
state body, whether the multimember body is organized and operated by the state body or by a private 
corporation. 


17







§ 11121.1. State body; exceptions 


11121.1. As used in this article, “state body” does not include any of the following: 


(a) State agencies provided for in Article VI of the California Constitution. 


(b) Districts or other local agencies whose meetings are required to be open to the public 
pursuant to the Ralph M. Brown Act (Chapter 9 (commencing with Section 54950) of Part 1 of 
Division 2 of Title 5). 


(c) State agencies provided for in Article IV of the California Constitution whose meetings 
are required to be open to the public pursuant to the Grunsky-Burton Open Meeting Act (Article 2.2 
(commencing with Section 9027) of Chapter 1.5 of Part 1 of Division 2 of Title 2). 


(d) State agencies when they are conducting proceedings pursuant to Section 3596. 


(e) State agencies provided for in Section 109260 of the Health and Safety Code, except as 
provided in Section 109390 of the Health and Safety Code. 


(f) State agencies provided for in Section 11770.5 of the Insurance Code. 


(g) The Credit Union Advisory Committee established pursuant to Section 14380 of the 
Financial Code. 


§ 11121.9. Requirement to provide law to members 


11121.9. Each state body shall provide a copy of this article to each member of the state body 
upon his or her appointment to membership or assumption of office. 


§ 11121.95. Application to persons who have not assumed office 


11121.95. Any person appointed or elected to serve as a member of a state body who has not 
yet assumed the duties of office shall conform his or her conduct to the requirements of this article 
and shall be treated for purposes of this article as if he or she has already assumed office. 


§ 11122. Action taken; defined 


11122. As used in this article “action taken” means a collective decision made by the 
members of a state body, a collective commitment or promise by the members of the state body to 
make a positive or negative decision or an actual vote by the members of a state body when sitting 
as a body or entity upon a motion, proposal, resolution, order or similar action. 


18







§ 11122.5. Meeting defined; exceptions 


11122.5. (a) As used in this article, “meeting” includes any congregation of a majority of the 
members of a state body at the same time and place to hear, discuss, or deliberate upon any item that 
is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the state body to which it pertains. 


(b) Except as authorized pursuant to Section 11123, any use of direct communication, 
personal intermediaries, or technological devices that is employed by a majority of the members of 
the state body to develop a collective concurrence as to action to be taken on an item by the members 
of the state body is prohibited. 


(c) The prohibitions of this article do not apply to any of the following: 


(1) Individual contacts or conversations between a member of a state body and any other 
person. 


(2) The attendance of a majority of the members of a state body at a conference or similar 
gathering open to the public that involves a discussion of issues of general interest to the public or 
to public agencies of the type represented by the state body, provided that a majority of the members 
do not discuss among themselves, other than as part of the scheduled program, business of a specified 
nature that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the state body. This paragraph is not intended 
to allow members of the public free admission to a conference or similar gathering at which the 
organizers have required other participants or registrants to pay fees or charges as a condition of 
attendance. 


(3) The attendance of a majority of the members of a state body at an open and publicized 
meeting organized to address a topic of state concern by a person or organization other than the state 
body, provided that a majority of the members do not discuss among themselves, other than as part 
of the scheduled program, business of a specific nature that is within the subject matter jurisdiction 
of the state body. 


(4) The attendance of a majority of the members of a state body at an open and noticed 
meeting of another state body or of a legislative body of a local agency as defined by Section 54951, 
provided that a majority of the members do not discuss among themselves, other than as part of the 
scheduled meeting, business of a specific nature that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the 
other state body. 


(5) The attendance of a majority of the members of a state body at a purely social or 
ceremonial occasion, provided that a majority of the members do not discuss among themselves 
business of a specific nature that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the state body. 


(6) The attendance of a majority of the members of a state body at an open and noticed 
meeting of a standing committee of that body, provided that the members of the state body who are 
not members of the standing committee attend only as observers. 


19







§ 11123. Requirement for open meetings; teleconference meetings 


11123. (a) All meetings of a state body shall be open and public and all persons shall be 
permitted to attend any meeting of a state body except as otherwise provided in this article. 


(b) (1) This article does not prohibit a state body from holding an open or closed meeting by 
teleconference for the benefit of the public and state body. The meeting or proceeding held by 
teleconference shall otherwise comply with all applicable requirements or laws relating to a specific 
type of meeting or proceeding, including the following: 


(A) The teleconferencing meeting shall comply with all requirements of this article applicable 
to other meetings. 


(B) The portion of the teleconferenced meeting that is required to be open to the public shall 
be audible to the public at the location specified in the notice of the meeting. 


(C) If the state body elects to conduct a meeting or proceeding by teleconference, it shall post 
agendas at all teleconference locations and conduct teleconference meetings in a manner that protects 
the rights of any party or member of the public appearing before the state body. Each teleconference 
location shall be identified in the notice and agenda of the meeting or proceeding, and each 
teleconference location shall be accessible to the public. The agenda shall provide an opportunity 
for members of the public to address the state body directly pursuant to Section 11125.7 at each 
teleconference location. 


(D) All votes taken during a teleconferenced meeting shall be by rollcall. 


(E) The portion of the teleconferenced meeting that is closed to the public may not include 
the consideration of any agenda item being heard pursuant to Section 11125.5. 


(F) At least one member of the state body shall be physically present at the location specified 
in the notice of the meeting. 


(2) For the purposes of this subdivision, “teleconference” means a meeting of a state body, 
the members of which are at different locations, connected by electronic means, through either audio 
or both audio and video. This section does not prohibit a state body from providing members of the 
public with additional locations in which the public may observe or address the state body by 
electronic means, through either audio or both audio and video. 


20







§ 11123.1. Compliance with the ADA 


11123.1. All meetings of a state body that are open and public shall meet the protections and 
prohibitions contained in Section 202 of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sec. 
12132), and the federal rules and regulations adopted in implementation thereof. 


§ 11124. No conditions for attending meetings 


11124. No person shall be required, as a condition to attendance at a meeting of a state body, 
to register his or her name, to provide other information, to complete a questionnaire, or otherwise 
to fulfill any condition precedent to his or her attendance. If an attendance list, register, 
questionnaire, or other similar document is posted at or near the entrance to the room where the 
meeting is to be held, or is circulated to persons present during the meeting, it shall state clearly that 
the signing, registering, or completion of the document is voluntary, and that all persons may attend 
the meeting regardless of whether a person signs, registers, or completes the document. 


§ 11124.1. Right to record meetings 


11124.1. (a) Any person attending an open and public meeting of the state body shall have 
the right to record the proceedings with an audio or video tape recorder or a still or motion picture 
camera in the absence of a reasonable finding by the state body that the recording cannot continue 
without noise, illumination, or obstruction of view that constitutes, or would constitute, a persistent 
disruption of the proceedings. 


(b) Any tape or film record of an open and public meeting made for whatever purpose by or 
at the direction of the state body shall be subject to inspection pursuant to the California Public 
Records Act (Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 6250) of Division 7 of Title 1), but may be 
erased or destroyed 30 days after the taping or recording. Any inspection of an audio or video tape 
recording shall be provided without charge on an audio or video tape player made available by the 
state body. 


(c) No state body shall prohibit or otherwise restrict the broadcast of its open and public 
meetings in the absence of a reasonable finding that the broadcast cannot be accomplished without 
noise, illumination, or obstruction of view that would constitute a persistent disruption of the 
proceedings. 


§ 11125. Required notice 


11125. (a) The state body shall provide notice of its meeting to any person who requests that 
notice in writing. Notice shall be given and also made available on the Internet at least 10 days in 
advance of the meeting, and shall include the name, address, and telephone number of any person 
who can provide further information prior to the meeting, but need not include a list of witnesses 
expected to appear at the meeting. The written notice shall additionally include the address of the 
Internet site where notices required by this article are made available. 


21







(b) The notice of a meeting of a body that is a state body shall include a specific agenda for 
the meeting, containing a brief description of the items of business to be transacted or discussed in 
either open or closed session. A brief general description of an item generally need not exceed 20 
words. A description of an item to be transacted or discussed in closed session shall include a 
citation of the specific statutory authority under which a closed session is being held. No item shall 
be added to the agenda subsequent to the provision of this notice, unless otherwise permitted by this 
article. 


(c) Notice of a meeting of a state body that complies with this section shall also constitute 
notice of a meeting of an advisory body of that state body, provided that the business to be discussed 
by the advisory body is covered by the notice of the meeting of the state body, provided that the 
specific time and place of the advisory body’s meeting is announced during the open and public state 
body’s meeting, and provided that the advisory body’s meeting is conducted within a reasonable time 
of, and nearby, the meeting of the state body. 


(d)  A person may request, and shall be provided, notice pursuant to subdivision (a) for all 
meetings of a state body or for a specific meeting or meetings. In addition, at the state body’s 
discretion, a person may request, and may be provided, notice of only those meetings of a state body 
at which a particular subject or subjects specified in the request will be discussed. 


(e) A request for notice of more than one meeting of a state body shall be subject to the 
provisions of Section 14911. 


(f) The notice shall be made available in appropriate alternative formats, as required by 
Section 202 of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sec. 12132), and the federal 
rules and regulations adopted in implementation thereof, upon request by any person with a disability. 
The notice shall include information regarding how, to whom, and by when a request for any 
disability-related modification or accommodation, including auxiliary aids or services may be made 
by a person with a disability who requires these aids or services in order to participate in the public 
meeting. 


§ 11125.1. Agenda; writings provided to body; public records 


11125.1. (a) Notwithstanding Section 6255 or any other provisions of law, agendas of public 
meetings and other writings, when distributed to all, or a majority of all, of the members of a state 
body by any person in connection with a matter subject to discussion or consideration at a public 
meeting of the body, are disclosable public records under the California Public Records Act (Chapter 
3.5 (commencing with Section 6250) of Division 7 of Title 1), and shall be made available upon 
request without delay. However, this section shall not include any writing exempt from public 
disclosure under Section 6253.5, 6254, or 6254.7 of this code, or Section 489.1 or 583 of the Public 
Utilities Code. 


(b) Writings that are public records under subdivision (a) and that are distributed to members 
of the state body prior to or during a meeting, pertaining to any item to be considered during the 


22







meeting, shall be made available for public inspection at the meeting if prepared by the state body 
or a member of the state body, or after the meeting if prepared by some other person. These writings 
shall be made available in appropriate alternative formats, as required by Section 202 of the 
Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sec. 12132), and the federal rules and regulations 
adopted in implementation thereof, upon request by a person with a disability. 


(c) In the case of the Franchise Tax Board, prior to that state body taking final action on any 
item, writings pertaining to that item that are public records under subdivision (a) that are distributed 
to members of the state body by board staff or individual members prior to or during a meeting shall 
be: 


(1) Made available for public inspection at that meeting. 


(2) Distributed to all persons who request notice in writing pursuant to subdivision (a) of 
Section 11125. 


(3) Made available on the Internet. 


(d) Prior to the State Board of Equalization taking final action on any item that does not 
involve a named tax or fee payer, writings pertaining to that item that are public records under 
subdivision (a) that are prepared and distributed by board staff or individual members to members 
of the state body prior to or during a meeting shall be: 


(1) Made available for public inspection at that meeting. 


(2) Distributed to all persons who request or have requested copies of these writings. 


(3) Made available on the Internet. 


(e) Nothing in this section shall be construed to prevent a state body from charging a fee or 
deposit for a copy of a public record pursuant to Section 6253, except that no surcharge shall be 
imposed on persons with disabilities in violation of Section 202 of the Americans with Disabilities 
Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sec. 12132), and the federal rules and regulations adopted in implementation 
thereof. The writings described in subdivision (b) are subject to the requirements of the California 
Public Records Act (Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 6250) of Division 7 of Title 1), and shall 
not be construed to limit or delay the public’s right to inspect any record required to be disclosed by 
that act, or to limit the public’s right to inspect any record covered by that act. This section shall not 
be construed to be applicable to any writings solely because they are properly discussed in a closed 
session of a state body. Nothing in this article shall be construed to require a state body to place any 
paid advertisement or any other paid notice in any publication. 


(f) “Writing” for purposes of this section means “writing” as defined under Section 6252. 


23







§ 11125.2. Announcement of personnel action 


11125.2. Any state body shall report publicly at a subsequent public meeting any action 
taken, and any rollcall vote thereon, to appoint, employ, or dismiss a public employee arising out of 
any closed session of the state body. 


§ 11125.3. Exception to agenda requirements 


11125.3. (a) Notwithstanding Section 11125, a state body may take action on items of 
business not appearing on the posted agenda under any of the conditions stated below: 


(1) Upon a determination by a majority vote of the state body that an emergency situation 
exists, as defined in Section 11125.5. 


(2) Upon a determination by a two-thirds vote of the state body, or, if less than two-thirds of 
the members are present, a unanimous vote of those members present, that there exists a need to take 
immediate action and that the need for action came to the attention of the state body subsequent to 
the agenda being posted as specified in Section 11125. 


(b) Notice of the additional item to be considered shall be provided to each member of the 
state body and to all parties that have requested notice of its meetings as soon as is practicable after 
a determination of the need to consider the item is made, but shall be delivered in a manner that 
allows it to be received by the members and by newspapers of general circulation and radio or 
television stations at least 48 hours before the time of the meeting specified in the notice. Notice 
shall be made available to newspapers of general circulation and radio or television stations by 
providing that notice to all national press wire services. Notice shall also be made available on the 
Internet as soon as is practicable after the decision to consider additional items at a meeting has been 
made. 


§ 11125.4. Special meetings 


11125.4. (a) A special meeting may be called at any time by the presiding officer of the state 
body or by a majority of the members of the state body. A special meeting may only be called for one 
of the following purposes where compliance with the 10-day notice provisions of Section 11125 
would impose a substantial hardship on the state body or where immediate action is required to 
protect the public interest: 


(1) To consider “pending litigation” as that term is defined in subdivision (e) of Section 
11126. 


(2) To consider proposed legislation. 


(3) To consider issuance of a legal opinion. 


24







(4) To consider disciplinary action involving a state officer or employee. 


(5) To consider the purchase, sale, exchange, or lease of real property. 


(6) To consider license examinations and applications. 


(7) To consider an action on a loan or grant provided pursuant to Division 31 (commencing 
with Section 50000) of the Health and Safety Code. 


(b) When a special meeting is called pursuant to one of the purposes specified in subdivision 
(a), the state body shall provide notice of the special meeting to each member of the state body and 
to all parties that have requested notice of its meetings as soon as is practicable after the decision to 
call a special meeting has been made, but shall be delivered in a manner that allows it to be received 
by the members and by newspapers of general circulation and radio or television stations at least 48 
hours before the time of the special meeting specified in the notice. Notice shall be made available 
to newspapers of general circulation and radio or television stations by providing that notice to all 
national press wire services. Notice shall also be made available on the Internet within the time 
periods required by this section. The notice shall specify the time and place of the special meeting 
and the business to be transacted. The written notice shall additionally specify the address of the 
Internet site where notices required by this article are made available. No other business shall be 
considered at a special meeting by the state body. The written notice may be dispensed with as to any 
member who at or prior to the time the meeting convenes files with the clerk or secretary of the state 
body a written waiver of notice. The waiver may be given by telegram, facsimile transmission, or 
similar means. The written notice may also be dispensed with as to any member who is actually 
present at the meeting at the time it convenes. Notice shall be required pursuant to this section 
regardless of whether any action is taken at the special meeting. 


(c) At the commencement of any special meeting, the state body must make a finding in open 
session that the delay necessitated by providing notice 10 days prior to a meeting as required by 
Section 11125 would cause a substantial hardship on the body or that immediate action is required 
to protect the public interest. The finding shall set forth the specific facts that constitute the hardship 
to the body or the impending harm to the public interest. The finding shall be adopted by a two-thirds 
vote of the body, or, if less than two-thirds of the members are present, a unanimous vote of those 
members present. The finding shall be made available on the Internet. Failure to adopt the finding 
terminates the meeting. 


§ 11125.5.  Emergency meetings 


11125.5. (a) In the case of an emergency situation involving matters upon which prompt 
action is necessary due to the disruption or threatened disruption of public facilities, a state body may 
hold an emergency meeting without complying with the 10-day notice requirement of Section 11125 
or the 48-hour notice requirement of Section 11125.4. 


25







(b) For purposes of this section, “emergency situation” means any of the following, as 
determined by a majority of the members of the state body during a meeting prior to the emergency 
meeting, or at the beginning of the emergency meeting: 


(1) Work stoppage or other activity that severely impairs public health or safety, or both. 


(2) Crippling disaster that severely impairs public health or safety, or both. 


(c) However, newspapers of general circulation and radio or television stations that have 
requested notice of meetings pursuant to Section 11125 shall be notified by the presiding officer of 
the state body, or a designee thereof, one hour prior to the emergency meeting by telephone. Notice 
shall also be made available on the Internet as soon as is practicable after the decision to call the 
emergency meeting has been made. If telephone services are not functioning, the notice requirements 
of this section shall be deemed waived, and the presiding officer of the state body, or a designee 
thereof, shall notify those newspapers, radio stations, or television stations of the fact of the holding 
of the emergency meeting, the purpose of the meeting, and any action taken at the meeting as soon 
after the meeting as possible. 


(d) The minutes of a meeting called pursuant to this section, a list of persons who the 
presiding officer of the state body, or a designee thereof, notified or attempted to notify, a copy of 
the rollcall vote, and any action taken at the meeting shall be posted for a minimum of 10 days in a 
public place, and also made available on the Internet for a minimum of 10 days, as soon after the 
meeting as possible. 


§ 11125.6.  Emergency meetings; Fish and Game Commission 


11125.6. (a) An emergency meeting may be called at any time by the president of the Fish 
and Game Commission or by a majority of the members of the commission to consider an appeal of 
a closure of or restriction in a fishery adopted pursuant to Section 7710 of the Fish and Game Code. 
In the case of an emergency situation involving matters upon which prompt action is necessary due 
to the disruption or threatened disruption of an established fishery, the commission may hold an 
emergency meeting without complying with the 10-day notice requirement of Section 11125 or the 
48-hour notice requirement of Section 11125.4 if the delay necessitated by providing the 10-day 
notice of a public meeting required by Section 11125 or the 48-hour notice required by Section 
11125.4 would significantly adversely impact the economic benefits of a fishery to the participants 
in the fishery and to the people of the state or significantly adversely impact the sustainability of a 
fishery managed by the state. 


(b) At the commencement of an emergency meeting called pursuant to this section, the 
commission shall make a finding in open session that the delay necessitated by providing notice 10 
days prior to a meeting as required by Section 11125 or 48 hours prior to a meeting as required by 
Section 11125.4 would significantly adversely impact the economic benefits of a fishery to the 
participants in the fishery and to the people of the state or significantly adversely impact the 
sustainability of a fishery managed by the state. The finding shall set forth the specific facts that 


26







constitute the impact to the economic benefits of the fishery or the sustainability of the fishery. The 
finding shall be adopted by a vote of at least four members of the commission, or, if less than four 
of the members are present, a unanimous vote of those members present. Failure to adopt the finding 
shall terminate the meeting. 


(c) Newspapers of general circulation and radio or television stations that have requested 
notice of meetings pursuant to Section 11125 shall be notified by the presiding officer of the 
commission, or a designee thereof, one hour prior to the emergency meeting by telephone. 


(d) The minutes of an emergency meeting called pursuant to this section, a list of persons who 
the president of the commission, or a designee thereof, notified or attempted to notify, a copy of the 
rollcall vote, and any action taken at the meeting shall be posted for a minimum of 10 days in a public 
place as soon after the meeting as possible. 


§ 11125.7  Opportunity for public to speak at meeting 


11125.7. (a) Except as otherwise provided in this section, the state body shall provide an 
opportunity for members of the public to directly address the state body on each agenda item before 
or during the state body’s discussion or consideration of the item.  This section is not applicable if 
the agenda item has already been considered by a committee composed exclusively of members of 
the state body at a public meeting where interested members of the public were afforded the 
opportunity to address the committee on the item, before or during the committee’s consideration of 
the item, unless the item has been substantially changed since the committee heard the item, as 
determined by the state body. Every notice for a special meeting at which action is proposed to be 
taken on an item shall provide an opportunity for members of the public to directly address the state 
body concerning that item prior to action on the item.  In addition, the notice requirement of Section 
11125 shall not preclude the acceptance of testimony at meetings, other than emergency meetings, 
from members of the public, provided, however, that no action is taken by the state body at the same 
meeting on matters brought before the body by members of the public. 


(b) The state body may adopt reasonable regulations to ensure that the intent of subdivision 
(a) is carried out, including, but not limited to, regulations limiting the total amount of time allocated 
for public comment on particular issues and for each individual speaker. 


(c) The state body shall not prohibit public criticism of the policies, programs, or services of 
the state body, or of the acts or omissions of the state body. Nothing in this subdivision shall confer 
any privilege or protection for expression beyond that otherwise provided by law. 


(d) This section is not applicable to closed sessions held pursuant to Section 11126. 


(e) This section is not applicable to decisions regarding proceedings held pursuant to Chapter 
5 (commencing with Section 11500), relating to administrative adjudication, or to the conduct of 
those proceedings. 


27







(f) This section is not applicable to hearings conducted by the State Board of Control pursuant 
to Sections 13963 and 13963.1. 


(g) This section is not applicable to agenda items that involve decisions of the Public Utilities 
Commission regarding adjudicatory hearings held pursuant to Chapter 9 (commencing with Section 
1701) of Part 1 of Division 1 of the Public Utilities Code. For all other agenda items, the commission 
shall provide members of the public, other than those who have already participated in the 
proceedings underlying the agenda item, an opportunity to directly address the commission before 
or during the commission’s consideration of the item. 


§ 11125.8. Closed session; Board of Control; crime victims 


11125.8. (a) Notwithstanding Section 11131.5, in any hearing that the State Board of Control 
conducts pursuant to Section 13963.1 and that the applicant or applicant’s representative does not 
request be open to the public, no notice, agenda, announcement, or report required under this article 
need identify the applicant. 


(b) In any hearing that the board conducts pursuant to Section 13963.1 and that the applicant 
or applicant’s representative does not request be open to the public, the board shall disclose that the 
hearing is being held pursuant to Section 13963.1. That disclosure shall be deemed to satisfy the 
requirements of subdivision (a) of Section 11126.3. 


§ 11125.9. Regional water quality control boards; additional notice requirements 


11125.9. Regional water quality control boards shall comply with the notification guidelines 
in Section 11125 and, in addition, shall do both of the following: 


(a) Notify, in writing, all clerks of the city councils and county boards of supervisors within 
the regional board’s jurisdiction of any and all board hearings at least 10 days prior to the hearing. 
Notification shall include an agenda for the meeting with contents as described in subdivision (b) of 
Section 11125 as well as the name, address, and telephone number of any person who can provide 
further information prior to the meeting, but need not include a list of witnesses expected to appear 
at the meeting. Each clerk, upon receipt of the notification of a board hearing, shall distribute the 
notice to all members of the respective city council or board of supervisors within the regional 
board’s jurisdiction. 


(b) Notify, in writing, all newspapers with a circulation rate of at least 10,000 within the 
regional board’s jurisdiction of any and all board hearings, at least 10 days prior to the hearing. 
Notification shall include an agenda for the meeting with contents as described in subdivision (b) of 
Section 11125 as well as the name, address, and telephone number of any person who can provide 
further information prior to the meeting, but need not include a list of witnesses expected to appear 
at the meeting. 


28







§ 11126. Closed sessions 


11126. (a)(1) Nothing in this article shall be construed to prevent a state body from holding 
closed sessions during a regular or special meeting to consider the appointment, employment, 
evaluation of performance, or dismissal of a public employee or to hear complaints or charges 
brought against that employee by another person or employee unless the employee requests a public 
hearing. 


(2) As a condition to holding a closed session on the complaints or charges to consider 
disciplinary action or to consider dismissal, the employee shall be given written notice of his or her 
right to have a public hearing, rather than a closed session, and that notice shall be delivered to the 
employee personally or by mail at least 24 hours before the time for holding a regular or special 
meeting. If notice is not given, any disciplinary or other action taken against any employee at the 
closed session shall be null and void. 


(3) The state body also may exclude from any public or closed session, during the 
examination of a witness, any or all other witnesses in the matter being investigated by the state body. 


(4) Following the public hearing or closed session, the body may deliberate on the decision 
to be reached in a closed session. 


(b) For the purposes of this section, “employee” does not include any person who is elected 
to, or appointed to a public office by, any state body. However, officers of the California State 
University who receive compensation for their services, other than per diem and ordinary and 
necessary expenses, shall, when engaged in that capacity, be considered employees. Furthermore, 
for purposes of this section, the term employee includes a person exempt from civil service pursuant 
to subdivision (e) of Section 4 of Article VII of the California Constitution. 


(c) Nothing in this article shall be construed to do any of the following: 


(1) Prevent state bodies that administer the licensing of persons engaging in businesses or 
professions from holding closed sessions to prepare, approve, grade, or administer examinations. 


(2) Prevent an advisory body of a state body that administers the licensing of persons engaged 
in businesses or professions from conducting a closed session to discuss matters that the advisory 
body has found would constitute an unwarranted invasion of the privacy of an individual licensee or 
applicant if discussed in an open meeting, provided the advisory body does not include a quorum of 
the members of the state body it advises. Those matters may include review of an applicant’s 
qualifications for licensure and an inquiry specifically related to the state body’s enforcement 
program concerning an individual licensee or applicant where the inquiry occurs prior to the filing 
of a civil, criminal, or administrative disciplinary action against the licensee or applicant by the state 
body. 


29







(3) Prohibit a state body from holding a closed session to deliberate on a decision to be 
reached in a proceeding required to be conducted pursuant to Chapter 5 (commencing with Section 
11500) or similar provisions of law. 


(4) Grant a right to enter any correctional institution or the grounds of a correctional 
institution where that right is not otherwise granted by law, nor shall anything in this article be 
construed to prevent a state body from holding a closed session when considering and acting upon 
the determination of a term, parole, or release of any individual or other disposition of an individual 
case, or if public disclosure of the subjects under discussion or consideration is expressly prohibited 
by statute. 


(5) Prevent any closed session to consider the conferring of honorary degrees, or gifts, 
donations, and bequests that the donor or proposed donor has requested in writing to be kept 
confidential. 


(6) Prevent the Alcoholic Beverage Control Appeals Board from holding a closed session for 
the purpose of holding a deliberative conference as provided in Section 11125. 


(7) (A) Prevent a state body from holding closed sessions with its negotiator prior to the 
purchase, sale, exchange, or lease of real property by or for the state body to give instructions to its 
negotiator regarding the price and terms of payment for the purchase, sale, exchange, or lease. 


(B) However, prior to the closed session, the state body shall hold an open and public session 
in which it identifies the real property or real properties that the negotiations may concern and the 
person or persons with whom its negotiator may negotiate. 


(C) For purposes of this paragraph, the negotiator may be a member of the state body. 


(D) For purposes of this paragraph, “lease” includes renewal or renegotiation of a lease. 


(E) Nothing in this paragraph shall preclude a state body from holding a closed session for 
discussions regarding eminent domain proceedings pursuant to subdivision (e). 


(8) Prevent the California Postsecondary Education Commission from holding closed sessions 
to consider matters pertaining to the appointment or termination of the Director of the California 
Postsecondary Education Commission. 


(9) Prevent the Council for Private Postsecondary and Vocational Education from holding 
closed sessions to consider matters pertaining to the appointment or termination of the Executive 
Director of the Council for Private Postsecondary and Vocational Education. 


(10) Prevent the Franchise Tax Board from holding closed sessions for the purpose of 
discussion of confidential tax returns or information the public disclosure of which is prohibited by 


30







law, or from considering matters pertaining to the appointment or removal of the Executive Officer 
of the Franchise Tax Board. 


(11) Require the Franchise Tax Board to notice or disclose any confidential tax information 
considered in closed sessions, or documents executed in connection therewith, the public disclosure 
of which is prohibited pursuant to Article 2 (commencing with Section 19542) of Chapter 7 of Part 
10.2 of the Revenue and Taxation Code. 


(12) Prevent the Board of Corrections from holding closed sessions when considering reports 
of crime conditions under Section 6027 of the Penal Code. 


(13) Prevent the State Air Resources Board from holding closed sessions when considering 
the proprietary specifications and performance data of manufacturers. 


(14) Prevent the State Board of Education or the Superintendent of Public Instruction, or any 
committee advising the board or the superintendent, from holding closed sessions on those portions 
of its review of assessment instruments pursuant to Chapter 5 (commencing with Section 60600) of, 
or pursuant to Chapter 8 (commencing with Section 60850) of, Part 33 of the Education Code during 
which actual test content is reviewed and discussed. The purpose of this provision is to maintain the 
confidentiality of the assessments under review. 


(15) Prevent the California Integrated Waste Management Board or its auxiliary committees 
from holding closed sessions for the purpose of discussing confidential tax returns, discussing trade 
secrets or confidential or proprietary information in its possession, or discussing other data, the public 
disclosure of which is prohibited by law. 


(16) Prevent a state body that invests retirement, pension, or endowment funds from holding 
closed sessions when considering investment decisions. For purposes of consideration of shareholder 
voting on corporate stocks held by the state body, closed sessions for the purposes of voting may be 
held only with respect to election of corporate directors, election of independent auditors, and other 
financial issues that could have a material effect on the net income of the corporation. For the 
purpose of real property investment decisions that may be considered in a closed session pursuant 
to this paragraph, a state body shall also be exempt from the provisions of paragraph (7) relating to 
the identification of real properties prior to the closed session. 


(17) Prevent a state body, or boards, commissions, administrative officers, or other 
representatives that may properly be designated by law or by a state body, from holding closed 
sessions with its representatives in discharging its responsibilities under Chapter 10 (commencing 
with Section 3500), Chapter 10.3 (commencing with Section 3512), Chapter 10.5 (commencing with 
Section 3525), or Chapter 10.7 (commencing of Section 3540) of Division 4 of Title 1 as the sessions 
relate to salaries, salary schedules, or compensation paid in the form of fringe benefits. For the 
purposes enumerated in the preceding sentence, a state body may also meet with a state conciliator 
who has intervened in the proceedings. 


31







(18) (A) Prevent a state body from holding closed sessions to consider matters posing a threat 
or potential threat of criminal or terrorist activity against the personnel, property, buildings, facilities, 
or equipment, including electronic data, owned, leased, or controlled by the state body, where 
disclosure of these considerations could compromise or impede the safety or security of the 
personnel, property, buildings, facilities, or equipment, including electronic data, owned, leased, or 
controlled by the state body. 


(B) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a state body, at any regular or special 
meeting, may meet in a closed session pursuant to subparagraph (A) upon a two-thirds vote of the 
members present at the meeting. 


(C) After meeting in closed session pursuant to subparagraph (A), the state body shall 
reconvene in open session prior to adjournment and report that a closed session was held pursuant 
to subparagraph (A), the general nature of the matters considered, and whether any action was taken 
in closed session. 


(D) After meeting in closed session pursuant to subparagraph (A), the state body shall submit 
to the Legislative Analyst written notification stating that it held this closed session, the general 
reason or reasons for the closed session, the general nature of the matters considered, and whether 
any action was taken in closed session. The Legislative Analyst shall retain for no less than four 
years any written notification received from a state body pursuant to this subparagraph. 


(d)(1) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, any meeting of the Public Utilities 
Commission at which the rates of entities under the commission’s jurisdiction are changed shall be 
open and public. 


(2) Nothing in this article shall be construed to prevent the Public Utilities Commission from 
holding closed sessions to deliberate on the institution of proceedings, or disciplinary actions against 
any person or entity under the jurisdiction of the commission. 


(e) (1) Nothing in this article shall be construed to prevent a state body, based on the advice 
of its legal counsel, from holding a closed session to confer with, or receive advice from, its legal 
counsel regarding pending litigation when discussion in open session concerning those matters would 
prejudice the position of the state body in the litigation. 


(2) For purposes of this article, all expressions of the lawyer-client privilege other than those 
provided in this subdivision are hereby abrogated. This subdivision is the exclusive expression of 
the lawyer-client privilege for purposes of conducting closed session meetings pursuant to this article. 
For purposes of this subdivision, litigation shall be considered pending when any of the following 
circumstances exist: 


(A) An adjudicatory proceeding before a court, an administrative body exercising its 
adjudicatory authority, a hearing officer, or an arbitrator, to which the state body is a party, has been 
initiated formally. 


32







(B)(i) A point has been reached where, in the opinion of the state body on the advice of its 
legal counsel, based on existing facts and circumstances, there is a significant exposure to litigation 
against the state body. 


(ii) Based on existing facts and circumstances, the state body is meeting only to decide 
whether a closed session is authorized pursuant to clause (i). 


(C) (i) Based on existing facts and circumstances, the state body has decided to initiate or is 
deciding whether to initiate litigation. 


(ii) The legal counsel of the state body shall prepare and submit to it a memorandum stating 
the specific reasons and legal authority for the closed session. If the closed session is pursuant to 
paragraph (1), the memorandum shall include the title of the litigation. If the closed session is 
pursuant to subparagraph (A) or (B), the memorandum shall include the existing facts and 
circumstances on which it is based. The legal counsel shall submit the memorandum to the state body 
prior to the closed session, if feasible, and in any case no later than one week after the closed session. 
The memorandum shall be exempt from disclosure pursuant to Section 6254.25. 


(iii) For purposes of this subdivision, “litigation” includes any adjudicatory proceeding, 
including eminent domain, before a court, administrative body exercising its adjudicatory authority, 
hearing officer, or arbitrator. 


(iv) Disclosure of a memorandum required under this subdivision shall not be deemed as a 
waiver of the lawyer-client privilege, as provided for under Article 3 (commencing with Section 950) 
of Chapter 4 of Division 8 of the Evidence Code. 


(f) In addition to subdivisions (a), (b), and (c), nothing in this article shall be construed to do 
any of the following: 


(1) Prevent a state body operating under a joint powers agreement for insurance pooling from 
holding a closed session to discuss a claim for the payment of tort liability or public liability losses 
incurred by the state body or any member agency under the joint powers agreement. 


(2) Prevent the examining committee established by the State Board of Forestry and Fire 
Protection, pursuant to Section 763 of the Public Resources Code, from conducting a closed session 
to consider disciplinary action against an individual professional forester prior to the filing of an 
accusation against the forester pursuant to Section 11503. 


(3) Prevent an administrative committee established by the California Board of Accountancy 
pursuant to Section 5020 of the Business and Professions Code from conducting a closed session to 
consider disciplinary action against an individual accountant prior to the filing of an accusation 
against the accountant pursuant to Section 11503. Nothing in this article shall be construed to 
prevent an examining committee established by the California Board of Accountancy pursuant to 


33







Section 5023 of the Business and Professions Code from conducting a closed hearing to interview 
an individual applicant or accountant regarding the applicant’s qualifications. 


(4) Prevent a state body, as defined in subdivision (b) of Section 11121, from conducting a 
closed session to consider any matter that properly could be considered in closed session by the state 
body whose authority it exercises. 


(5) Prevent a state body, as defined in subdivision (d) of Section 11121, from conducting a 
closed session to consider any matter that properly could be considered in a closed session by the 
body defined as a state body pursuant to subdivision (a) or (b) of Section 11121. 


(6) Prevent a state body, as defined in subdivision (c) of Section 11121, from conducting a 
closed session to consider any matter that properly could be considered in a closed session by the 
state body it advises. 


(7) Prevent the State Board of Equalization from holding closed sessions for either of the 
following: 


(A) When considering matters pertaining to the appointment or removal of the Executive 
Secretary of the State Board of Equalization. 


(B) For the purpose of hearing confidential taxpayer appeals or data, the public disclosure of 
which is prohibited by law. 


(8) Require the State Board of Equalization to disclose any action taken in closed session or 
documents executed in connection with that action, the public disclosure of which is prohibited by 
law pursuant to Sections 15619 and 15641 of this code and Sections 833, 7056, 8255, 9255, 11655, 
30455, 32455, 38705, 38706, 43651, 45982, 46751, 50159, 55381, and 60609 of the Revenue and 
Taxation Code. 


(9) Prevent the California Earthquake Prediction Evaluation Council, or other body appointed 
to advise the Director of the Office of Emergency Services or the Governor concerning matters 
relating to volcanic or earthquake predictions, from holding closed sessions when considering the 
evaluation of possible predictions. 


(g) This article does not prevent either of the following: 


(1) The Teachers’ Retirement Board or the Board of Administration of the Public Employees’ 
Retirement System from holding closed sessions when considering matters pertaining to the 
recruitment, appointment, employment, or removal of the chief executive officer or when considering 
matters pertaining to the recruitment or removal of the Chief Investment Officer of the State 
Teachers’ Retirement System or the Public Employees’ Retirement System. 


34







(2) The Commission on Teacher Credentialing from holding closed sessions when considering 
matters relating to the recruitment, appointment, or removal of its executive director. 


(h) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2006, and as of that date is 
repealed, unless a later enacted statute, which is enacted before January 1, 2006, deletes or extends 
that date. 


§ 11126.1. Minutes; availability 


11126.1. The state body shall designate a clerk or other officer or employee of the state body, 
who shall then attend each closed session of the state body and keep and enter in a minute book a 
record of topics discussed and decisions made at the meeting. The minute book made pursuant to this 
section is not a public record subject to inspection pursuant to the California Public Records Act 
(Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 6250) of Division 7 of Title 1), and shall be kept 
confidential. The minute book shall be available to members of the state body or, if a violation of 
this chapter is alleged to have occurred at a closed session, to a court of general jurisdiction. Such 
minute book may, but need not, consist of a recording of the closed session. 


§ 11126.3. Required notice for closed sessions 


11126.3. (a) Prior to holding any closed session, the state body shall disclose, in an open 
meeting, the general nature of the item or items to be discussed in the closed session. The disclosure 
may take the form of a reference to the item or items as they are listed by number or letter on the 
agenda. If the session is closed pursuant to paragraph (2) of subdivision (d) of Section 11126, the 
state body shall state the title of, or otherwise specifically identify, the proceeding or disciplinary 
action contemplated. However, should the body determine that to do so would jeopardize the body’s 
ability to effectuate service of process upon one or more unserved parties if the proceeding or 
disciplinary action is commenced or that to do so would fail to protect the private economic and 
business reputation of the person or entity if the proceeding or disciplinary action is not commenced, 
then the state body shall notice that there will be a closed session and describe in general terms the 
purpose of that session. If the session is closed pursuant to subparagraph (A) of paragraph (2) of 
subdivision (e) of Section 11126, the state body shall state the title of, or otherwise specifically 
identify, the litigation to be discussed unless the body states that to do so would jeopardize the body’s 
ability to effectuate service of process upon one or more unserved parties, or that to do so would 
jeopardize its ability to conclude existing settlement negotiations to its advantage. 


(b) In the closed session, the state body may consider only those matters covered in its 
disclosure. 


(c) The disclosure shall be made as part of the notice provided for the meeting pursuant to 
Section 11125 or pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 92032 of the Education Code and of any 
order or notice required by Section 11129. 


35







(d) If, after the agenda has been published in compliance with this article, any pending 
litigation (under subdivision (e) of Section 11126) matters arise, the postponement of which will 
prevent the state body from complying with any statutory, court-ordered, or other legally imposed 
deadline, the state body may proceed to discuss those matters in closed session and shall publicly 
announce in the meeting the title of, or otherwise specifically identify, the litigation to be discussed, 
unless the body states that to do so would jeopardize the body’s ability to effectuate service of 
process upon one or more unserved parties, or that to do so would jeopardize its ability to conclude 
existing settlement negotiations to its advantage. Such an announcement shall be deemed to comply 
fully with the requirements of this section. 


(e) Nothing in this section shall require or authorize a disclosure of names or other 
information that would constitute an invasion of privacy or otherwise unnecessarily divulge the 
particular facts concerning the closed session or the disclosure of which is prohibited by state or 
federal law. 


(f) After any closed session, the state body shall reconvene into open session prior to 
adjournment and shall make any reports, provide any documentation, and make any other disclosures 
required by Section 11125.2 of action taken in the closed session. 


(g) The announcements required to be made in open session pursuant to this section may be 
made at the location announced in the agenda for the closed session, as long as the public is allowed 
to be present at that location for the purpose of hearing the announcement. 


§ 11126.5. Removal of disruptive persons 


11126.5. In the event that any meeting is willfully interrupted by a group or groups of persons 
so as to render the orderly conduct of such meeting unfeasible and order cannot be restored by the 
removal of individuals who are willfully interrupting the meeting the state body conducting the 
meeting may order the meeting room cleared and continue in session. Nothing in this section shall 
prohibit the state body from establishing a procedure for readmitting an individual or individuals not 
responsible for willfully disturbing the orderly conduct of the meeting. Notwithstanding any other 
provision of law, only matters appearing on the agenda may be considered in such a session. 
Representatives of the press or other news media, except those participating in the disturbance, shall 
be allowed to attend any session held pursuant to this section. 


§ 11126.7. Charging fees prohibited 


11126.7. No fees may be charged by a state body for providing a notice required by Section 
11125 or for carrying out any provision of this article, except as specifically authorized pursuant to 
this article. 


36







§ 11127. State bodies covered 


11127. Each provision of this article shall apply to every state body unless the body is 
specifically excepted from that provision by law or is covered by any other conflicting provision of 
law. 


§ 11128. Time restrictions for holding closed sessions 


11128. Each closed session of a state body shall be held only during a regular or special 
meeting of the body. 


§ 11128.5. Adjournment 


11128.5. The state body may adjourn any regular, adjourned regular, special, or adjourned 
special meeting to a time and place specified in the order of adjournment. Less than a quorum may 
so adjourn from time to time. If all members are absent from any regular or adjourned regular 
meeting, the clerk or secretary of the state body may declare the meeting adjourned to a stated time 
and place and he or she shall cause a written notice of the adjournment to be given in the same 
manner as provided in Section 11125.4 for special meetings, unless that notice is waived as provided 
for special meetings. A copy of the order or notice of adjournment shall be conspicuously posted on 
or near the door of the place where the regular, adjourned regular, special, or adjourned special 
meeting was held within 24 hours after the time of the adjournment. When a regular or adjourned 
regular meeting is adjourned as provided in this section, the resulting adjourned regular meeting is 
a regular meeting for all purposes. When an order of adjournment of any meeting fails to state the 
hour at which the adjourned meeting is to be held, it shall be held at the hour specified for regular 
meetings by law or regulation. 


§ 11129. Continuation of meeting; notice requirement 


11129. Any hearing being held, or noticed or ordered to be held by a state body at any 
meeting may by order or notice of continuance be continued or recontinued to any subsequent 
meeting of the state body in the same manner and to the same extent set forth in Section 11128.5 for 
the adjournment of meetings. A copy of the order or notice of continuance shall be conspicuously 
posted on or near the door of the place where the hearing was held within 24 hours after the time of 
the continuance; provided, that if the hearing is continued to a time less than 24 hours after the time 
specified in the order or notice of hearing, a copy of the order or notice of continuance of hearing 
shall be posted immediately following the meeting at which the order or declaration of continuance 
was adopted or made. 


§ 11130. Legal remedies to stop or prohibit violations of act 


11130. (a) The Attorney General, the district attorney, or any interested person may 
commence an action by mandamus, injunction, or declaratory relief for the purpose of stopping or 
preventing violations or threatened violations of this article or to determine the applicability of this 


37







article to past actions or threatened future action by members of the state body or to determine 
whether any rule or action by the state body to penalize or otherwise discourage the expression of one 
or more of its members is valid or invalid under the laws of this state or of the United States, or to 
compel the state body to tape record its closed sessions as hereinafter provided. 


(b) The court in its discretion may, upon a judgment of a violation of Section 11126, order 
the state body to tape record its closed sessions and preserve the tape recordings for the period and 
under the terms of security and confidentiality the court deems appropriate. 


(c) (1) Each recording so kept shall be immediately labeled with the date of the closed session 
recorded and the title of the clerk or other officer who shall be custodian of the recording. 


(2) The tapes shall be subject to the following discovery procedures: 


(A) In any case in which discovery or disclosure of the tape is sought by the Attorney 
General, the district attorney, or the plaintiff in a civil action pursuant to this section or Section 
11130.3 alleging that a violation of this article has occurred in a closed session that has been recorded 
pursuant to this section, the party seeking discovery or disclosure shall file a written notice of motion 
with the appropriate court with notice to the governmental agency that has custody and control of the 
tape recording. The notice shall be given pursuant to subdivision (b) of Section 1005 of the Code of 
Civil Procedure. 


(B) The notice shall include, in addition to the items required by Section 1010 of the Code 
of Civil Procedure, all of the following: 


(i) Identification of the proceeding in which discovery or disclosure is sought, the party 
seeking discovery or disclosure, the date and time of the meeting recorded, and the governmental 
agency that has custody and control of the recording. 


(ii) An affidavit that contains specific facts indicating that a violation of the act occurred in 
the closed session. 


(3) If the court, following a review of the motion, finds that there is good cause to believe that 
a violation has occurred, the court may review, in camera, the recording of that portion of the closed 
session alleged to have violated the act. 


(4) If, following the in-camera review, the court concludes that disclosure of a portion of the 
recording would be likely to materially assist in the resolution of the litigation alleging violation of 
this article, the court shall, in its discretion, make a certified transcript of the portion of the recording 
a public exhibit in the proceeding. 


(5) Nothing in this section shall permit discovery of communications that are protected by the 
attorney-client privilege. 


38







§ 11130.3. Cause of action to void action 


11130.3. (a) Any interested person may commence an action by mandamus, injunction, or 
declaratory relief for the purpose of obtaining a judicial determination that an action taken by a state 
body in violation of Section 11123 or 11125 is null and void under this section. Any action seeking 
such a judicial determination shall be commenced within 90 days from the date the action was taken. 
Nothing in this section shall be construed to prevent a state body from curing or correcting an action 
challenged pursuant to this section. 


(b) An action shall not be determined to be null and void if any of the following conditions 
exist: 


(1) The action taken was in connection with the sale or issuance of notes, bonds, or other 
evidences of indebtedness or any contract, instrument, or agreement related thereto. 


(2) The action taken gave rise to a contractual obligation upon which a party has, in good 
faith, detrimentally relied. 


(3) The action taken was in substantial compliance with Sections 11123 and 11125. 


(4) The action taken was in connection with the collection of any tax. 


§ 11130.5. Court costs; attorney’s fees 


11130.5. A court may award court costs and reasonable attorney’s fees to the plaintiff in an 
action brought pursuant to Section 11130 or 11130.3 where it is found that a state body has violated 
the provisions of this article. The costs and fees shall be paid by the state body and shall not become 
a personal liability of any public officer or employee thereof. A court may award court costs and 
reasonable attorney’s fees to a defendant in any action brought pursuant to Section 11130 or 11130.3 
where the defendant has prevailed in a final determination of the action and the court finds that the 
action was clearly frivolous and totally lacking in merit. 


§ 11130.7. Violation; misdemeanor 


11130.7. Each member of a state body who attends a meeting of that body in violation of any 
provision of this article, and where the member intends to deprive the public of information to which 
the member knows or has reason to know the public is entitled under this article, is guilty of a 
misdemeanor. 


§ 11131. Prohibited meeting facilities; discrimination 


11131. No state agency shall conduct any meeting, conference, or other function in any 
facility that prohibits the admittance of any person, or persons, on the basis of race, religious creed, 
color, national origin, ancestry, or sex, or that is inaccessible to disabled persons, or where members 
of the public may not be present without making a payment or purchase. As used in this section, 


39







“state agency” means and includes every state body, office, officer, department, division, bureau, 
board, council, commission, or other state agency. 


§ 11131.5. Required notice; exemption for name of victim 


11131.5. No notice, agenda, announcement, or report required under this article need identify 
any victim or alleged victim of crime, tortious sexual conduct, or child abuse unless the identity of 
the person has been publicly disclosed. 


§ 11132. Closed sessions; express authorization required 


11132. Except as expressly authorized by this article, no closed session may be held by any 
state body. 


40





		A Handy Guide to the Bagley-Keene Open Meeting Act 2004

		INTRODUCTION

		PURPOSE OF THE ACT

		BODIES COVERED BY THE ACT: General Rule

		MEMBERS-TO-BE

		WHAT IS A MEETING?

		NOTICE AND AGENDA REQUIREMENTS

		REGULAR MEETINGS

		SPECIAL MEETINGS

		EMERGENCY MEETINGS

		PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

		ACCESS TO RECORDS

		ACCESSABILITY OF MEETING LOCATIONS

		CLOSED SESSIONS

		REMEDIES FOR VIOLATIONS

		Government Code Sections 11120-11132 (January 2004)

		§ 11120. Policy statement; requirement for open meetings

		§ 11121. State body

		§ 11121.1. State body; exceptions

		§ 11121.9. Requirement to provide law to members

		§ 11121.95. Application to persons who have not assumed office

		§ 11122. Action taken; defined

		§ 11122.5. Meeting defined; exceptions

		§ 11123. Requirement for open meetings; teleconference meetings

		§ 11123.1. Compliance with the ADA

		§ 11124. No conditions for attending meetings

		§ 11124.1. Right to record meetings

		§ 11125. Required notice

		§ 11125.1. Agenda; writings provided to body; public records

		§ 11125.2. Announcement of personnel action

		§ 11125.3. Exception to agenda requirements

		§ 11125.4. Special meetings

		§ 11125.5. Emergency meetings

		§ 11125.6. Emergency meetings; Fish and Game Commission

		§ 11125.7 Opportunity for public to speak at meeting

		§ 11125.8. Closed session; Board of Control; crime victims

		§ 11125.9. Regional water quality control boards; additional notice requirements

		§ 11126. Closed sessions

		§ 11126.1. Minutes; availability

		§ 11126.3. Required notice for closed sessions

		§ 11126.5. Removal of disruptive persons

		§ 11126.7. Charging fees prohibited

		§ 11127. State bodies covered

		§ 11128. Time restrictions for holding closed sessions

		§ 11128.5. Adjournment

		§ 11129. Continuation of meeting; notice requirement

		§ 11130. Legal remedies to stop or prohibit violations of act

		§ 11130.3. Cause of action to void action

		§ 11130.5. Court costs; attorney’s fees

		§ 11130.7. Violation; misdemeanor

		§ 11131. Prohibited meeting facilities; discrimination

		§ 11131.5. Required notice; exemption for name of victim

		§ 11132. Closed sessions; express authorization required












1 
 


ENVIRONMENTAL LABORATORY TECHNICAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE 


 


BY-LAWS 


Adopted 02/04/2016  


 


ARTICLE I 


 


Name 


 


The name of this Committee shall be the Environmental Laboratory Technical Advisory 


Committee (ELTAC). 


 


ARTICLE II 


 


Bagley-Keene Open Meeting Act 


 


All meetings shall be conducted in accordance with the provisions of the Bagley-Keene 


Open Meeting Act (Government Code, Title 2, Division 3, Chapter 1 (commencing with 


Section 11120)), and each member is subject to the provisions of the Bagley-Keene 


Open Meeting Act. No provision of these By-Laws is intended to nor may be interpreted 


to conflict with or supplement the Bagley-Keene Open Meeting Act. 


 


ARTICLE III 


 


Objectives and Functions 


 


ELTAC serves to implement objectives and requirements authorized in Section 100863 


of the California Health and Safety Code. 


 


ELTAC is established in law to "assist, advise and make recommendations regarding 


technical, scientific, and administrative matters concerning the accreditation or 


certification of environmental laboratories." (Health and Safety Code Section 100863)  


The law further provides that: "Subcommittees of the committee may be appointed 


consisting of committee members and other persons having particular knowledge of a 


subject area, for the purpose of assisting the … [State Water Resources Control Board] 


on special problems and making recommendations to the Committee for consideration 


in the establishment of rules and regulations."  


 


ELTAC shall assist the State Water Resources Control Board, Division of Drinking 


Water (hereafter referred to as “Division”), Environmental Laboratory Accreditation 







2 
 


Program (hereafter referred to as “ELAP”) by providing advice and making 


recommendations regarding technical and scientific matters for the establishment of 


rules and regulations that will ensure the proper administration and enforcement of 


provisions pursuant to Health and Safety Code, sections 100825-100920 as well as 


provisions in other statutes that impact environmental laboratory activity.  


 


The Committee shall also function as a means of exchanging information and opinions 


related to environmental laboratory technology, methods, and practice. In support of this 


function, ELAP may request ELTAC member laboratories participate in outreach and 


education efforts and allow assessors the ability to tour their laboratories in order to 


learn about technologies the assessors have not previously witnessed. 


  


ELTAC shall assist ELAP in: 


A. Developing scientifically rigorous recommendations regarding issues that impact the 


regulated laboratory community, regulatory agencies, and data users 


B. Improving communications and outreach between ELAP and its stakeholder 


communities 


C. The operation and improvement of ELAP 


D. The implementation of a performance based, transparent accreditation program that 


is accountable to ELAP stakeholders 


 


ARTICLE IV 


 


Membership 


A. Types of Members 


1. Designated Environmental Laboratory Accreditation Program Officer 


(DELAPO)  


A full-time employee of ELAP shall be appointed as the DELAPO by the 


Deputy Director of the Division of Drinking Water (hereafter referred to as 


“Deputy Director”). The DELAPO or a designee shall be present at all of 


the meetings of the Committee and Subcommittees. Meetings may not be 


conducted in the absence of the DELAPO or designee. Each meeting 


shall be conducted in accordance with an agenda approved in advance by 


the DELAPO. The DELAPO is authorized to adjourn any meeting when he 


or she determines it is in the public’s best interest to do so. The DELAPO 


is not a voting member of the Committee. 


2. Representative Member (Representative) 


A Representative is an individual who is appointed by the Deputy Director 


to speak on behalf of a group, organization, or any other recognizable 







3 
 


group of persons having an interest in matters before ELTAC. 


Representatives are voting members of ELTAC. 


3. State Regulatory Agency Employee (SRAE) 


SRAEs are appointed by the Deputy Director to speak on behalf of a 


California State board, department or office by which they are currently 


employed. SRAEs are not voting members of ELTAC. 


4. Chairperson 


This position shall be held by a current Representative. Annually, the 


Chairperson shall present a summary of ELTAC’s scope of work to the 


State Water Board Members. The Chairperson shall be elected by voting 


members of ELTAC. The Chairperson shall solicit and create agenda 


items for ELTAC meetings. The Chairperson shall submit the agenda to 


the DELAPO at least 30 days before the scheduled ELTAC meeting for 


approval. The Chairperson is highly encouraged to be present at all 


meetings held in Sacramento. Voting for the Chairperson shall follow 


voting procedure as outlined in Article V. This member retains full voting 


privileges. 


5. Scribe 


The Scribe shall be an ELAP staff member who is appointed by the 


DELAPO. The Scribe is responsible for the meeting minutes, which shall 


highlight discussions and decisions made on agenda items and other 


orders of business. The Scribe shall make the minutes available to the 


public after the committee approves them. This is not a voting position. 


B. Composition 


ELTAC shall be comprised of the DELAPO and approximately fifteen (15) 


members (Representatives and SRAEs) to speak on behalf of interested parties 


and environmental laboratories subject to the Environmental Laboratory 


Accreditation Act. One of the current Representatives shall serve as the 


Chairperson. The Committee shall consist of a broad range of individuals who 


come from interested parties and environmental laboratories that have a wide 


range of expertise that includes, but is not limited to, ELAP’s fields of testing. 


There shall be committee members from both Northern and Southern California, 


from both publicly and privately owned laboratories, and from laboratories of all 


sizes. Those serving on ELTAC shall be selected by the Deputy Director based 


upon their expertise and knowledge of: conformity and standards development, 


laboratory quality systems and accreditation, analytical methods and methods 


development, overall analytical laboratory operations; and familiarity of regulatory 


framework and requirements for compliance needs. Membership shall be 


established and term appointments maintained in such a manner as to require a 


minimum number of new appointments from each category each year, with terms 







4 
 


overlapping to maintain stability and continuity within ELTAC. The membership of 


ELTAC shall be constituted such that no one set of stakeholders shall have 


dominance over ELTAC and every Representative has substantive knowledge of 


ELAP services and environmental laboratory operations.  


C. Terms for Representatives, SRAEs and the Chairperson 


1. The membership term for Representatives and SRAEs shall be two (2) years 


unless an appointment is made to fill an un-expired term of a member not 


completing a term, in which case appointments of less than two (2) years may 


be made.  


2. Representatives and SRAEs of ELTAC may not be appointed for more than 


four (4) consecutive years of service with a maximum lifetime service of six 


(6) years. In order to preserve representation on the ELTAC, with the consent 


of the incumbent member, current appointments shall be continued with full 


voting rights and privileges until replacements are seated.  


3. The term of the Chairperson shall be one (1) year. The Chairperson shall not 


have restrictions on the amount of terms that can be served, as this position 


is elected annually.  


D. Expectations 


Representatives and SRAEs must have the resources and technical expertise to 


support participation on ELTAC. Representatives and SRAEs are expected to attend 


all ELTAC meetings, and provide an oral report out to ELTAC during the October 


meeting on communication held with their constituents. Failure to provide reports 


may result in dismissal from ELTAC at the discretion of the Deputy Director. In order 


to facilitate discussion, Representatives and SRAEs may attend meetings in person 


or remotely. Failure to attend ELTAC meetings may result in dismissal as outlined in 


Section E of this Article. 


E. Absences and Dismissal 


In the event a Representative or SRAE cannot attend an ELTAC meeting, he/she 


may choose an alternate to attend the meeting. An alternate may speak on behalf of 


a Representative or SRAE but the alternate’s presence does not count toward a 


quorum. If a Representative or SRAE has sent an alternate in his/her place, that 


alternate shall not vote on agenda items. If the Chairperson cannot attend an ELTAC 


meeting, he or she must select an alternate to act as the Chairperson from existing 


ELTAC membership. A Representative/SRAE may be removed by the Deputy 


Director or by a 2/3 vote by the voting members on ELTAC. In the event a 


Representative or SRAE obtains work in a new field or fails to represent his/her 


constituents, a new Representative or SRAE shall take his/her place in accordance 


with the process outlined in Article V. 


  







5 
 


ARTICLE V 


Appointments, Elections and Voting 


A. Representative and SRAE Appointments 


ELTAC shall consist of members appointed by the Division of Drinking Water Deputy 


Director. Applications for Representative and SRAE positions shall be submitted in 


writing to the DELAPO by no later than the 15th of September. A complete package 


will include: 


1. The applicant's/nominee’s full name, title, institutional affiliation, and contact 


information. 


2. The applicant's/nominee’s area(s) of expertise. 


3. A summary of qualifications (1-2 sentences) outlining the individual’s 


technical expertise and who they would represent. Inclusion of a curriculum 


vitae or resume is desirable. 


4. Letter of recommendation or written endorsement from an organization, 


association, etc. (optional)  


The Deputy Director shall appoint all Representatives and SRAEs after evaluating 


nominations. The Chief of ELAP, the Deputy Director and the Assistant Deputy 


Director of the Division of Drinking Water shall evaluate all nominees for eligibility 


and make their selection based on the most qualified candidate(s). In selecting 


committee members, executive personnel shall consider candidates who represent 


the different technical fields within the laboratory community, regulatory agencies, 


and data users. All nominations shall be made public. 


B. Nominating the Chairperson 


Before proceeding to the election for the Chairperson, one or more candidates must 


be nominated by a current Representative or SRAE at the October ELTAC meeting. 


The nomination must be accepted by the nominee in order to be considered as an 


eligible candidate in the voting process. When nominations are completed, the 


voting members, as provided for in these By-Laws, shall elect the Chairperson. 


C. Electing the Chairperson 


Voting for the Chairperson shall be conducted during the October ELTAC meeting. 


Each Representative shall be allowed one vote. The Chairperson shall be decided 


by a simple majority vote. Voting is not binding and the Deputy Director may appoint 


a different Chairperson if he/she deems it necessary. 


  







6 
 


ARTICLE VI 


 


Operational Procedures 


A. Quorum 


The presence of one-half plus one of the total members on ELTAC (Representatives 


and SRAEs) shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. In the 


absence of a quorum, no official action may be taken by the ELTAC. 


B. Meetings 


1. ELTAC shall meet at least three (3) times a year. The DELAPO shall 


schedule meetings. One of these meetings shall be held in October. 


2. Emergency or special meetings may be scheduled and held in accordance 


with Article II. 


3. Unless otherwise scheduled by the DELAPO, all ELTAC meetings shall 


reside in Sacramento. 


4. The proceedings of ELTAC shall be called to order and adjourned by the 


DELAPO and shall follow Robert’s Rules of Order, newly revised. 


C. By-Laws 


1. These By-Laws must be reviewed by ELTAC for amendments no less than 


once every two (2) years. 


2. These By-Laws may be amended by a two-thirds (2/3) majority vote of 


ELTAC’s members pending final approval from the Deputy Director. 


3. The Deputy Director reserves the right to make amendments to these By-


Laws without the ELTAC’s consent. ELTAC reserves the right to appeal these 


amendments to the State Water Resources Control Board during the public 


comment period of a regularly scheduled Board meeting. 


D. Recommendations  


1. Any recommendation(s) made to ELAP must be submitted in writing through 


letter or email to the DELAPO.  


2. The DELAPO will respond no later than thirty (30) days after the 


recommendation has been received. The response shall be posted to the 


website, as well as emailed to ELTAC. The response shall include whether 


the DELAPO will accept or deny the recommendation, or if more time is 


needed. 


E. Voting on Agenda Items During ELTAC Meetings 


Only Representatives and SRAEs may vote for items on the ELTAC agenda unless 


ELTAC has decided otherwise in a previous meeting. It shall be a goal of ELTAC to 


reach a consensus on each agenda item.  


F. Subcommittees and Consultants 


Subcommittees may be established by ELTAC as needed. Each member of a 


Subcommittee, including persons who have not been appointed as or designated as 







7 
 


Representatives or SRAEs of ELTAC, must also comply with the provisions stated in 


Article II. Subcommittee members shall be appointed by the DELAPO. Membership 


on such Subcommittees may include members of the public; however, there must be 


at least one Representative or SRAE on any Subcommittee. All Subcommittee 


meetings shall be conducted in accordance with Article II. Only Subcommittee 


members may vote on issues before the Subcommittee. The DELAPO may request 


consultants to present information at a meeting of ELTAC or a meeting of a 


Subcommittee.  


G. Regulations 


Where possible, ELAP shall seek advice from ELTAC on all regulations and fees 


developed by ELAP related to environmental laboratory technology and practice. 


ELTAC may (by action taken at a public meeting) request that its comments on 


proposed regulations be submitted to the State Water Resources Control Board, and 


the DELAPO shall submit the comments to the State Water Resources Control 


Board. Individual members of ELTAC retain their right as a member of the public to 


submit comments on proposed regulations. 


H. Minutes 


A record shall be made by the Scribe of actions taken at each meeting by ELTAC 


and Subcommittee(s). The record shall then be posted in draft form on ELAP’s 


website (www.waterboards.ca.gov/elap) until it can be approved by ELTAC. The 


minutes may only be approved at an ELTAC meeting or Subcommittee meeting 


whose actions are described in the minutes. The DELAPO shall designate a person 


to act as Scribe for each closed session of the ELTAC and any Subcommittee. 



http://www.waterboards.ca.gov/elap




E101

		Field of Testing 101: Microbiology of Drinking Water



		Safe Drinking Water Act 40 CFR 141



		Lab Name:

		Certificate #:





		Subgroup Code		Analyte Code		Method		Analyte		Technology		Enter Y for selection		Comments

		101.010		001		SM 9215 B		Heterotrophic Bacteria		Pour plate

		101.010		002		SimPlate		Heterotrophic Bacteria		Idexx

		101.020		001		SM 9221 B		Total Coliform P/A		Multiple Tube Fermentation

		101.020		002		SM 9221 B,E 		Fecal Coliform P/A		Multiple Tube Fermentation

		101.020		003		SM 9221 B,F		E. Coli P/A		Multiple Tube Fermentation

		101.020		004		SM 9221 B,C		Total Coliform, Enumeration 		Multiple Tube Fermentation

		101.020		005		SM 9221 B,E 		Fecal Coliform, Enumeration 		Multiple Tube Fermentation

		101.020		006		SM 9221 B,F		E. Coli, Enumeration		Multiple Tube Fermentation

		101.030		001		SM 9221 D		Total Coliform P/A		Presence-Absence

		101.030		002		SM 9221 D,E		Fecal Coliform P/A		Presence-Absence

		101.030		003		SM 9221 D,F		E. Coli P/A		Presence-Absence

		101.040		001		SM 9222 B		Total Coliform P/A		Membrane Filter

		101.040		002		SM 9222 D		Fecal Coliform P/A		Membrane Filter

		101.040		003		SM 9222 C		Total Coliform P/A		Membrane Filter, delayed

		101.040		004		SM 9222 G		E. Coli P/A		Membrane Filter, Partition

		101.040		005		SM 9222 B		Total Coliform, Enumeration 		Membrane Filter

		101.040		006		SM 9222 D		Fecal Coliform, Enumeration		Membrane Filter

		101.040		007		SM 9222 C		Total Coliform, Enumeration 		Membrane Filter, delayed

		101.040		008		SM 9222 G		E. Coli, Enumeration		Membrane Filter, Partition

		101.050		001		SM 9223 B		Total Coliform P/A		Colilert/Idexx 

		101.050		002		SM 9223 B		E. Coli P/A		Colilert/Idexx 

		101.050		003		SM 9223 B		Total Coliform, Enumeration 		Colilert/Idexx 

		101.050		004		SM 9223 B		E. Coli, Enumeration		Colilert/Idexx 

		101.050		005		SM 9223 B		Total Coliform P/A		Colilert-18/Idexx 

		101.050		006		SM 9223 B		E. Coli P/A		Colilert-18/Idexx 

		101.050		007		SM 9223 B		Total Coliform, Enumeration 		Colilert-18/Idexx 

		101.050		008		SM 9223 B		E. Coli, Enumeration		Colilert-18/Idexx 

		101.050		009		SM 9223 B		Total Coliform P/A		Colisure/Idexx

		101.050		010		SM 9223 B		E. Coli P/A		Colisure/Idexx

		101.050		011		SM 9223 B		Total Coliform, Enumeration 		Colisure/Idexx

		101.050		012		SM 9223 B		E. Coli, Enumeration		Colisure/Idexx

		101.060		001		E*Colite		Total Coliform P/A		Charm Sciences

		101.060		002		E*Colite		E. Coli P/A		Charm Sciences

		101.070		001		m-ColiBlue24		Total Coliform P/A		Hach

		101.070		002		m-ColiBlue24		E. Coli P/A		Hach

		101.070		003		m-ColiBlue24		Total Coliform, Enumeration 		Hach

		101.070		004		m-ColiBlue24		E. Coli, Enumeration		Hach

		101.080		001		ReadyCult		Total Coliform P/A		EMD Chemicals 

		101.080		002		ReadyCult		E. Coli P/A		EMD Chemicals 

		101.090		001		Chromocult		Total Coliform P/A		EMD Chemicals 

		101.090		002		Chromocult		E. Coli P/A		EMD Chemicals 

		101.100		001		Colitag		Total Coliform P/A		CPI International

		101.100		002		Colitag		E. Coli P/A		CPI International

		101.110		001		EPA 1103.1		E. Coli, Enumeration		Membrane Filter

		101.120		001		EPA 1603		E. Coli, Enumeration		Membrane Filter

		101.130		001		EPA 1604		Total Coliform, Enumeration 		Membrane Filter

		101.130		002		EPA 1604		E. Coli, Enumeration		Membrane Filter

		101.140		001		SM 9230 B		Enterococci		Multiple Tube Fermentation

		101.150		001		SM 9230 C		Enterococci		Membrane Filter

		101.160		001		EPA 1600		Enterococci		Membrane Filter

		101.170		001		Enterolert		Enterococci		Idexx

		101.180		001		Tecta EC/TC		Total Coliform P/A		Enzyme Substrate, Tecta

		101.180		002		Tecta EC/TC		E. Coli P/A		Enzyme Substrate, Tecta





		References:

		Please refer to the following rules for your monitoring program: 



		Revised Total Coliform Rule-40 CFR 141.852  

		Total Coliform Rule-40 CFR 141.21

		Ground Water Rule-40 CFR 141.402    

		Surface Water Treatment Rule-40 CFR 141.74

		Long Term 2 Enhanced Surface Water Treatment Rule-40 CFR 141.704 

		Appendix A to Subpart C of Part 141—Alternative Testing Methods Approved for Analyses Under the SDWA



Page &P of &N


LABORATORY NAME: 

Lab Director or Representative:
           (PRINT NAME)

Signature:	



Date:	ELAP FOT 101 (0802)


Laboratory Name: 

Lab Director or Representative:
  (Print Name)

Signature:	



Date:	Page &P of &N
E101 (0316)




Sheet1






FOT102

		Field of Testing 102: Inorganic Chemistry of Drinking Water



		Safe Drinking Water Act: 40 CFR 141.23 



		Lab Name:

		Certificate #:





		Subgroup Code		Analyte Code		Method 		Analyte		Technology		Enter Y for
Selection		Comments

		102.015		001		EPA 150.1		Hydrogen Ion (pH)		Electrometric

		102.016		001		EPA 150.2		Hydrogen Ion (pH)		Electrometric (Continuous)

		102.020		001		EPA 180.1		Turbidity		Nephelometric

		102.025		001		EPA 200.5		Calcium		ICP-AES

		102.025		002		EPA 200.5		Magnesium		ICP-AES

		102.025		003		EPA 200.5		Silica		ICP-AES

		102.025		004		EPA 200.5		Sodium		ICP-AES

		102.026		001		EPA 200.7		Calcium		ICP-AES

		102.026		002		EPA 200.7		Magnesium		ICP-AES

		102.026		003		EPA 200.7		Potassium		ICP-AES

		102.026		004		EPA 200.7		Silica		ICP-AES

		102.026		005		EPA 200.7		Sodium		ICP-AES

		102.026		006		EPA 200.7		Hardness (Calculation)		ICP-AES

		102.030		001		EPA 300.0		Bromide		Ion Chromatography

		102.030		002		EPA 300.0		Chlorate		Ion Chromatography

		102.030		003		EPA 300.0		Chloride		Ion Chromatography

		102.030		004		EPA 300.0		Chlorite		Ion Chromatography

		102.030		005		EPA 300.0		Fluoride		Ion Chromatography

		102.030		006		EPA 300.0		Nitrate as N		Ion Chromatography

		102.030		007		EPA 300.0		Nitrite as N		Ion Chromatography

		102.030		008		EPA 300.0		Phosphate, Ortho as P		Ion Chromatography

		102.030		009		EPA 300.0		Sulfate		Ion Chromatography

		102.040		001		EPA 300.1		Bromide		Ion Chromatography

		102.040		002		EPA 300.1		Chlorite		Ion Chromatography

		102.040		003		EPA 300.1		Chlorate		Ion Chromatography

		102.040		004		EPA 300.1		Bromate		Ion Chromatography

		102.040		005		EPA 300.1		Chloride		Ion Chromatography

		102.040		006		EPA 300.1		Fluoride		Ion Chromatography

		102.040		007		EPA 300.1		Nitrate as N		Ion Chromatography

		102.040		008		EPA 300.1		Nitrite as N		Ion Chromatography

		102.040		009		EPA 300.1		Phosphate, Ortho as P		Ion Chromatography

		102.040		010		EPA 300.1		Sulfate		Ion Chromatography

		102.041		001		EPA 302.0		Bromate		Ion Chromatography

		102.044		001		EPA 317.0		Bromate		Ion Chromatography

		102.044		002		EPA 317.0		Bromide		Ion Chromatography

		102.044		003		EPA 317.0		Chlorite		Ion Chromatography

		102.045		001		EPA 314.0		Perchlorate		Ion Chromatography

		102.046		001		EPA 314.1		Perchlorate		Ion Chromatography

		102.047		001		EPA 331.0		Perchlorate		LC-MS

		102.048		001		EPA 332.0		Perchlorate		IC-MS

		102.050		001		EPA 335.4		Cyanide		Semi Auto Colorimetric

		102.051		001		EPA 321.8		Bromate		Ion Chromatography

		102.052		001		EPA 326.0		Bromate		Ion Chromatography

		102.052		002		EPA 326.0		Bromide		Ion Chromatography

		102.052		003		EPA 326.0		Chlorite		Ion Chromatography

		102.053		001		EPA 327.0		Chlorite		Spectrophotometric

		102.053		002		EPA 327.0		Chlorine Dioxide		Spectrophotometric

		102.056		001		EPA 334.0		Chlorine, Free Available		Chlorine Analyzer

		102.056		002		EPA 334.0		Chlorine, Combined		Chlorine Analyzer

		102.056		003		EPA 334.0		Chlorine, Total Residual		Chlorine Analyzer

		102.060		001		EPA 353.2		Nitrate as N (Calculation)		Automated Colorimetric

		102.061		001		EPA 353.2		Nitrite as N		Automated Colorimetric

		102.070		001		EPA 365.1		Phosphate, Ortho as P		Semi Auto Colorimetric

		102.080		001		EPA 375.2		Sulfate		Automated Colorimetric

		102.085		001		EPA 415.3 Rev. 1.1		Dissolved Organic Carbon DOC		Spectrophotometric

		102.085		002		EPA 415.3 Rev. 1.1		Specific UV Absorbance SUVA		Spectrophotometric

		102.085		003		EPA 415.3 Rev. 1.1		Total Organic Carbon TOC		Spectrophotometric

		102.085		004		EPA 415.3 Rev. 1.1		UV254		Spectrophotometric

		102.086		001		EPA 415.3 Rev. 1.2		Dissolved Organic Carbon DOC		Spectrophotometric

		102.086		002		EPA 415.3 Rev. 1.2		Specific UV Absorbance SUVA		Spectrophotometric

		102.086		003		EPA 415.3 Rev. 1.2		Total Organic Carbon TOC		Spectrophotometric

		102.086		004		EPA 415.3 Rev. 1.2		UV254		Spectrophotometric

		102.090		001		EPA 557.0		Bromate		IC-ESI-MS/MS

		102.095		001		SM 2130 B-2001		Turbidity		Nephelometric

		102.100		001		SM 2320 B-1997		Alkalinity		Titrimeteric 

		102.120		001		SM 2340 B-1997		Hardness (Calculation)		AA or ICP

		102.121		001		SM 2340 C-1997		Hardness		Titrimeteric 

		102.130		001		SM 2510 B-1997 		Conductivity		Conductivity Meter

		102.140		001		SM 2540 C-1997 		Residue, Filterable TDS		Gravimetric

		102.146		001		SM 3111 B-1999 		Calcium		AA Direct Aspiration

		102.146		002		SM 3111 B-1999 		Magnesium		AA Direct Aspiration

		102.146		003		SM 3111 B-1999 		Potassium		AA Direct Aspiration

		102.146		004		SM 3111 B-1999 		Sodium		AA Direct Aspiration

		102.146		005		SM 3111 B-1999 		Hardness (Calculation)		AA Direct Aspiration

		102.147		001		SM 3120 B-1999		Calcium		ICP-AES

		102.147		002		SM 3120 B-1999		Magnesium		ICP-AES

		102.147		003		SM 3120 B-1999		Potassium		ICP-AES

		102.147		004		SM 3120 B-1999		Silica		ICP-AES

		102.147		006		SM 3120 B-1999		Hardness (Calculation)		ICP-AES

		102.148		001		SM 3500-Ca B-1997		Calcium		Titrimetric 

		102.149		001		SM 3500-Mg B-1997		Magnesium		Calculation

		102.150		001		SM 4110 B-2000		Chloride		Ion Chromatography

		102.150		002		SM 4110 B-2000		Fluoride		Ion Chromatography

		102.150		003		SM 4110 B-2000		Nitrate as N		Ion Chromatography

		102.150		004		SM 4110 B-2000		Nitrite as N		Ion Chromatography

		102.150		005		SM 4110 B-2000		Phosphate, Ortho as P		Ion Chromatography

		102.150		006		SM 4110 B-2000		Sulfate		Ion Chromatography

		102.170		007		SM 4110 B-2000		Bromide		Ion Chromatography

		102.170		001		SM 4500-Cl B-1997		Chloride		Titrimeteric 

		102.171		001		SM 4500-Cl D-1997		Chloride		Potentiometric

		102.172		001		SM 4500-Cl D-2000		Chlorine, Combined		Titrimetric 

		102.172		002		SM 4500-Cl D-2000		Chlorine, Free Available		Titrimetric 

		102.172		003		SM 4500-Cl D-2000		Chlorine, Total Residual		Titrimetric 

		102.173		001		SM 4500-Cl E-2000		Chlorine, Free Available		Amperometeric

		102.173		002		SM 4500-Cl E-2000		Chlorine, Total Residual		Amperometeric

		102.174		001		SM 4500-Cl F-2000		Chlorine, Free Available		DPD-FAS

		102.174		002		SM 4500-Cl F-2000		Chlorine, Total Residual		DPD-FAS

		102.175		001		SM 4500-Cl G-2000		Chlorine, Free Available		Spectrophotometric

		102.175		002		SM 4500-Cl G-2000		Chlorine, Total Residual		Spectrophotometric

		102.180		001		SM 4500-ClO2 D-2000		Chlorine Dioxide		DPD

		102.182		001		SM 4500-ClO2 E-2000		Chlorite		Amperometeric

		102.182		002		SM 4500-ClO2 E-2000		Chlorine Dioxide		Potentiometric

		102.190		001		SM 4500-CN E-2000		Cyanide, Total		Spectrophotometric

		102.191		001		SM 4500-CN F-1999		Cyanide, Total		Electrode

		102.192		001		SM 4500-CN G-1999		Cyanide, amenable		Spectrophotometric

		102.200		001		SM 4500-F C-1997		Fluoride		Electrode

		102.201		001		SM 4500-F B,D-1997		Fluoride		Colorimetric

		102.202		001		SM 4500-F E-1997		Fluoride		Colorimetric

		102.203		001		SM 4500-H+ B-2000		Hydrogen Ion (pH)		Electrometric

		102.220		001		SM 4500-NO2 B-2000		Nitrite as N		Spectrophotometric

		102.230		001		SM 4500-NO3 D-2000		Nitrate as N		Electrode

		102.232		001		SM 4500-NO3 E-2000		Nitrite as N		Cd Reduction Manual

		102.232		002		SM 4500-NO3 E-2000		Nitrate as N		Cd Reduction Manual

		102.234		001		SM 4500-NO3 F-2000		Nitrite as N		Cd Reduction Auto

		102.234		002		SM 4500-NO3 F-2000		Nitrate as N		Cd Reduction Auto

		102.240		001		SM 4500-P E-1999		Phosphate, Ortho as P		Colorimetric

		102.241		001		SM 4500-P F-1999		Phosphate, Ortho as P		Colorimetric

		102.242		001		SM 4500-SiO2 C-1997		Silica		Colorimetric

		102.243		001		SM 4500-SiO2 D-1997		Silica		Colorimetric

		102.244		001		SM 4500-SiO2 E-1997		Silica		Auto Colorimetric

		102.250		001		SM 4500-SO4 C,D-1997		Sulfate		Gravimetric

		102.251		001		SM 4500-SO4 E-1997		Sulfate		Turbidimetric

		102.252		001		SM 4500-SO4 F-1997		Sulfate		Auto Colorimetric

		102.260		001		SM 5310 B-2000 		Organic carbon-Total (TOC)		Combustion

		102.261		001		SM 5310 B-2000 		Organic carbon-Dissolved (DOC)		Combustion

		102.262		001		SM 5310 C-2000		Organic carbon-Total (TOC)		Oxidation

		102.263		001		SM 5310 C-2000		Organic carbon-Dissolved (DOC)		Oxidation

		102.264		001		SM 5310 D-2000		Organic carbon-Total (TOC)		Oxidation

		102.265		001		SM 5310 D-2000		Organic carbon-Dissolved (DOC)		Oxidation

		102.270		001		SM 5540 C-2000		Surfactants		Colorimetric

		102.280		001		SM 5910 B-2011		UV254		Spectrophotometric

		102.300		001		Hach 10206		Nitrate as N		Hach

		102.563		001		Kelada-01 Revision 1.2		Cyanide		Auto Colorimetric

		102.564		001		Quickchem 10-204-00-1-X		Cyanide		Auto Colorimetric

		102.565		001		OIA-1677, DW		Cyanide		FIA















































































































































































































































Laboratory Name: 

Lab Director or Representative:
  (Print Name)

Signature:	



Date:	Page &P of &N
E102 (0316)





FOT103

		Field of Testing 103: Toxic Chemical Elements of Drinking Water



		Lab Name:

		Certificate #:





		Subgroup Code		Analyte Code		Method 		Analyte		Technology		Enter Y for
Selection		SOP
Y/N		Comments

		103.010		002		SM 3111 B		Copper		Flame AA 

		103.010		003		SM 3111 B		Iron		Flame AA 

		103.010		005		SM 3111 B		Manganese		Flame AA 

		103.010		006		SM 3111 B		Nickel		Flame AA 

		103.010		008		SM 3111 B		Silver		Flame AA 

		103.010		010		SM 3111 B		Zinc		Flame AA 

		103.020		001		SM 3111 D		Aluminum		Flame AA 

		103.020		002		SM 3111 D		Barium		Flame AA 

		103.030		001		SM 3112 B		Mercury		Cold Vapor AA

		103.040		001		SM 3113 B		Aluminum		AA Furnace

		103.040		002		SM 3113 B		Antimony		AA Furnace

		103.040		003		SM 3113 B		Arsenic		AA Furnace

		103.040		004		SM 3113 B		Barium		AA Furnace

		103.040		005		SM 3113 B 		Beryllium		AA Furnace

		103.040		006		SM 3113 B		Cadmium		AA Furnace

		103.040		007		SM 3113 B		Chromium		AA Furnace

		103.040		008		SM 3113 B		Copper		AA Furnace

		103.040		009		SM 3113 B		Iron		AA Furnace

		103.040		010		SM 3113 B		Lead		AA Furnace

		103.040		011		SM 3113 B		Manganese		AA Furnace

		103.040		012		SM 3113 B		Nickel		AA Furnace

		103.040		013		SM 3113 B		Selenium		AA Furnace

		103.040		014		SM 3113 B		Silver		AA Furnace

		103.050		001		SM 3114 B		Arsenic		AA Manual Hydride

		103.050		002		SM 3114 B		Selenium		AA Manual Hydride

		103.060		001		SM 3120 B		Aluminum		ICP-AES

		103.060		003		SM 3120 B		Barium		ICP-AES

		103.060		004		SM 3120 B		Beryllium		ICP-AES

		103.060		007		SM 3120 B		Chromium		ICP-AES

		103.060		008		SM 3120 B		Copper		ICP-AES

		103.060		009		SM 3120 B		Iron		ICP-AES

		103.060		011		SM 3120 B		Manganese		ICP-AES

		103.060		012		SM 3120 B 		Nickel		ICP-AES

		103.060		015		SM 3120 B		Silver		ICP-AES

		103.060		017		SM 3120 B		Zinc		ICP-AES

		103.125		001		EPA 200.5		Aluminum		ICP-AES

		103.125		002		EPA 200.5		Antimony		ICP-AES

		103.125		003		EPA 200.5		Arsenic		ICP-AES

		103.125		004		EPA 200.5		Barium		ICP-AES

		103.125		005		EPA 200.5		Beryllium		ICP-AES

		103.125		006		EPA 200.5		Cadmium		ICP-AES

		103.125		007		EPA 200.5		Chromium		ICP-AES

		103.125		008		EPA 200.5		Copper		ICP-AES

		103.125		009		EPA 200.5		Iron		ICP-AES

		103.125		010		EPA 200.5		Lead		ICP-AES

		103.125		011		EPA 200.5		Manganese		ICP-AES

		103.125		012		EPA 200.5		Nickel		ICP-AES

		103.125		013		EPA 200.5		Selenium		ICP-AES

		103.125		014		EPA 200.5		Silver		ICP-AES

		103.125		015		EPA 200.5		Zinc		ICP-AES

		103.130		001		EPA 200.7		Aluminum		ICP-AES

		103.130		003		EPA 200.7		Barium		ICP-AES

		103.130		004		EPA 200.7		Beryllium		ICP-AES

		103.130		005		EPA 200.7		Cadmium		ICP-AES

		103.130		007		EPA 200.7		Chromium		ICP-AES

		103.130		008		EPA 200.7		Copper		ICP-AES

		103.130		009		EPA 200.7		Iron		ICP-AES

		103.130		011		EPA 200.7		Manganese		ICP-AES

		103.130		012		EPA 200.7		Nickel		ICP-AES

		103.130		015		EPA 200.7		Silver		ICP-AES

		103.130		017		EPA 200.7		Zinc		ICP-AES

		103.130		018		EPA 200.7		Boron		ICP-AES

		103.140		001		EPA 200.8		Aluminum		ICP-MS

		103.140		002		EPA 200.8		Antimony		ICP-MS

		103.140		003		EPA 200.8		Arsenic		ICP-MS

		103.140		004		EPA 200.8		Barium		ICP-MS

		103.140		005		EPA 200.8		Beryllium		ICP-MS

		103.140		006		EPA 200.8		Cadmium		ICP-MS

		103.140		007		EPA 200.8		Chromium		ICP-MS

		103.140		008		EPA 200.8		Copper		ICP-MS

		103.140		009		EPA 200.8		Lead		ICP-MS

		103.140		010		EPA 200.8		Manganese		ICP-MS

		103.140		011		EPA 200.8		Mercury		ICP-MS

		103.140		012		EPA 200.8		Nickel		ICP-MS

		103.140		013		EPA 200.8		Selenium		ICP-MS

		103.140		014		EPA 200.8		Silver		ICP-MS

		103.140		015		EPA 200.8		Thallium		ICP-MS

		103.140		016		EPA 200.8		Zinc		ICP-MS

		103.140		017		EPA 200.8		Boron		ICP-MS

		103.140		018		EPA 200.8		Vanadium		ICP-MS

		103.150		001		EPA 200.9		Aluminum		STGFAA

		103.150		002		EPA 200.9		Antimony		STGFAA

		103.150		003		EPA 200.9		Arsenic		STGFAA

		103.150		004		EPA 200.9		Beryllium		STGFAA

		103.150		005		EPA 200.9		Cadmium		STGFAA

		103.150		006		EPA 200.9		Chromium		STGFAA

		103.150		007		EPA 200.9		Copper		STGFAA

		103.150		008		EPA 200.9		Iron		STGFAA

		103.150		009		EPA 200.9		Lead		STGFAA

		103.150		010		EPA 200.9		Manganese		STGFAA

		103.150		011		EPA 200.9		Nickel		STGFAA

		103.150		012		EPA 200.9		Selenium		STGFAA

		103.150		013		EPA 200.9		Silver		STGFAA

		103.150		014		EPA 200.9		Thallium		STGFAA

		103.150		015		EPA 200.9		Vanadium		STGFAA

		103.160		001		EPA 245.1		Mercury		Cold Vapor, Manual

		103.161		001		EPA 245.2		Mercury		Cold Vapor, Automated

		103.300		001		EPA 100.1		Asbestos

		103.301		001		EPA 100.2		Asbestos

		103.310		001		EPA 218.6		Chromium (VI)		Ion Chromatography

		103.311		001		EPA 218.7		Chromium (VI)		Ion Chromatography



















































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































Laboratory Name: 
&11
&10Lab Director or Representative:
  (Print Name)&8
&10
Signature:	



Date:
	Page &P of &N
E103 (0316)





FOT104

		Field of Testing 104: Volatile Organic Chemistry of Drinking Water



		Lab Name:

		Certificate #:





		Subgroup Code		Analyte Code		Method		Analyte		Technology		Enter Y for
Selection		Comments

		104.010		000		EPA 502.2		Volatile Organic Compounds		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.010		001		EPA 502.2		Benzene		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.010		007		EPA 502.2		n-Butylbenzene		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.010		008		EPA 502.2		sec-Butylbenzene		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.010		009		EPA 502.2		tert-Butylbenzene		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.010		010		EPA 502.2		Carbon Tetrachloride		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.010		011		EPA 502.2		Chlorobenzene		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.010		015		EPA 502.2		2-Chlorotoluene		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.010		016		EPA 502.2		4-Chlorotoluene		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.010		019		EPA 502.2		1,3-Dichlorobenzene		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.010		020		EPA 502.2		1,2-Dichlorobenzene		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.010		021		EPA 502.2		1,4-Dichlorobenzene		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.010		022		EPA 502.2		Dichlorodifluoromethane		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.010		023		EPA 502.2		1,1-Dichloroethane		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.010		024		EPA 502.2		1,2-Dichloroethane		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.010		025		EPA 502.2		1,1-Dichloroethene		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.010		026		EPA 502.2		cis-1,2-Dichloroethene		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.010		027		EPA 502.2		trans-1,2-Dichloroethene		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.010		028		EPA 502.2		Dichloromethane		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.010		029		EPA 502.2		1,2-Dichloropropane		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.010		033		EPA 502.2		cis-1,3-Dichloropropene		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.010		034		EPA 502.2		trans-1,3-Dichloropropene		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.010		035		EPA 502.2		Ethylbenzene		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.010		037		EPA 502.2		Isopropylbenzene		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.010		039		EPA 502.2		Naphthalene		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.010		040		EPA 502.2		N-propylbenzene		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.010		041		EPA 502.2		Styrene		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.010		043		EPA 502.2		1,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.010		044		EPA 502.2		Tetrachloroethene		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.010		045		EPA 502.2		Toluene		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.010		047		EPA 502.2		1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.010		048		EPA 502.2		1,1,1-Trichloroethane		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.010		049		EPA 502.2		1,1,2-Trichloroethane		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.010		050		EPA 502.2		Trichloroethene		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.010		051		EPA 502.2		Trichlorofluoromethane		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.010		053		EPA 502.2		1,2,4-Trimethylbenzene		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.010		054		EPA 502.2		1,3,5-Trimethylbenzene		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.010		055		EPA 502.2		Vinyl Chloride		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.010		056		EPA 502.2		Xylenes, Total		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.015		000		EPA 502.2		Trihalomethanes, Total		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.015		001		EPA 502.2		Bromodichloromethane		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.015		002		EPA 502.2		Bromoform		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.015		003		EPA 502.2		Chloroform		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.015		004		EPA 502.2		Dibromochloromethane		GC-ELCD/PID

		104.030		001		EPA 504.1		1,2-Dibromoethane		GC-ECD

		104.030		002		EPA 504.1		1,2-Dibromo-3-chloropropane		GC-ECD

		104.030		003		EPA 504.1		1,2,3-Trichloropropane		GC-ECD

		104.035		001		SRL 524M-TCP		1,2,3-Trichloropropane		GC-MS

		104.040		000		EPA 524.2		Volatile Organic Compounds		GC-MS

		104.040		001		EPA 524.2		Benzene		GC-MS

		104.040		002		EPA 524.2		Bromobenzene		GC-MS

		104.040		003		EPA 524.2		Bromochloromethane		GC-MS

		104.040		006		EPA 524.2		Bromomethane		GC-MS

		104.040		007		EPA 524.2		n-Butylbenzene		GC-MS

		104.040		008		EPA 524.2		sec-Butylbenzene		GC-MS

		104.040		009		EPA 524.2		tert-Butylbenzene		GC-MS

		104.040		010		EPA 524.2		Carbon Tetrachloride		GC-MS

		104.040		011		EPA 524.2		Chlorobenzene		GC-MS

		104.040		012		EPA 524.2		Chloroethane		GC-MS

		104.040		015		EPA 524.2		2-Chlorotoluene		GC-MS

		104.040		016		EPA 524.2		4-Chlorotoluene		GC-MS

		104.040		018		EPA 524.2		Dibromomethane		GC-MS

		104.040		019		EPA 524.2		1,3-Dichlorobenzene		GC-MS

		104.040		020		EPA 524.2		1,2-Dichlorobenzene		GC-MS

		104.040		021		EPA 524.2		1,4-Dichlorobenzene		GC-MS

		104.040		022		EPA 524.2		Dichlorodifluoromethane		GC-MS

		104.040		023		EPA 524.2		1,1-Dichloroethane		GC-MS

		104.040		024		EPA 524.2		1,2-Dichloroethane		GC-MS

		104.040		025		EPA 524.2		1,1-Dichloroethene		GC-MS

		104.040		026		EPA 524.2		cis-1,2-Dichloroethene		GC-MS

		104.040		027		EPA 524.2		trans-1,2-Dichloroethene		GC-MS

		104.040		028		EPA 524.2		Dichloromethane		GC-MS

		104.040		029		EPA 524.2		1,2-Dichloropropane		GC-MS

		104.040		030		EPA 524.2		1,3-Dichloropropane		GC-MS

		104.040		031		EPA 524.2		2,2-Dichloropropane		GC-MS

		104.040		032		EPA 524.2		1,1-Dichloropropene		GC-MS

		104.040		033		EPA 524.2		cis-1,3-Dichloropropene		GC-MS

		104.040		034		EPA 524.2		trans-1,3-Dichloropropene		GC-MS

		104.040		035		EPA 524.2		Ethylbenzene		GC-MS

		104.040		036		EPA 524.2		Hexachlorobutadiene		GC-MS

		104.040		037		EPA 524.2		Isopropylbenzene		GC-MS

		104.040		038		EPA 524.2		4-Isopropyltoluene		GC-MS

		104.040		039		EPA 524.2		Naphthalene		GC-MS

		104.040		040		EPA 524.2		Nitrobenzene		GC-MS

		104.040		041		EPA 524.2		N-propylbenzene		GC-MS

		104.040		042		EPA 524.2		Styrene		GC-MS

		104.040		043		EPA 524.2		1,1,1,2-Tetrachloroethane		GC-MS

		104.040		044		EPA 524.2		1,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane		GC-MS

		104.040		045		EPA 524.2		Tetrachloroethene		GC-MS

		104.040		046		EPA 524.2		Toluene		GC-MS

		104.040		047		EPA 524.2		1,2,3-Trichlorobenzene		GC-MS

		104.040		048		EPA 524.2		1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene		GC-MS

		104.040		049		EPA 524.2		1,1,1-Trichloroethane		GC-MS

		104.040		050		EPA 524.2		1,1,2-Trichloroethane		GC-MS

		104.040		051		EPA 524.2		Trichloroethene		GC-MS

		104.040		053		EPA 524.2		1,2,3-Trichloropropane		GC-MS

		104.040		054		EPA 524.2		1,2,4-Trimethylbenzene		GC-MS

		104.040		055		EPA 524.2		1,3,5-Trimethylbenzene		GC-MS

		104.040		056		EPA 524.2		Vinyl Chloride		GC-MS

		104.040		057		EPA 524.2		Xylenes, Total		GC-MS

		104.040		058		EPA 524.2		Hexachloroethane		GC-MS

		104.040		061		EPA 524.2		Carbon Disulfide		GC-MS

		104.040		062		EPA 524.2		Methyl Isobutyl Ketone		GC-MS

		104.045		000		EPA 524.2		Trihalomethanes, Total		GC-MS

		104.045		001		EPA 524.2		Bromodichloromethane		GC-MS

		104.045		002		EPA 524.2		Bromoform		GC-MS

		104.045		003		EPA 524.2		Chloroform		GC-MS

		104.045		004		EPA 524.2		Dibromochloromethane		GC-MS

		104.050		000		EPA 524.2		Gasoline Additives		GC-MS

		104.050		002		EPA 524.2		Methyl tert-butyl Ether (MTBE)		GC-MS

		104.050		003		EPA 524.2		tert-Amyl Methyl Ether (TAME)		GC-MS

		104.050		004		EPA 524.2		Ethyl tert-butyl Ether (ETBE)		GC-MS

		104.050		005		EPA 524.2		Trichlorofluoromethane (Freon 11)		GC-MS

		104.050		006		EPA 524.2		tert-Butyl Alcohol (TBA)		GC-MS

		104.050		007		EPA 524.2		Trichlorotrifluoroethane (Freon 113)		GC-MS

		104.055		000		EPA 524.3		Volatile Organic compounds		GC-MS

		104.055		001		EPA 524.3		Benzene		GC-MS

		104.055		002		EPA 524.3		Carbon Tetrachloride		GC-MS

		104.055		003		EPA 524.3		Chlorobenzene		GC-MS

		104.055		004		EPA 524.3		1,2-Dichlorobenzene		GC-MS

		104.055		005		EPA 524.3		1,4-Dichlorobenzene		GC-MS

		104.055		006		EPA 524.3		1,2-Dichloroethane		GC-MS

		104.055		007		EPA 524.3		cis-1,2-Dichloroethene		GC-MS

		104.055		008		EPA 524.3		trans-1,2-Dichloroethene		GC-MS

		104.055		009		EPA 524.3		Dichloromethane		GC-MS

		104.055		010		EPA 524.3		1,2-Dichloropropane		GC-MS

		104.055		011		EPA 524.3		Ethylbenzene		GC-MS

		104.055		012		EPA 524.3		Styrene		GC-MS

		104.055		013		EPA 524.3		Tetrachloroethene		GC-MS

		104.055		014		EPA 524.3		1,1,1-Trichloroethane		GC-MS

		104.055		015		EPA 524.3		Trichloroethene		GC-MS

		104.055		016		EPA 524.3		Toluene		GC-MS

		104.055		017		EPA 524.3		1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene		GC-MS

		104.055		018		EPA 524.3		1,1-Dichloroethene		GC-MS

		104.055		019		EPA 524.3		1,1,2-Trichloroethane		GC-MS

		104.055		020		EPA 524.3		Vinyl Chloride		GC-MS

		104.055		021		EPA 524.3		Xylenes, Total		GC-MS

		104.055		022		EPA 524.3		1,2-Dibromo-3-chloropropane		GC-MS

		104.055		023		EPA 524.3		1,2-Dibromoethane		GC-MS

		104.056		000		EPA 524.3		Trihalomethanes, Total		GC-MS

		104.056		001		EPA 524.3		Bromodichloromethane		GC-MS

		104.056		002		EPA 524.3		Bromoform		GC-MS

		104.056		003		EPA 524.3		Chloroform		GC-MS

		104.056		004		EPA 524.3		Dibromochloromethane		GC-MS

		104.057		000		EPA 524.3		Gasoline Additives		GC-MS

		104.057		001		EPA 524.3		Diisoprpyl ether (DIPE)		GC-MS

		104.057		002		EPA 524.3		Methyl tert-butyl Ether (MTBE)		GC-MS

		104.057		003		EPA 524.3		tert-Amyl Methyl Ether (TAME)		GC-MS

		104.057		004		EPA 524.3		Ethyl tert-butyl Ether (ETBE)		GC-MS

		104.057		005		EPA 524.3		Trichlorofluoromethane (Freon 11)		GC-MS

		104.057		006		EPA 524.3		tert-Butyl Alcohol (TBA)		GC-MS

		104.057		007		EPA 524.3		Trichlorotrifluoroethane (Freon 113)		GC-MS

		104.058		000		EPA 524.4		Volatile Organic compounds		GC-MS

		104.058		001		EPA 524.4		Benzene		GC-MS

		104.058		002		EPA 524.4		Carbon Tetrachloride		GC-MS

		104.058		003		EPA 524.4		Chlorobenzene		GC-MS

		104.058		004		EPA 524.4		1,2-Dichlorobenzene		GC-MS

		104.058		005		EPA 524.4		1,4-Dichlorobenzene		GC-MS

		104.058		006		EPA 524.4		1,2-Dichloroethane		GC-MS

		104.058		007		EPA 524.4		cis-1,2-Dichloroethene		GC-MS

		104.058		008		EPA 524.4		trans-1,2-Dichloroethene		GC-MS

		104.058		009		EPA 524.4		Dichloromethane		GC-MS

		104.058		010		EPA 524.4		1,2-Dichloropropane		GC-MS

		104.058		011		EPA 524.4		Ethylbenzene		GC-MS

		104.058		012		EPA 524.4		Styrene		GC-MS

		104.058		013		EPA 524.4		Tetrachloroethene		GC-MS

		104.058		014		EPA 524.4		1,1,1-Trichloroethane		GC-MS

		104.058		015		EPA 524.4		Trichloroethene		GC-MS

		104.058		016		EPA 524.4		Toluene		GC-MS

		104.058		017		EPA 524.4		1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene		GC-MS

		104.058		018		EPA 524.4		1,1-Dichloroethene		GC-MS

		104.058		019		EPA 524.4		1,1,2-Trichloroethane		GC-MS

		104.058		020		EPA 524.4		Vinyl Chloride		GC-MS

		104.058		021		EPA 524.4		Xylenes, Total		GC-MS

		104.058		022		EPA 524.4		1,2-Dibromo-3-chloropropane		GC-MS

		104.058		023		EPA 524.4		1,2-Dibromoethane		GC-MS

		104.059		000		EPA 524.4		Trihalomethanes, Total		GC-MS

		104.059		001		EPA 524.4		Bromodichloromethane		GC-MS

		104.059		002		EPA 524.4		Bromoform		GC-MS

		104.059		003		EPA 524.4		Chloroform		GC-MS

		104.059		004		EPA 524.4		Dibromochloromethane		GC-MS

		104.061		000		EPA 524.4		Gasoline Additives		GC-MS

		104.061		001		EPA 524.4		Diisoprpyl ether (DIPE)		GC-MS

		104.061		003		EPA 524.4		tert-Amyl Methyl Ether (TAME)		GC-MS

		104.061		004		EPA 524.4		Ethyl tert-butyl Ether (ETBE)		GC-MS

		104.061		005		EPA 524.4		Trichlorofluoromethane (Freon 11)		GC-MS

		104.061		006		EPA 524.4		tert-Butyl Alcohol (TBA)		GC-MS

		104.061		007		EPA 524.4		Trichlorotrifluoroethane (Freon 113)		GC-MS







Laboratory Name: 

Lab Director or Representative:
  (Print Name)

Signature:	Date:	Page &P of &N
E104 (0316)





FOT105

		Field of Testing 105: Semi-volatile Organic Chemistry of Drinking Water



		Lab Name:

		Certificate #:





		Subgroup Code		Analyte Code		Method		Analyte		Technology		Enter Y for
Selection		Comments

		105.010		000		EPA 505		Organhalide Pesticides & PCB		GC-ECD

		105.010		002		EPA 505		Alachlor		GC-ECD

		105.010		003		EPA 505		Atrazine		GC-ECD

		105.010		004		EPA 505		Chlordane		GC-ECD

		105.010		006		EPA 505		Endrin		GC-ECD

		105.010		007		EPA 505		Heptachlor		GC-ECD

		105.010		008		EPA 505		Heptachlor Epoxide		GC-ECD

		105.010		009		EPA 505		Hexachlorobenzene		GC-ECD

		105.010		010		EPA 505		Hexachlorocyclopentadiene		GC-ECD

		105.010		011		EPA 505		Lindane		GC-ECD

		105.010		012		EPA 505		Methoxychlor		GC-ECD

		105.010		013		EPA 505		Simazine		GC-ECD

		105.010		014		EPA 505		Toxaphene		GC-ECD

		105.010		015		EPA 505		PCBs as Aroclors (screen)		GC-ECD

		105.020		001		EPA 506		Di(2-ethylhexyl) Adipate		GC-ECD

		105.020		002		EPA 506		Di(2-ethylhexyl) Phthalate		GC-ECD

		105.030		000		EPA 507		Nitrogen & Phosphorous- Pesticides		GC-NPD

		105.030		001		EPA 507		Alachlor		GC-NPD

		105.030		002		EPA 507		Atrazine		GC-NPD

		105.030		003		EPA 507		Butachlor		GC-NPD

		105.030		005		EPA 507		Metolachlor		GC-NPD

		105.030		006		EPA 507		Metribuzine		GC-NPD

		105.030		007		EPA 507		Molinate		GC-NPD

		105.030		008		EPA 507		Prometryn		GC-NPD

		105.030		009		EPA 507		Simazine		GC-NPD

		105.030		010		EPA 507		Thiobencarb		GC-NPD

		105.035		000		EPA 508		Chlorinated Pesticides & PCBs		GC-ECD

		105.035		001		EPA 508		Aldrin		GC-ECD

		105.035		002		EPA 508		Endosulfan I		GC-ECD

		105.035		003		EPA 508		Endosulfan II		GC-ECD

		105.035		004		EPA 508		Endosulfan Sulfate		GC-ECD

		105.035		005		EPA 508		Endrin		GC-ECD

		105.035		006		EPA 508		Endrin Aldehyde		GC-ECD

		105.035		007		EPA 508		Heptachlor		GC-ECD

		105.035		008		EPA 508		Heptachlor Epoxide		GC-ECD

		105.035		009		EPA 508		Hexachlorobenzene		GC-ECD

		105.035		010		EPA 508		Lindane (HCH-gamma)		GC-ECD

		105.035		011		EPA 508		Methoxychlor		GC-ECD

		105.035		012		EPA 508		Propachlor		GC-ECD

		105.035		013		EPA 508		Chlordane 		GC-ECD

		105.035		014		EPA 508		Toxaphene		GC-ECD

		105.035		015		EPA 508		PCBs as Aroclors (Screening)		GC-ECD

		105.035		016		EPA 508		Arochlor 1016		GC-ECD

		105.035		017		EPA 508		Arochlor 1221		GC-ECD

		105.035		018		EPA 508		Arochlor 1232		GC-ECD

		105.035		019		EPA 508		Arochlor 1242		GC-ECD

		105.035		020		EPA 508		Arochlor 1248		GC-ECD

		105.035		021		EPA 508		Arochlor 1254		GC-ECD

		105.035		022		EPA 508		Arochlor 1260		GC-ECD

		105.050		000		EPA 508.1		Chlorinated Pesticides, Herbicides,& PCBs		GC-ECD

		105.050		001		EPA 508.1		Alachlor		GC-ECD

		105.050		003		EPA 508.1		Atrazine		GC-ECD

		105.050		005		EPA 508.1		Chlordane (total)		GC-ECD

		105.050		010		EPA 508.1		Endrin		GC-ECD

		105.050		011		EPA 508.1		Heptachlor		GC-ECD

		105.050		012		EPA 508.1		Heptachlor Epoxide		GC-ECD

		105.050		013		EPA 508.1		Hexachlorobenzene		GC-ECD

		105.050		014		EPA 508.1		Hexachlorocyclopentadiene		GC-ECD

		105.050		015		EPA 508.1		Lindane		GC-ECD

		105.050		016		EPA 508.1		Methoxychlor		GC-ECD

		105.050		017		EPA 508.1		Metoachlor		GC-ECD

		105.050		018		EPA 508.1		Metribuzin		GC-ECD

		105.050		019		EPA 508.1		Propachlor		GC-ECD

		105.050		020		EPA 508.1		Simazine		GC-ECD

		105.050		021		EPA 508.1		Arochlor 1016		GC-ECD

		105.050		022		EPA 508.1		Arochlor 1221		GC-ECD

		105.050		023		EPA 508.1		Arochlor 1232		GC-ECD

		105.050		024		EPA 508.1		Arochlor 1242		GC-ECD

		105.050		025		EPA 508.1		Arochlor 1248		GC-ECD

		105.050		026		EPA 508.1		Arochlor 1254		GC-ECD

		105.050		027		EPA 508.1		Arochlor 1260		GC-ECD

		105.050		028		EPA 508.1		PCBs as Aroclors (Screening)		GC-ECD

		105.050		029		EPA 508.1		Toxaphene		GC-ECD

		105.060		001		EPA 508A		PCBs as Decachlorobiphenyl		GC-ECD

		105.070		000		EPA 515.1		Chlorinated Acids		GC-ECD

		105.070		001		EPA 515.1		Bentazon		GC-ECD

		105.070		002		EPA 515.1		2,4-D		GC-ECD

		105.070		003		EPA 515.1		Dalapon		GC-ECD

		105.070		004		EPA 515.1		Dicamba		GC-ECD

		105.070		005		EPA 515.1		Dinoseb		GC-ECD

		105.070		006		EPA 515.1		Pentachlorophenol		GC-ECD

		105.070		007		EPA 515.1		Picloram		GC-ECD

		105.070		008		EPA 515.1		2,4,5-TP		GC-ECD

		105.080		000		EPA 515.2		Chlorinated Acids		GC-ECD

		105.080		001		EPA 515.2		2,4-D		GC-ECD

		105.080		002		EPA 515.2		Dicamba		GC-ECD

		105.080		003		EPA 515.2		Dinoseb		GC-ECD

		105.080		004		EPA 515.2		Pentachlorophenol		GC-ECD

		105.080		005		EPA 515.2		Picloram		GC-ECD

		105.080		006		EPA 515.2		2,4,5-TP		GC-ECD

		105.080		007		EPA 515.2		Bentazon		GC-ECD

		105.082		000		EPA 515.3		Chlorinated Acids		GC-ECD

		105.082		001		EPA 515.3		2,4-D		GC-ECD

		105.082		002		EPA 515.3		Dinoseb		GC-ECD

		105.082		003		EPA 515.3		Pentachlorophenol		GC-ECD

		105.082		004		EPA 515.3		Picloram		GC-ECD

		105.082		005		EPA 515.3		2,4,5-TP		GC-ECD

		105.082		006		EPA 515.3		Bentazon		GC-ECD

		105.082		007		EPA 515.3		Dalapon		GC-ECD

		105.082		008		EPA 515.3		Dicamba		GC-ECD

		105.083		000		EPA 515.4		Chlorinated Acids		GC-ECD

		105.083		001		EPA 515.4		2,4-D		GC-ECD

		105.083		002		EPA 515.4		Dinoseb		GC-ECD

		105.083		003		EPA 515.4		Pentachlorophenol		GC-ECD

		105.083		004		EPA 515.4		Picloram		GC-ECD

		105.083		005		EPA 515.4		2,4,5-TP		GC-ECD

		105.083		006		EPA 515.4		Dalapon		GC-ECD

		105.083		007		EPA 515.4		Bentazon		GC-ECD

		105.083		008		EPA 515.4		Dicamba		GC-ECD

		105.090		000		EPA 525.2		Organic Compounds		GC-MS

		105.090		001		EPA 525.2		Alachlor		GC-MS

		105.090		002		EPA 525.2		Aldrin		GC-MS

		105.090		003		EPA 525.2		Atrazine		GC-MS

		105.090		004		EPA 525.2		Benzo(a)pyrene		GC-MS

		105.090		005		EPA 525.2		Butachlor		GC-MS

		105.090		006		EPA 525.2		Chlordane		GC-MS

		105.090		007		EPA 525.2		Dieldrin		GC-MS

		105.090		008		EPA 525.2		Di(2-ethylhexyl) Adipate		GC-MS

		105.090		009		EPA 525.2		Di(2-ethylhexyl) Phthalate		GC-MS

		105.090		013		EPA 525.2		Endrin		GC-MS

		105.090		014		EPA 525.2		Heptachlor		GC-MS

		105.090		015		EPA 525.2		Heptachlor Epoxide		GC-MS

		105.090		016		EPA 525.2		Hexachlorobenzene		GC-MS

		105.090		017		EPA 525.2		Hexachlorocyclopentadiene		GC-MS

		105.090		018		EPA 525.2		Lindane		GC-MS

		105.090		019		EPA 525.2		Methoxychlor		GC-MS

		105.090		022		EPA 525.2		Molinate		GC-MS

		105.090		023		EPA 525.2		Pentachlorophenol		GC-MS

		105.090		025		EPA 525.2		Simazine		GC-MS

		105.090		026		EPA 525.2		Toxaphene		GC-MS

		105.090		027		EPA 525.2		PCBs as Aroclors		GC-MS

		105.090		028		EPA 525.2		Thiobencarb		GC-MS

		105.091		000		EPA 525.3		Semi-volatile Organic Compounds		GC-MS

		105.091		001		EPA 525.3		Alachlor		GC-MS

		105.091		002		EPA 525.3		Aldrin		GC-MS

		105.091		003		EPA 525.3		Atrazine		GC-MS

		105.091		004		EPA 525.3		Benzo(a)pyrene		GC-MS

		105.091		005		EPA 525.3		Butachlor		GC-MS

		105.091		006		EPA 525.3		Chlordane		GC-MS

		105.091		007		EPA 525.3		Diazinon		GC-MS

		105.091		008		EPA 525.3		Di(2-ethylhexyl) Adipate		GC-MS

		105.091		009		EPA 525.3		Di(2-ethylhexyl) Phthalate		GC-MS

		105.091		010		EPA 525.3		Endrin		GC-MS

		105.091		011		EPA 525.3		Heptachlor		GC-MS

		105.091		012		EPA 525.3		Heptachlor Epoxide		GC-MS

		105.091		013		EPA 525.3		Hexachlorobenzene		GC-MS

		105.091		014		EPA 525.3		Hexachlorocyclopentadiene		GC-MS

		105.091		015		EPA 525.3		Lindane (gamma-BHC)		GC-MS

		105.091		016		EPA 525.3		Methoxychlor		GC-MS

		105.091		017		EPA 525.3		Metolachlor		GC-MS

		105.091		018		EPA 525.3		Metribuzin		GC-MS

		105.091		019		EPA 525.3		Molinate (Ordram)		GC-MS

		105.091		020		EPA 525.3		Pentachlorophenol		GC-MS

		105.091		021		EPA 525.3		Propachlor		GC-MS

		105.091		022		EPA 525.3		Simazine		GC-MS

		105.091		023		EPA 525.3		Thiobencarb		GC-MS

		105.091		024		EPA 525.3		Toxaphene		GC-MS

		105.091		025		EPA 525.3		PCBs as Aroclors		GC-MS

		105.091		026		EPA 525.3		Bromacil		GC-MS

		105.091		027		EPA 525.3		Dieldrin		GC-MS

		105.100		000		EPA 531.1		Carbamates		HPLC

		105.100		005		EPA 531.1		Carbofuran		HPLC

		105.100		008		EPA 531.1		Oxamyl		HPLC

		105.100		001		EPA 531.1		Aldicarb		HPLC

		105.100		002		EPA 531.1		Aldicarb Sulfone		HPLC

		105.100		003		EPA 531.1		Aldicarb Sulfoxide		HPLC

		105.100		004		EPA 531.1		Carbaryl		HPLC

		105.100		006		EPA 531.1		3-Hydroxycarbofuran		HPLC

		105.100		007		EPA 531.1		Methomyl		HPLC

		105.101		000		EPA 531.2		Carbamates		HPLC

		105.101		001		EPA 531.2		Carbofuran		HPLC

		105.101		002		EPA 531.2		Oxamyl		HPLC

		105.101		003		EPA 531.2		Aldicarb		HPLC

		105.101		004		EPA 531.2		Aldicarb Sulfone		HPLC

		105.101		005		EPA 531.2		Aldicarb Sulfoxide		HPLC

		105.101		006		EPA 531.2		Carbaryl		HPLC

		105.101		007		EPA 531.2		3-Hydroxycarbofuran		HPLC

		105.101		008		EPA 531.2		Methomyl		HPLC

		105.110		000		SM 6610		Carbamates		HPLC

		105.110		005		SM 6610		Carbofuran		HPLC

		105.110		008		SM 6610		Oxamyl		HPLC

		105.120		001		EPA 547		Glyphosate		HPLC

		105.130		001		SM 6651		Glyphosate		HPLC

		105.140		001		EPA 548.1		Endothall		GC-MS

		105.150		001		EPA 549.2		Diquat		HPLC

		105.160		000		EPA 550		Polynuclear Aromatic Hydrocarbons		HPLC

		105.160		001		EPA 550		Benzo(a)pyrene		HPLC

		105.161		000		EPA 550.1		Polynuclear Aromatic Hydrocarbons		HPLC

		105.161		001		EPA 550.1		Benzo(a)pyrene		HPLC

		105.170		004		EPA 551.1		Carbon Tetrachloride		GC-ECD

		105.170		010		EPA 551.1		1,2-Dibromo-3-chloropropane		GC-ECD

		105.170		011		EPA 551.1		1,2-Dibromoethane		GC-ECD

		105.170		014		EPA 551.1		Tetrachloroethene		GC-ECD

		105.170		016		EPA 551.1		1,1,1-Trichloroethane		GC-ECD

		105.170		017		EPA 551.1		Trichloroethene		GC-ECD

		105.170		020		EPA 551.1		1,1,2-Trichloroethane		GC-ECD

		105.170		021		EPA 551.1		Alachlor		GC-ECD

		105.170		022		EPA 551.1		Atrazine		GC-ECD

		105.170		023		EPA 551.1		Endrin		GC-ECD

		105.170		024		EPA 551.1		Heptachlor		GC-ECD

		105.170		025		EPA 551.1		Heptachlor Epoxide		GC-ECD

		105.170		026		EPA 551.1		Hexachlorobenzene		GC-ECD

		105.170		027		EPA 551.1		Hexachlorocyclopentadiene		GC-ECD

		105.170		028		EPA 551.1		Lindane		GC-ECD

		105.170		029		EPA 551.1		Methoxychlor		GC-ECD

		105.170		030		EPA 551.1		Simazine		GC-ECD

		105.170		031		EPA 551.1		Disinfection Byproducts		GC-ECD

		105.170		032		EPA 551.1		Chlorinated Solvents		GC-ECD

		105.170		033		EPA 551.1		Halogenated Pesticides		GC-ECD

		105.170		034		EPA 551.1		Halogenated Herbicides		GC-ECD

		105.175		001		EPA 551.1		Bromodichloromethane		GC-ECD

		105.175		002		EPA 551.1		Bromoform		GC-ECD

		105.175		003		EPA 551.1		Chloroform		GC-ECD

		105.175		004		EPA 551.1		Dibromochloromethane		GC-ECD

		105.175		005		EPA 551.1		Trihalomethanes		GC-ECD

		105.180		001		EPA 552.1		Bromoacetic Acid		GC-ECD

		105.180		003		EPA 552.1		Chloroacetic Acid		GC-ECD

		105.180		004		EPA 552.1		Dalapon		GC-ECD

		105.180		005		EPA 552.1		Dibromoacetic Acid		GC-ECD

		105.180		006		EPA 552.1		Dichloroacetic Acid		GC-ECD

		105.180		007		EPA 552.1		Trichloroacetic Acid		GC-ECD

		105.180		008		EPA 552.1		Haloacetic Acids (HAA5)		GC-ECD

		105.190		001		SM 6251 B		Bromoacetic Acid		GC-ECD

		105.190		003		SM 6251 B		Chloroacetic Acid		GC-ECD

		105.190		005		SM 6251 B		Dibromoacetic Acid		GC-ECD

		105.190		006		SM 6251 B		Dichloroacetic Acid		GC-ECD

		105.190		007		SM 6251 B		Trichloroacetic Acid		GC-ECD

		105.190		008		SM 6251 B		Haloacetic Acids (HAA5)		GC-ECD

		105.190		010		SM 6251 B		Chlorinated Herbicides		GC-ECD

		105.191		001		SM 6251 B		Haloacetic Acids (HAA5)		GC-ECD

		105.200		001		EPA 552.2		Bromoacetic Acid		GC-ECD

		105.200		003		EPA 552.2		Chloroacetic Acid		GC-ECD

		105.200		004		EPA 552.2		Dalapon		GC-ECD

		105.200		005		EPA 552.2		Dibromoacetic Acid		GC-ECD

		105.200		006		EPA 552.2		Dichloroacetic Acid		GC-ECD

		105.200		007		EPA 552.2		Trichloroacetic Acid		GC-ECD

		105.200		008		EPA 552.2		Haloacetic Acids (HAA5)		GC-ECD

		105.201		001		EPA 552.3		Haloacetic Acids (HAA5)		GC-ECD

		105.201		002		EPA 552.3		Dalapon		GC-ECD

		105.210		002		EPA 555		2,4-D		HPLC

		105.210		004		EPA 555		Dinoseb		HPLC

		105.210		005		EPA 555		Pentachlorophenol		HPLC

		105.210		006		EPA 555		Picloram		HPLC

		105.210		007		EPA 555		2,4,5-TP		HPLC

		105.210		008		EPA 555		Bentazon		HPLC

		105.215		001		EPA 557		Haloacetic Acids		IC-MS-MS

		105.215		002		EPA 557		Dalapon		IC-MS-MS

		105.230		000		EPA 1613		Dioxins		HRGC-HRMS

		105.230		001		EPA 1613		2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD)		HRGC-HRMS







Laboratory Name: 

Lab Director or Representative:
  (Print Name)

Signature:	

















Date:	Page &P of &N
E105 (0316)





FOT106

		Field of Testing 106: Radiochemistry of Drinking Water



		Lab Name:

		Certificate No.:





		Subgroup Code		Analyte Code		Method		Analyte				Enter "Y" for
Selection		Sample Preparation		Comments

		106.010		001		EPA 900.0		Gross Alpha

		106.010		002		EPA 900.0		Gross Beta

		106.020		001		EPA 901.0		Radioactive Cesium

		106.030		001		EPA 901.1		Radioactive Cesium

		106.030		002		EPA 901.1		Radioactive Iodine

		106.030		003		EPA 901.1		Gamma Emitters

		106.040		001		EPA 902.0		Radioactive Iodine

		106.051		001		EPA 903.1		Radium-226

		106.060		001		EPA 904.0		Radium-228

		106.070		001		EPA 905.0		Strontium-89, 90

		106.070		002		EPA 905.0		Strontium-89

		106.070		003		EPA 905.0		Strontium-90

		106.080		001		EPA 906.0		Tritium

		106.090		001		EPA 908.0		Uranium

		106.091		001		EPA 908.1		Uranium

		106.092		001		EPA 200.8		Uranium

		106.260		001		SM 7110 B		Gross Alpha

		106.260		002		SM 7110 B		Gross Beta

		106.270		001		SM 7110 C		Gross Alpha

		106.280		001		SM 7120		Radioactive Cesium

		106.280		003		SM 7120		Gamma Emitters

		106.290		001		SM 7500-Cs B		Radioactive Cesium

		106.300		001		SM 7500-3H B		Tritium

		106.310		001		SM 7500-I B		Radioactive Iodine

		106.320		001		SM 7500-I C		Radioactive Iodine

		106.330		001		SM 7500-I D		Radioactive Iodine

		106.340		001		SM 7500-Ra B		Total Alpha Radium

		106.340		002		SM 7500-Ra B		Radium-226

		106.350		001		SM 7500-Ra C		Radium-226

		106.360		001		SM 7500-Ra D		Radium-228

		106.370		001		SM 7500-Sr B		Strontium-89, 90

		106.370		002		SM 7500-Sr B		Strontium-89

		106.370		003		SM 7500-Sr B		Strontium-90

		106.380		001		SM 7500-U B		Uranium

		106.390		001		SM 7500-U C		Uranium

		106.391		001		SM 3125		Uranium







Laboratory Name: 

Lab Director or Representative:
  (Print Name)

Signature:	



Date:	Page &P of &N
E106 (0316)


Laboratory Name: 

Lab Director or Representative:
  (Print Name)

Signature:	



Date:	Page &P of &N
E106 (0316)





E107

		Field of Testing 107: Microbiology of Wastewater



		Lab Name:

		Certificate #:





		Subgroup Code		Analyte Code		Method		Analyte		Technology		Enter Y for selection		Comments

		107.010		001		SM 9215 B		Heterotrophic Bacteria		Heterotrophic Plate Count 

		107.020		001		SM 9221 B-2006		Total Coliform, Enumeration		Multiple Tube Fermentation

		107.020		002		SM 9221 C,E-2006		Fecal Coliform, Enumeration 		Multiple Tube Fermentation

		107.020		003		SM 9221 B,F-2006		E. Coli, Enumeration		Multiple Tube Fermentation

		107.030		001		SM 9222 B-1997		Total Coliform, Enumeration		Membrane Filter

		107.030		002		SM 9222 D-1997		Fecal Coliform, Enumeration 		Membrane Filter

		107.040		001		SM 9223 B-2004		E. Coli, Enumeration		Colilert/Idexx

		107.040		002		SM 9223 B-2004		E. Coli, Enumeration		Colilert18/Idexx

		107.050		001		SM 9230 B-2007		Fecal Streptococci		Multiple Tube Fermentation

		107.060		001		SM 9230 C-2007 		Fecal Streptococci		Membrane Filter

		107.070		002		SM 9230 C-2007 		Enterococci 		Membrane Filter

		107.080		001		Enterolert		Enterococci 		Enterolert/Idexx

		107.090		001		EPA 1600		Enterococci 		Membrane Filter

		107.100		001		EPA 1603		E. Coli, Enumeration		Membrane Filter

		107.110		001		EPA 1680		Fecal Coliform, Enumeration 		Multiple Tube Fermentation

		107.120		001		EPA 1681		Fecal Coliform, Enumeration 		Multiple Tube Fermentation

		107.130		001		mColiBlue-24		E. Coli, Enumeration		Membrane Filter































































	Page &P of &N






LABORATORY NAME: 

Lab Director or Representative:
           (PRINT NAME)

Signature:	



Date:	



ELAP FOT 107 (0802)


Laboratory Name: 

Lab Director or Representative:
  (Print Name)

Signature:	



Date:	Page &P of &N
E107 (0316)





FOT108

		Field of Testing 108: Inorganic Chemistry of Wastewater



		Lab Name:

		Certificate #:





		Subgroup Code		Analyte Code		Method 		Analyte		Technology		Enter Y for
Selection		Comments

		108.020		001		EPA 120.1 Rev. 1982		Conductivity		Conductivity Meter

		108.030		001		EPA 130.1 (Issued 1971)		Hardness		Automated Colorimetric

		108.051		001		EPA 150.2 (Dec. 1982)		Hydrogen Ion (pH)		Automated Electrode

		108.090		001		EPA 160.4 (Issued 1971)		Residue, Volatile		Gravimetric at 550°

		108.110		001		EPA 180.1 Rev. 2.0 (1993)		Turbidity		Nephelometric

		108.111		001		EPA 200.5 Rev. 4.2 (2003)		Boron		ICP-AES

		108.111		002		EPA 200.5 Rev. 4.2 (2003)		Calcium		ICP-AES

		108.111		003		EPA 200.5 Rev. 4.2 (2003)		Magnesium		ICP-AES

		108.111		004		EPA 200.5 Rev. 4.2 (2003)		Silica, Dissolved		ICP-AES

		108.111		005		EPA 200.5 Rev. 4.2 (2003)		Sodium		ICP-AES

		108.112		001		EPA 200.7 Rev. 4.4 (1994)		Boron		ICP-AES

		108.112		002		EPA 200.7 Rev. 4.4 (1994)		Calcium		ICP-AES

		108.112		003		EPA 200.7 Rev. 4.4 (1994)		Hardness (Calculation)		ICP-AES

		108.112		004		EPA 200.7 Rev. 4.4 (1994)		Magnesium		ICP-AES

		108.112		005		EPA 200.7 Rev. 4.4 (1994)		Potassium		ICP-AES

		108.112		006		EPA 200.7 Rev. 4.4 (1994)		Silica, Dissolved		ICP-AES

		108.112		007		EPA 200.7 Rev. 4.4 (1994)		Sodium		ICP-AES

		108.112		008		EPA 200.7 Rev. 4.4 (1994)		Phosphorous, Total		ICP-AES

		108.113		001		EPA 200.8 Rev. 5.4 (1994)		Boron		ICP-MS

		108.113		002		EPA 200.8 Rev. 5.4 (1994)		Calcium		ICP-MS

		108.113		003		EPA 200.8 Rev. 5.4 (1994)		Magnesium		ICP-MS

		108.113		004		EPA 200.8 Rev. 5.4 (1994)		Potassium		ICP-MS

		108.113		005		EPA 200.8 Rev. 5.4 (1994)		Silica, Dissolved		ICP-MS

		108.113		006		EPA 200.8 Rev. 5.4 (1994)		Sodium		ICP-MS

		108.120		001		EPA 300.0 Rev. 2.1 (1993)		Bromide		Ion Chromatography

		108.120		002		EPA 300.0 Rev. 2.1 (1993)		Chloride		Ion Chromatography

		108.120		003		EPA 300.0 Rev. 2.1 (1993)		Fluoride		Ion Chromatography

		108.120		012		EPA 300.0 Rev. 2.1 (1993)		Nitrate (as N)		Ion Chromatography

		108.120		013		EPA 300.0 Rev. 2.1 (1993)		Nitrate-nitrite (as N)		Ion Chromatography

		108.120		014		EPA 300.0 Rev. 2.1 (1993)		Nitrite (as N)		Ion Chromatography

		108.120		015		EPA 300.0 Rev. 2.1 (1993)		Phosphate, Ortho(as P)		Ion Chromatography

		108.120		008		EPA 300.0 Rev. 2.1 (1993)		Sulfate (as SO4)		Ion Chromatography

		108.121		001		EPA 300.1 Rev. 1.0 (1997)		Bromide		Ion Chromatography

		108.121		002		EPA 300.1 Rev. 1.0 (1997)		Chloride		Ion Chromatography

		108.121		003		EPA 300.1 Rev. 1.0 (1997)		Fluoride		Ion Chromatography

		108.121		009		EPA 300.1 Rev. 1.0 (1997)		Nitrate (as N)		Ion Chromatography

		108.121		010		EPA 300.1 Rev. 1.0 (1997)		Nitrate-nitrite (as N)		Ion Chromatography

		108.121		011		EPA 300.1 Rev. 1.0 (1997)		Nitrite (as N)		Ion Chromatography

		108.121		012		EPA 300.1 Rev. 1.0 (1997)		Phosphate, Ortho(as P)		Ion Chromatography

		108.121		008		EPA 300.1 Rev. 1.0 (1997)		Sulfate (as SO4)		Ion Chromatography

		108.141		001		EPA 310.2 (Rev. 1974)		Alkalinity		Automated Colorimetric

		108.183		001		EPA 335.4 Rev. 1.0 (1993)		Cyanide, Total		Semi Auto Colorimetric

		108.209		001		EPA 350.1 Rev. 2.0 (1993)		Ammonia (as N)		Semi Auto Colorimetric

		108.209		002		EPA 350.1 Rev. 2.0 1993		Kjeldahl Nitrogen,Total (as N)		Auto Color no distill 

		108.210		002		EPA 351.1 Rev. 1978		Kjeldahl Nitrogen,Total (as N)		Semi Auto Color no distill

		108.211		002		EPA 351.2 Rev 2.0 1993		Kjeldahl Nitrogen,Total (as N)		Semi Auto Color no distill

		108.220		002		EPA 352.1 (Issued1971) 		Nitrate (as N)		Colorimetric

		108.232		003		EPA 353.2 Rev. 2.0 (1993)		Nitrate-nitrite (as N)		Colorimetric

		108.232		004		EPA 353.2 Rev. 2.0 (1993)		Nitrite (as N)		Automated Reduction

		108.260		001		EPA 365.1 Rev. 2.0 (1993)		Phosphate, Ortho		Auto Ascorbic acid

		108.261		001		EPA 365.1 Rev. 2.0 (1993)		Phosphorus, Total		Auto Ascorbic acid

		108.264		001		EPA 365.3 (Issued 1978)		Phosphate, Ortho		Manual two reagent

		108.265		001		EPA 365.3 (Issued 1978) 		Phosphorus, Total		Manual Ascorbic acid

		108.266		001		EPA 365.4 (Issued 1974)		Phosphorus, Total		Semi Auto Colorimetric

		108.283		001		EPA 375.2 Rev. 2.0 (1993)		Sulfate (as SO4)		Automated Colorimetric

		108.322		001		EPA 410.3 (Issued 1978)		Chemical Oxygen Demand		Titrimeteric 

		108.323		001		EPA 410.4 Rev. 2.0 (1993)		Chemical Oxygen Demand		Spectrophotometric

		108.360		001		EPA 420.1\1 (Rev. 1978)		Phenols, Total		Manual Colorimetric

		108.362		001		EPA 420.4 Rev. 1.0 (1993)		Phenols, Total		Automated Colorimetric

		108.379		001		EPA 1627		Acid mine Drainage

		108.381		001		EPA 1664A		Oil and Grease, Total Recoverable		Gravimetric

		108.381		002		EPA 1664 Rev. B		Oil and Grease, Total Recoverable		Gravimetric

		108.385		001		SM 2120 B-2001		Color		Visual Comparison

		108.390		001		SM 2130 B-2001		Turbidity		Nephelometric

		108.400		001		SM 2310 B-1997		Acidity		Titrimeteric 

		108.410		001		SM 2320 B-1997		Alkalinity		Titrimeteric 

		108.420		001		SM 2340 B-1997		Hardness (calculation)		AA or ICP

		108.421		001		SM 2340 C-1997		Hardness 		Titrimetric 

		108.430		001		SM 2510 B-1997 		Conductivity		Conductivity Meter

		108.438		001		SM 3125 B-2009		Boron		ICP-MS

		108.438		002		SM 3125 B-2009		Calcium		ICP-MS

		108.438		003		SM 3125 B-2009		Magnesium		ICP-MS

		108.438		004		SM 3125 B-2009		Potassium		ICP-MS

		108.438		005		SM 3125 B-2009		Silica, Dissolved		ICP-MS

		108.438		006		SM 3125 B-2009		Sodium		ICP-MS

		108.438		007		SM 3125 B-2009		Hardness (calculation)		ICP-MS

		108.439		001		SM 2540 E-1997 		Residue, Volatile		Gravimetric

		108.440		001		SM 2540 B-1997 		Residue, Total		Gravimetric

		108.441		001		SM 2540 C-1997 		Residue, Filterable TDS		Gravimetric

		108.442		001		SM 2540 D-1997 		Residue, Non-filterable TSS		Gravimetric

		108.443		001		SM 2540 F-1997 		Residue, Settleable		Volumetric

		108.444		001		SM 2550 B-2000		Temperature		Thermometric

		108.445		001		SM 3111 B-1999 		Calcium		AA Direct Aspiration

		108.445		002		SM 3111 B-1999 		Hardness (calculation)		AA Direct Aspiration

		108.445		003		SM 3111 B-1999 		Magnesium		AA Direct Aspiration

		108.445		004		SM 3111 B-1999		Potassium		AA Direct Aspiration

		108.445		005		SM 3111 B-1999		Sodium		AA Direct Aspiration

		108.447		001		SM 3120 B-1999		Boron		ICP-AES

		108.447		002		SM 3120 B-1999		Calcium		ICP-AES

		108.447		003		SM 3120 B-1999		Hardness (calulation)		ICP-AES

		108.447		004		SM 3120 B-1999		Magnesium		ICP-AES

		108.447		005		SM 3120 B-1999		Potassium		ICP-AES

		108.447		006		SM 3120 B-1999		Silica, Dissolved		ICP-AES

		108.447		007		SM 3120 B-1999		Sodium		ICP-AES

		108.447		008		SM 3120 B-1999		Phosphorus, Total		ICP-AES

		108.448		001		SM 4110 B, C, D-2000		Bromide		Ion Chromatography

		108.448		002		SM 4110 B or C-2000		Chloride		Ion Chromatography

		108.448		003		SM 4110 B or C-2000		Fluoride		Ion Chromatography

		108.448		004		SM 4110 B or C-2000		Nitrate (as N)		Ion Chromatography

		108.448		006		SM 4110 B or C-2000		Nitrate-nitrite (as N)		Ion Chromatography

		108.448		005		SM 4110 B or C-2000		Nitrite (as N)		Ion Chromatography

		108.448		007		SM 4110 B or C-2000		Phosphate, Ortho (as P)		Ion Chromatography

		108.448		008		SM 4110 B or C-2000		Sulfate (as SO4)		Ion Chromatography

		108.449		001		SM 3500-Ca B-1997		Calcium		Titrimetric 

		108.449		002		SM 3500-K B-1997		Potassium		Flame Photomteric

		108.449		003		SM 3500-K C-1997		Potassium		Electrode

		108.449		004		SM 3500-Na B-1997		Sodium		Flame Photomteric

		108.450		001		SM 4500-Cl B-1997		Chloride		Titrimeteric 

		108.451		001		SM 4500-Cl C-1997		Chloride		Titrimeteric 

		108.452		001		SM 4500-Cl E-1997		Chloride		Colorimetric

		108.453		001		SM 4500-Cl D-1997		Chloride		Potentiometric

		108.454		001		SM 4140 B-1997		Bromide		CIE/UV

		108.454		002		SM 4140 B-1997		Chloride		CIE/UV

		108.454		003		SM 4140 B-1997		Nitrate (as N)		CIE/UV

		108.454		004		SM 4140 B-1997		Nitrate-nitrite (as N)		CIE/UV

		108.454		005		SM 4140 B-1997		Nitrite (as N)		CIE/UV

		108.454		006		SM 4140 B-1997		Phosphate, Ortho (as P)		CIE/UV

		108.454		007		SM 4140 B-1997		Sulfate (as SO4)		CIE/UV

		108.454		008		SM 4140 B-1997		Sulfide (as S)		CIE/UV

		108.460		001		SM 4500-Cl B-2000		Chlorine, Total residual		Iodometric direct

		108.461		001		SM 4500-Cl C-2000		Chlorine, Total residual		Back titration

		108.462		001		SM 4500-Cl D-2000		Chlorine, Total residual		Amperometric

		108.462		002		SM 4500-Cl D-2000		Chlorine, Free Available		Amperometric

		108.463		001		SM 4500-Cl E-2000		Chlorine, Total residual		Amperometric, low level

		108.463		002		SM 4500-Cl E-2000		Chlorine, Free Available		Amperometric, low level

		108.464		001		SM 4500-Cl F-2000		Chlorine, Total residual		DPD-FAS

		108.464		002		SM 4500-Cl F-2000		Chlorine, Free Available		DPD-FAS

		108.465		001		SM 4500-Cl G-2000		Chlorine, Total residual		Spectrophotometric

		108.465		002		SM 4500-Cl G-2000		Chlorine, Free Available		Spectrophotometric

		108.466		001		SM 4500-B B-2000		Boron		Colorimetric

		108.470		001		SM 4500-CN C-1999		Cyanide, Total		Manual Distillation

		108.471		001		SM 4500-CN D-1999		Cyanide, Total		Titrimetric 

		108.472		001		SM 4500-CN E-1999		Cyanide, Total		Spectrophotometric

		108.473		001		SM 4500-CN G-1999		Cyanide, Available		Spectrophotometric

		108.474		001		SM 4500-CN F-1999		Cyanide, Total		Electrode

		108.480		001		SM 4500-F B,C-1997		Fluoride		Electrode

		108.481		001		SM 4500-F B,D-1997		Fluoride		Colorimetric

		108.482		001		SM 4500-F E-1997		Fluoride		Colorimetric

		108.490		001		SM 4500-H+ B-2000		Hydrogen Ion (pH)		Electrometric

		108.500		002		SM 4500-NH3 B,C-1997		Ammonia (as N)		Titrimetric 

		108.501		002		SM 4500-NH3 B,C-1997		Kjeldahl Nitrogen,Total (as N)		Titrimetric 

		108.502		001		SM 4500-NH3 B,D-1997		Ammonia (as N)		Electrode

		108.502		002		SM 4500-NH3 B,E-1997		Ammonia (as N)		Electrode

		108.503		002		SM 4500-NH3 B,D or B,E-1997		Kjeldahl Nitrogen,Total (as N)		Electrode

		108.504		002		SM 4500-NH3 F-1997		Ammonia (as N)		Phenate Manual 

		108.505		002		SM 4500-NH3 F-1997		Kjeldahl Nitrogen,Total (as N)		Phenate Manual 

		108.506		002		SM 4500-NH3 G-1997		Ammonia (as N)		Phenate Automated  

		108.507		002		SM 4500-NH3 G-1997		Kjeldahl Nitrogen,Total (as N)		Phenate Automated 

		108.508		002		SM 4500-NH3 H-1997		Ammonia (as N)		FIA

		108.509		001		SM 4500-NH3 H-1997		Kjeldahl Nitrogen,Total (as N)		FIA

		108.511		001		SM-4500-Norg B-1997		Kjeldahl Nitrogen,Total (as N)		Macro kjeldahl

		108.512		001		SM-4500-Norg C-1997		Kjeldahl Nitrogen,Total (as N)		Micro kjeldahl

		108.513		001		SM-4500-Norg D-1997		Kjeldahl Nitrogen,Total (as N)		Digestion & FIA

		108.514		001		SM 4500-NO2 B-2000		Nitrite (as N)		Spectrophotometric

		108.527		001		SM 4500-NO3 D-2000		Nitrate (as N)		Electrode

		108.528		001		SM 4500-NO3 E-2000		Nitrate-nitrite (as N)		Cd Reduction Manual

		108.528		002		SM 4500-NO3 E-2000		Nitrite (as N)		Cd Reduction Manual

		108.528		003		SM 4500-NO3 E-2000		Nitrate (as N)/calculation		Cd Reduction Manual

		108.529		001		SM 4500-NO3 F-2000		Nitrate-nitrite (as N)		Cd Reduction Auto

		108.529		002		SM 4500-NO3 F-2000		Nitrite (as N)		Cd Reduction Auto

		108.529		003		SM 4500-NO3 F-2000		Nitrate (as N)/calculation		Cd Reduction Auto

		108.532		001		SM 4500-O B,C-2001		Oxygen, Dissolved 		Winkler

		108.533		001		SM 4500-O B,D-2001		Oxygen, Dissolved 		Winkler

		108.534		001		SM 4500-O B,E-2001		Oxygen, Dissolved 		Winkler

		108.535		001		SM 4500-O B,F-2001		Oxygen, Dissolved 		Winkler

		108.536		001		SM 4500-O G-2001		Oxygen, Dissolved 		Electrode

		108.540		001		SM 4500-P E-1999		Phosphate, Ortho (as P)		Colorimetric

		108.541		001		SM 4500-P E-1999		Phosphorus, Total		Colorimetric

		108.542		001		SM 4500-P F-1999		Phosphate, Ortho(as P)		Colorimetric

		108.543		001		SM 4500-P F-1999 		Phosphorus, Total		Colorimetric

		108.544		001		SM 4500-P G -1999		Phosphate, Ortho (as P)		FIA

		108.545		001		SM 4500-P H -1999		Phosphorus, Total		FIA

		108.552		001		SM 4500-SiO2 C-1997		Silica, Dissolved		Colorimetric

		108.553		001		SM 4500-SiO2 E-1997		Silica, Dissolved		Auto Colorimetric

		108.554		001		SM 4500-SiO2 F-1997		Silica, Dissolved		Auto Colorimetric

		108.560		001		SM 4500-SO32 B-2000		Sulfite (as SO3)		Titrimetric 

		108.570		001		SM 4500-SO4 C-1997		Sulfate (as SO4)		Gravimetric, Ignition

		108.571		001		SM 4500-SO4 D-1997		Sulfate (as SO4)		Gravimetric, Drying

		108.572		001		SM 4500-SO4 E-1997		Sulfate (as SO4)		Turbidimetric

		108.573		001		SM 4500-SO4 F-1997		Sulfate (as SO4)		Auto Colorimetric

		108.574		001		SM 4500-SO4 G-1997		Sulfate (as SO4)		FIA

		108.584		001		SM 4500-S2 D-2000		Sulfide (as S)		Colorimetric

		108.585		001		SM 4500-S2 F-2000		Sulfide (as S)		Titrimetric 

		108.586		001		SM 4500-S2 G-2000		Sulfide (as S)		Electrode

		108.592		001		SM 5210 B-2001 		Biochemical Oxygen Demand		DO Depletion

		108.592		002		SM 5210 B-2001 		Carbonaceous BOD		DO Depletion with NI

		108.593		001		SM 5220 B-1997		Chemical Oxygen Demand 		Titrimetric, Open Reflux 

		108.594		001		SM 5220 C-1997		Chemical Oxygen Demand 		Titrimetric,Closed Reflux 

		108.595		001		SM 5220 D-1997		Chemical Oxygen Demand		Colorimetric,Closed Reflux 

		108.596		001		SM 5310 B-2000 		Organic carbon-Total (TOC)		Combustion

		108.597		001		SM 5310 C-2000 		Organic carbon-Total (TOC)		UV or Heated Persulfate

		108.598		001		SM 5310 D-2000 		Organic carbon-Total (TOC)		Oxidation

		108.603		001		SM 5520 B-2001		Oil & Grease Total		Gravimetric, LL Partition

		108.604		001		SM 5520 F-2001		Oil & Grease Total		Gravimetric, SP Partition

		108.605		001		SM 5540 C-2000		Surfactants		Colorimetric

		108.625		001		SM 5530 B-2005		Phenols, Total		Manual Distillation

		108.626		001		SM 5530 D-2005		Phenols, Total		Direct Spectrophotometric

		108.660		001		Hach 8000		Chemical Oxygen Demand 		Spectrophotometric

		108.670		001		Hach 8507		Nitrite (as N)		Spectrophotometric

		108.672		001		Hach 8048		Phosphate, Ortho (as P)		Spectrophotometric

		108.675		001		Hach 8190		Phosphorus, Total		Spectrophotometric

		108.868		001		ASTM D6919-03		Magnesium		Ion Chromatography

		108.868		002		ASTM D6919-03		Potassium		Ion Chromatography

		108.868		003		ASTM D6919-03		Sodium		Ion Chromatography

		108.868		004		ASTM D6919-03		Calcium		Ion Chromatography

		108.868		005		ASTM D6919-03		Ammonia (as N)		Ion Chromatography

		108.924		001		Kelada-01		Cyanide, Total		Auto Colorimetric

		108.924		002		Kelada-01		Cyanide, Available		Auto Colorimetric

		108.926		001		Quickchem 10-204-00-1-X		Cyanide, Total		Quickchem 10-204-00-1-X

		108.927		001		OIA-1677-09		Cyanide, Available		FIA





		Please refer to the currently approved 40 CFR Part 136.3 Table IB for digestion/distillation requirements and other applicable footnotes





















Laboratory Name: 

Lab Director or Representative:
  (Print Name)

Signature:	



Date:	Page &P of &N
E108 (0316)





FOT109

		Field of Testing 109: Toxic Chemical Elements of Wastewater



		Lab Name:

		Certificate No.:





		Subgroup Code		Analyte Code		Method		Analyte		Technology		Enter Y for
Selection		SOP
Y/N		Comments

		109.009		001		EPA 200.5 Rev. 4.2 (2003)		Aluminum		ICP-AES

		109.009		002		EPA 200.5 Rev. 4.2 (2003)		Antimony		ICP-AES

		109.009		003		EPA 200.5 Rev. 4.2 (2003)		Arsenic		ICP-AES

		109.009		004		EPA 200.5 Rev. 4.2 (2003)		Barium		ICP-AES

		109.009		005		EPA 200.5 Rev. 4.2 (2003)		Beryllium		ICP-AES

		109.009		006		EPA 200.5 Rev. 4.2 (2003)		Cadmium		ICP-AES

		109.009		007		EPA 200.5 Rev. 4.2 (2003)		Chromium		ICP-AES

		109.009		008		EPA 200.5 Rev. 4.2 (2003)		Cobalt		ICP-AES

		109.009		009		EPA 200.5 Rev. 4.2 (2003)		Copper		ICP-AES

		109.009		010		EPA 200.5 Rev. 4.2 (2003)		Iron		ICP-AES

		109.009		011		EPA 200.5 Rev. 4.2 (2003)		Lead		ICP-AES

		109.009		012		EPA 200.5 Rev. 4.2 (2003)		Manganese		ICP-AES

		109.009		013		EPA 200.5 Rev. 4.2 (2003)		Molybdenum		ICP-AES

		109.009		014		EPA 200.5 Rev. 4.2 (2003)		Nickel		ICP-AES

		109.009		015		EPA 200.5 Rev. 4.2 (2003)		Selenium		ICP-AES

		109.009		016		EPA 200.5 Rev. 4.2 (2003)		Silver		ICP-AES

		109.009		017		EPA 200.5 Rev. 4.2 (2003)		Thallium		ICP-AES

		109.009		018		EPA 200.5 Rev. 4.2 (2003)		Tin		ICP-AES

		109.009		019		EPA 200.5 Rev. 4.2 (2003)		Vanadium		ICP-AES

		109.009		020		EPA 200.5 Rev. 4.2 (2003)		Zinc		ICP-AES

		109.010		001		EPA 200.7 Rev. 4.4 (1994)		Aluminum		ICP-AES

		109.010		002		EPA 200.7 Rev. 4.4 (1994)		Antimony		ICP-AES

		109.010		003		EPA 200.7 Rev. 4.4 (1994)		Arsenic		ICP-AES

		109.010		004		EPA 200.7 Rev. 4.4 (1994)		Barium		ICP-AES

		109.010		005		EPA 200.7 Rev. 4.4 (1994)		Beryllium		ICP-AES

		109.010		006		EPA 200.7 Rev. 4.4 (1994)		Boron		ICP-AES

		109.010		007		EPA 200.7 Rev. 4.4 (1994)		Cadmium		ICP-AES

		109.010		009		EPA 200.7 Rev. 4.4 (1994)		Chromium		ICP-AES

		109.010		010		EPA 200.7 Rev. 4.4 (1994)		Cobalt		ICP-AES

		109.010		011		EPA 200.7 Rev. 4.4 (1994)		Copper		ICP-AES

		109.010		012		EPA 200.7 Rev. 4.4 (1994)		Iron		ICP-AES

		109.010		013		EPA 200.7 Rev. 4.4 (1994)		Lead		ICP-AES

		109.010		015		EPA 200.7 Rev. 4.4 (1994)		Manganese		ICP-AES

		109.010		016		EPA 200.7 Rev. 4.4 (1994)		Molybdenum		ICP-AES

		109.010		017		EPA 200.7 Rev. 4.4 (1994)		Nickel		ICP-AES

		109.010		019		EPA 200.7 Rev. 4.4 (1994)		Selenium		ICP-AES

		109.010		021		EPA 200.7 Rev. 4.4 (1994)		Silver		ICP-AES

		109.010		023		EPA 200.7 Rev. 4.4 (1994)		Thallium		ICP-AES

		109.010		024		EPA 200.7 Rev. 4.4 (1994)		Tin		ICP-AES

		109.010		025		EPA 200.7 Rev. 4.4 (1994)		Titanium		ICP-AES

		109.010		026		EPA 200.7 Rev. 4.4 (1994)		Vanadium		ICP-AES

		109.010		027		EPA 200.7 Rev. 4.4 (1994)		Zinc		ICP-AES

		109.020		001		EPA 200.8 Rev. 5.4 (1994)		Aluminum		ICP-MS

		109.020		002		EPA 200.8 Rev. 5.4 (1994)		Antimony		ICP-MS

		109.020		003		EPA 200.8 Rev. 5.4 (1994)		Arsenic		ICP-MS

		109.020		004		EPA 200.8 Rev. 5.4 (1994)		Barium		ICP-MS

		109.020		005		EPA 200.8 Rev. 5.4 (1994)		Beryllium		ICP-MS

		109.020		006		EPA 200.8 Rev. 5.4 (1994)		Cadmium		ICP-MS

		109.020		007		EPA 200.8 Rev. 5.4 (1994)		Chromium		ICP-MS

		109.020		008		EPA 200.8 Rev. 5.4 (1994)		Cobalt		ICP-MS

		109.020		009		EPA 200.8 Rev. 5.4 (1994)		Copper		ICP-MS

		109.020		010		EPA 200.8 Rev. 5.4 (1994)		Lead		ICP-MS

		109.020		011		EPA 200.8 Rev. 5.4 (1994)		Manganese		ICP-MS

		109.020		012		EPA 200.8 Rev. 5.4 (1994)		Molybdenum		ICP-MS

		109.020		013		EPA 200.8 Rev. 5.4 (1994)		Nickel		ICP-MS

		109.020		014		EPA 200.8 Rev. 5.4 (1994)		Selenium		ICP-MS

		109.020		015		EPA 200.8 Rev. 5.4 (1994)		Silver		ICP-MS

		109.020		016		EPA 200.8 Rev. 5.4 (1994)		Thallium		ICP-MS

		109.020		017		EPA 200.8 Rev. 5.4 (1994)		Vanadium		ICP-MS

		109.020		018		EPA 200.8 Rev. 5.4 (1994)		Zinc		ICP-MS

		109.020		020		EPA 200.8 Rev. 5.4 (1994)		Gold		ICP-MS

		109.020		021		EPA 200.8 Rev. 5.4 (1994)		Iron		ICP-MS

		109.020		022		EPA 200.8 Rev. 5.4 (1994)		Tin		ICP-MS

		109.020		023		EPA 200.8 Rev. 5.4 (1994)		Titanium		ICP-MS

		109.025		001		EPA 200.9 Rev. 2.2 (1994)		Aluminum		STGFAA

		109.025		002		EPA 200.9 Rev. 2.2 (1994)		Antimony		STGFAA

		109.025		003		EPA 200.9 Rev. 2.2 (1994)		Arsenic		STGFAA

		109.025		004		EPA 200.9 Rev. 2.2 (1994)		Beryllium		STGFAA

		109.025		005		EPA 200.9 Rev. 2.2 (1994)		Cadmium		STGFAA

		109.025		006		EPA 200.9 Rev. 2.2 (1994)		Chromium		STGFAA

		109.025		007		EPA 200.9 Rev. 2.2 (1994)		Cobalt		STGFAA

		109.025		008		EPA 200.9 Rev. 2.2 (1994)		Copper		STGFAA

		109.025		009		EPA 200.9 Rev. 2.2 (1994)		Iron		STGFAA

		109.025		010		EPA 200.9 Rev. 2.2 (1994)		Lead		STGFAA

		109.025		011		EPA 200.9 Rev. 2.2 (1994)		Manganese		STGFAA

		109.025		012		EPA 200.9 Rev. 2.2 (1994)		Nickel		STGFAA

		109.025		013		EPA 200.9 Rev. 2.2 (1994)		Selenium		STGFAA

		109.025		014		EPA 200.9 Rev. 2.2 (1994)		Silver		STGFAA

		109.025		015		EPA 200.9 Rev. 2.2 (1994)		Thallium		STGFAA

		109.025		016		EPA 200.9 Rev. 2.2 (1994)		Tin		STGFAA

		109.104		001		EPA 218.6 Rev. 3.3 (1994)		Chromium VI 		Ion Chromatography

		109.131		001		EPA 231.2 (Issued 1978) 		Gold		AA Furnace

		109.141		001		EPA 235.2 (Issued 1978)		Iridium		AA Furnace

		109.190		001		EPA 245.1 Rev. 3.0 (1994)		Mercury		Cold Vapor, Manual

		109.191		001		EPA 245.2 (Issued 1974) 		Mercury		Cold Vapor, Automated

		109.192		001		EPA 245.7 Rev. 2.0 (2005)		Mercury		CVAFS

		109.221		001		EPA 252.2 (Issued 1978)		Osmium		AA Furnace

		109.231		001		EPA 253.2 (Issued 1978) 		Palladium		AA Furnace

		109.241		001		EPA 255.2 (Issued 1978)		Platinum		AA Furnace

		109.261		001		EPA 265.2 (Issued 1978) 		Rhodium		AA Furnace

		109.271		001		EPA 267.2 		Ruthenium		AA Furnace

		109.311		001		EPA 279.2 (Issued 1978) 		Thallium		AA Furnace

		109.331		001		EPA 283.2 (Issued 1978) 		Titanium		AA Furnace

		109.351		001		EPA 289.2 (Issued 1978) 		Zinc		AA Furnace

		109.361		001		EPA 1631E		Mercury		Purge & Trap CVAFS

		109.370		001		SM 3111 B-1999		Antimony		AA Direct Aspiration

		109.370		025		SM 3111 B-1999		Arsenic		AA Direct Aspiration

		109.370		002		SM 3111 B-1999		Cadmium		AA Direct Aspiration

		109.370		004		SM 3111 B-1999		Chromium		AA Direct Aspiration

		109.370		005		SM 3111 B-1999		Cobalt		AA Direct Aspiration

		109.370		006		SM 3111 B-1999		Copper		AA Direct Aspiration

		109.370		007		SM 3111 B-1999		Gold		AA Direct Aspiration

		109.370		008		SM 3111 B-1999		Iridium		AA Direct Aspiration

		109.370		009		SM 3111 B-1999		Iron		AA Direct Aspiration

		109.370		010		SM 3111 B-1999		Lead		AA Direct Aspiration

		109.370		012		SM 3111 B-1999		Manganese		AA Direct Aspiration

		109.370		013		SM 3111 B-1999		Nickel		AA Direct Aspiration

		109.370		014		SM 3111 B-1999		Palladium		AA Direct Aspiration

		109.370		015		SM 3111 B-1999		Platinum		AA Direct Aspiration

		109.370		017		SM 3111 B-1999		Rhodium		AA Direct Aspiration

		109.370		018		SM 3111 B-1999		Ruthenium		AA Direct Aspiration

		109.370		019		SM 3111 B-1999		Silver		AA Direct Aspiration

		109.370		021		SM 3111 B-1999		Thallium		AA Direct Aspiration

		109.370		022		SM 3111 B-1999		Tin		AA Direct Aspiration

		109.370		023		SM 3111 B-1999		Zinc		AA Direct Aspiration

		109.370		011		SM 3111 B-1999		Arsenic		AA Direct Aspiration

		109.380		001		SM 3111 C-1999		Cadmium		AA Direct Aspiration

		109.380		002		SM 3111 C-1999		Chromium		AA Direct Aspiration

		109.380		003		SM 3111 C-1999		Chromium VI dissolved		AA Chelation

		109.380		004		SM 3111 C-1999 		Cobalt		AA Direct Aspiration

		109.380		005		SM 3111 C-1999		Copper		AA Direct Aspiration

		109.380		006		SM 3111 C-1999		Iron		AA Direct Aspiration

		109.380		007		SM 3111 C-1999		Lead		AA Direct Aspiration

		109.380		008		SM 3111 C-1999		Nickel		AA Direct Aspiration

		109.380		009		SM 3111 C-2009		Silver		AA gaseous hydride

		109.380		010		SM 3111 C-1999		Zinc		AA Direct Aspiration

		109.380		001		SM 3111 D-1999		Aluminum		AA Direct Aspiration

		109.390		002		SM 3111 D-1999		Barium		AA Direct Aspiration

		109.390		003		SM 3111 D-1999		Beryllium		AA Direct Aspiration

		109.390		004		SM 3111 D-1999		Molybdenum		AA Direct Aspiration

		109.390		005		SM 3111 D-1999		Osmium		AA Direct Aspiration

		109.390		006		SM 3111 D-1999		Titanium		AA Direct Aspiration

		109.390		007		SM 3111 D-1999		Vanadium		AA Direct Aspiration

		109.390		001		SM 3111 D-1999		Aluminum		AA Direct Aspiration

		109.391		001		SM 3111 E-1999		Aluminum		AA Direct Aspiration

		109.391		002		SM 3111 E-1999		Beryllium		AA Direct Aspiration

		109.391		003		SM 3111 E-1999		Mercury		AA Direct Aspiration

		109.400		001		SM 3112 B-2009		Mercury		Cold Vapor, Manual

		109.410		001		SM 3113 B-2004		Aluminum		AA Furnace

		109.410		002		SM 3113 B-2004		Antimony		AA Furnace

		109.410		003		SM 3113 B-2004		Arsenic		AA Furnace

		109.410		004		SM 3113 B-2004		Barium		AA Furnace

		109.410		005		SM 3113 B-2004		Beryllium		AA Furnace

		109.410		006		SM 3113 B-2004		Cadmium		AA Furnace

		109.410		007		SM 3113 B-2004		Chromium		AA Furnace

		109.410		008		SM 3113 B-2004		Cobalt		AA Furnace

		109.410		009		SM 3113 B-2004		Copper		AA Furnace

		109.410		010		SM 3113 B-2004		Iron		AA Furnace

		109.410		011		SM 3113 B-2004		Lead		AA Furnace

		109.410		012		SM 3113 B-2004		Manganese		AA Furnace

		109.410		013		SM 3113 B-2004		Molybdenum		AA Furnace

		109.410		014		SM 3113 B-2004		Nickel		AA Furnace

		109.410		015		SM 3113 B-2004		Selenium		AA Furnace

		109.410		016		SM 3113 B-2004		Silver		AA Furnace

		109.410		017		SM 3113 B-2004		Tin		AA Furnace

		109.410		018		SM 3113 B-2004		Vanadium		AA Furnace

		109.410		019		SM 3113 B-2004		Gold		AA Furnace

		109.410		020		SM 3113 B-2004		Thallium		AA Furnace

		109.410		001		SM 3113 B-2004		Arsenic		AA Furnace

		109.420		001		SM 3114 B-2009 		Arsenic		AA Manual Hydride

		109.420		002		SM 3114 B-2009 		Selenium		AA Manual Hydride

		109.421		001		SM 3114 C-2009 		Aluminum		AA Continuous Hydride

		109.421		002		SM 3114 C-2009 		Selenium		AA Continuous Hydride

		109.430		001		SM 3120 B-1999		Aluminum		ICP-AES

		109.430		002		SM 3120 B-1999		Antimony		ICP-AES

		109.430		003		SM 3120 B-1999		Arsenic		ICP-AES

		109.430		004		SM 3120 B-1999		Barium		ICP-AES

		109.430		005		SM 3120 B-1999		Beryllium		ICP-AES

		109.430		006		SM 3120 B-1999		Boron		ICP-AES

		109.430		007		SM 3120 B-1999		Cadmium		ICP-AES

		109.430		009		SM 3120 B-1999		Chromium		ICP-AES

		109.430		010		SM 3120 B-1999		Cobalt		ICP-AES

		109.430		011		SM 3120 B-1999		Copper		ICP-AES

		109.430		012		SM 3120 B-1999		Iron		ICP-AES

		109.430		013		SM 3120 B-1999		Lead		ICP-AES

		109.430		015		SM 3120 B-1999		Manganese		ICP-AES

		109.430		016		SM 3120 B-1999		Molybdenum		ICP-AES

		109.430		017		SM 3120 B-1999		Nickel		ICP-AES

		109.430		019		SM 3120 B-1999		Selenium		ICP-AES

		109.430		021		SM 3120 B-1999		Silver		ICP-AES

		109.430		023		SM 3120 B-1999		Thallium		ICP-AES

		109.430		024		SM 3120 B-1999		Vanadium		ICP-AES

		109.430		025		SM 3120 B-1999		Zinc		ICP-AES

		109.430		001		SM 3125 B-1999		Aluminum		ICP-AES

		109.431		002		SM 3125 B-2009		Antimony		ICP-MS

		109.431		003		SM 3125 B-2009		Arsenic		ICP-MS

		109.431		004		SM 3125 B-2009		Barium		ICP-MS

		109.431		005		SM 3125 B-2009		Beryllium		ICP-MS

		109.431		006		SM 3125 B-2009		Cadmium		ICP-MS

		109.431		008		SM 3125 B-2009		Chromium		ICP-MS

		109.431		009		SM 3125 B-2009		Cobalt		ICP-MS

		109.431		010		SM 3125 B-2009		Copper		ICP-MS

		109.431		011		SM 3125 B-2009		Gold		ICP-MS

		109.431		012		SM 3125 B-2009		Iridium		ICP-MS

		109.431		013		SM 3125 B-2009		Iron		ICP-MS

		109.431		014		SM 3125 B-2009		Lead		ICP-MS

		109.431		016		SM 3125 B-2009		Manganese		ICP-MS

		109.431		017		SM 3125 B-2009		Molybdenum		ICP-MS

		109.431		018		SM 3125 B-2009		Nickel		ICP-MS

		109.431		019		SM 3125 B-2009		Palladium		ICP-MS

		109.431		020		SM 3125 B-2009		Platinum		ICP-MS

		109.431		022		SM 3125 B-2009		Rhodium		ICP-MS

		109.431		023		SM 3125 B-2009		Ruthenium		ICP-MS

		109.431		024		SM 3125 B-2009		Selenium		ICP-MS

		109.431		026		SM 3125 B-2009		Silver		ICP-MS

		109.431		028		SM 3125 B-2009		Thallium		ICP-MS

		109.431		029		SM 3125 B-2009		Tin		ICP-MS

		109.431		030		SM 3125 B-2009		Titanium		ICP-MS

		109.431		031		SM 3125 B-2009		Vanadium		ICP-MS

		109.431		032		SM 3125 B-2009		Zinc		ICP-MS

		109.441		001		SM 3500-Al B-2001		Aluminum		Colorimetric

		109.442		001		SM 3500-As B-2001		Arsenic		Colorimetric

		109.443		001		SM 3500-Cd B-2001		Cadmium		Colorimetric

		109.445		001		SM 3500-Cr B-2009		Chromium 		Colorimetric

		109.445		002		SM 3500-Cr B-2009		Chromium VI 		Colorimetric

		109.446		001		SM 3500-Cr C-2009		Chromium VI 		Ion Chromatography

		109.447		001		SM 3500-Cu B-2009		Copper		Colorimetric

		109.448		001		SM 3500-Cu C-2009		Copper		Colorimetric

		109.449		001		SM 3500-Fe B-1997		Iron		Colorimetric

		109.451		001		SM 3500-Pb B-1997		Lead		Colorimetric

		109.452		001		SM 3500-Mn B-1999		Manganese		Colorimetric

		109.456		001		SM 3500-V B-1997		Vanadium		Colorimetric

		109.457		001		SM 3500-Zn B-1997		Zinc		Colorimetric





		Please refer to the currently approved 40 CFR Part 136.3 Table IB for specific digestion requirements and other applicable footnotes



Laboratory Name: 
&11
&10Lab Director or Representative:
  (Print Name)&8
&10
Signature:	



Date:
	Page &P of &N
E109 (0316)





FOT110

		Field of Testing 110: Volatile Organic Chemistry of Wastewater



		Lab Name:

		Certificate No.:





		Subgroup Code		Analyte Code		Method		Analyte		Technology		Enter Y for
Selection		Comments

		110.010		000		EPA 601		Purgeable Halocarbons		GC-ELCD 

		110.020		000		EPA 602		Purgeable Aromatics		GC-PID

		110.030		000		EPA 603		Acrolein, Acrylonitrile		GC-FID

		110.040		000		EPA 611		Haloethers		GC-MS

		110.050		000		EPA 624		Purgeable Organic Compounds		GC-MS

		110.060		000		EPA 1624B		Volatile Organic Compounds		GC-MS

		110.070		000		SM 6200 B-1997		Volatile Organic Compounds		GC-MS

		110.080		000		SM 6200 C-1997		Volatile Organic Compounds		GC-ELCD 







Laboratory Name: 

Lab Director or Representative:
  (Print Name)

Signature:	
















Date:	Page &P of &N
E110 (0316)





FOT111

		Field of Testing 111: Semi-volatile Organic Chemistry of Wastewater



		Lab Name:

		Certificate No.:





		Subgroup Code		Analyte Code		Method		Analyte		Technology		Enter Y for
Selection		Comments

		111.010		000		EPA 604		Phenols 		GC-ECD/FID

		111.020		000		EPA 605		Benzidines		HPLC

		111.030		000		EPA 606		Phthalate Esters		GC-ECD

		111.040		000		EPA 607		Nitrosamines		GC-NPD

		111.050		000		EPA 608		Organochlorine Pesticides & PCBs		GC-ECD

		111.050		000		EPA 609		Nitroaromatics & Cyclic ketones		GC-FID/ECD

		111.060		000		EPA 610		Polynuclear Aromatic Hydrocarbons		HPLC or GC

		111.070		000		EPA 611		Haloethers		GC-ELCD

		111.080		000		EPA 612		Chlorinated Hydrocarbons		GC-ECD

		111.090		000		EPA 613		2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD)		GC-MS

		111.100		000		EPA 614		Organophosphorous Pesticides		GC-FPD

		111.110		000		EPA 614.1		Organophosphorous Pesticides		GC-NPD

		111.120		000		EPA 615		Chlorinated Herbicides		GC-ECD

		111.130		000		EPA 617		Organochlorine Pesticides & PCBs		GC-ECD

		111.140		000		EPA 619		Organophosphorous Pesticides		GC

		111.150		000		EPA 625		Base/Neutral & Acid Organics		GC-MS

		111.150		001		EPA 625		Organochlorine Pesticides & PCBs		GC-MS

		111.150		002		EPA 625		2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD) Screening Only		GC-MS				Screening Only

		111.150		003		EPA 625		Nitrosamines		GC-MS

		111.160		000		EPA 632		Carbamate & Urea Pesticides		HPLC

		111.170		000		EPA 1613B		Dioxins & Furans		GC-MS

		111.180		000		EPA 1625B		Semivolatile Organics by Isotope dilution		GC-MS

		111.190		000		EPA 1650		Adsorbable Organic Halides		Adsorption and Coulometric Titration

		111.200		000		EPA 1653		Chlorinated Phenolics		GC

		111.210		000		EPA 1656		Organo Halide Pesticides		GC-ECD/ELCD

		111.220		000		EPA 1657		Organophosphorous Pesticides		GC-FPD

		111.230		000		SM 6410 B-2000		Base/Neutral & Acid Organics		GC-MS

		111.240		000		SM 6410 B-2000		Organochlorine Pesticides & PCBs		GC-MS

		111.250		000		SM 6420 B-2000		Phenols		GC-ECD/FID

		111.260		000		SM 6440 B-2000		Polynuclear Aromatic Hydrocarbons		HPLC or GC

		111.270		000		SM 6630 B-2000		Organochlorine Pesticides & PCBs		GC-ECD

		111.280		000		SM 6630 C-2000		Organochlorine Pesticides & PCBs		GC-ECD

























































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































Laboratory Name: 

Lab Director or Representative:
  (Print Name)

Signature:	

















Date:	Page &P of &N
E111 (0316)





FOT112

		Field of Testing 112: Radiochemistry of Wastewater



		Lab Name:

		Certificate No.:





		Subgroup Code		Analyte Code		Method		Analyte		Technology		Enter "Y" for
Selection		Comments

		112.010		001		EPA 900.0		Gross Alpha

		112.010		002		EPA 900.0		Gross Beta

		112.020		001		EPA 903.0		Total Alpha Radium

		112.021		001		EPA 903.1		Radium-226

		112.030		001		SM 7110 B		Gross Alpha

		112.030		002		SM 7110 B		Gross Beta

		112.040		001		SM 7500-Ra B		Total Alpha Radium

		112.050		001		SM 7500-Ra C		Radium-226







Laboratory Name: 

Lab Director or Representative:
  (Print Name)

Signature:	



Date:	Page &P of &N
E112 (0316)


Laboratory Name: 

Lab Director or Representative:
  (Print Name)

Signature:	



Date:	Page &P of &N
E112 (0316)





FOT113

		Field of Testing 113: Whole Effluent Toxicity of Wastewater



		Lab Name:

		Certificate No.:



		Write your SOP identification number in the SOP No. column if you have an SOP for the corresponding test.

		Place "Y" in the CC column for reference toxicant control charts  (SEPARATE CC's REQUIRED FOR EACH ENDPOINT).





		Subgroup Code		Species Code		Method		Species				Enter "Y" for
Selection		SOP No.		 CC's

		Freshwater Acute

						USEPA Fifth Edition

		113.021		001A		EPA 2000 (EPA-821-R-02-012), Static		Fathead Minnow (P. promelas)

		113.021		001B		EPA 2000 (EPA-821-R-02-012), Static Renewal		Fathead Minnow (P. promelas)

		113.021		001C		EPA 2000 (EPA-821-R-02-012), Continuous Flow		Fathead Minnow (P. promelas)

		113.021		007A		EPA 2000 (EPA-821-R-02-012), Static		Bannerfin shiner (C. leedsi)

		113.021		007B		EPA 2000 (EPA-821-R-02-012), Static Renewal		Bannerfin shiner (C. leedsi)

		113.021		007C		EPA 2000 (EPA-821-R-02-012), Continuous Flow		Bannerfin shiner (C. leedsi)

		113.022		003A		EPA 2019 (EPA-821-R-02-012), Static		Rainbow trout (O. mykiss)

		113.022		003B		EPA 2019 (EPA-821-R-02-012), Static Renewal		Rainbow trout (O. mykiss)

		113.022		003C		EPA 2019 (EPA-821-R-02-012), Continuous Flow		Rainbow trout (O. mykiss)

		113.022		004A		EPA 2019 (EPA-821-R-02-012), Static		Brook trout (S. fontinalis)

		113.022		004B		EPA 2019 (EPA-821-R-02-012), Static Renewal		Brook trout (S. fontinalis)

		113.022		004C		EPA 2019 (EPA-821-R-02-012), Continuous Flow		Brook trout (S. fontinalis)

		113.023		005A		EPA 2002 (EPA-821-R-02-012), Static		Daphnid (C. dubia)

		113.023		005B		EPA 2002 (EPA-821-R-02-012), Static Renewal		Daphnid (C. dubia)

		113.023		005C		EPA 2002 (EPA-821-R-02-012), Continuous Flow		Daphnid (C. dubia)

		113.024		006A		EPA 2021 (EPA-821-R-02-012), Static		Daphnia spp.

		113.024		006B		EPA 2021 (EPA-821-R-02-012), Static Renewal		Daphnia spp.

		113.024		006C		EPA 2021 (EPA-821-R-02-012), Continuous Flow		Daphnia spp.

		113.029		001A		EPA 821-R-02-012, Static		Hyalella spp.

		113.029		001B		EPA 821-R-02-012, Static Renewal		Hyalella spp.

		113.029		001C		EPA 821-R-02-012, Continuous Flow		Hyalella spp.

		Saltwater Acute

						USEPA Fifth Edition

		113.025		009A		EPA 2006 (EPA-821-R-02-012), Static		Silverside (Menidia spp.)

		113.025		009B		EPA 2006 (EPA-821-R-02-012), Static Renewal		Silverside (Menidia spp.)

		113.025		009C		EPA 2006 (EPA-821-R-02-012), Continuous Flow		Silverside (Menidia spp.)

		113.026		011A		EPA 2004 (EPA-821-R-02-012), Static		Sheepshead minnow (C. variegatus)

		113.026		011B		EPA 2004 (EPA-821-R-02-012), Static Renewal		Sheepshead minnow (C. variegatus)

		113.026		011C		EPA 2004 (EPA-821-R-02-012), Continuous Flow		Sheepshead minnow (C. variegatus)

		113.027		012A		EPA 2007 (EPA-821-R-02-012), Static		Mysid (M. bahia)

		113.027		012B		EPA 2007 (EPA-821-R-02-012), Static Renewal		Mysid (M. bahia)

		113.027		012C		EPA 2007 (EPA-821-R-02-012), Continuous Flow		Mysid (M. bahia)

		113.028		008A		EPA 821-R-02-012, Static		Topsmelt (A. affinis)

		113.028		008B		EPA 821-R-02-012, Static Renewal		Topsmelt (A. affinis)

		113.028		008C		EPA 821-R-02-012, Continuous Flow		Topsmelt (A. affinis)

		113.028		010A		EPA 821-R-02-012, Static		Sanddab (C. sitigmaeus)

		113.028		010B		EPA 821-R-02-012, Static Renewal		Sanddab (C. sitigmaeus)

		113.028		010C		EPA 821-R-02-012, Continuous Flow		Sanddab (C. sitigmaeus)

		113.028		016A		EPA 821-R-02-012, Static		Pacific mysid (H. costata)

		113.028		016B		EPA 821-R-02-012, Static Renewal		Pacific mysid (H. costata)

		113.028		016C		EPA 821-R-02-012, Continuous Flow		Pacific mysid (H. costata)

		Freshwater Chronic

		113.041		001		EPA 1000 (EPA-821-R-02-013)		Fathead Minnow (P. promelas)

		113.051		005		EPA 1002 (EPA-821-R-02-013)		Daphnid (C. dubia)

		113.061		020		EPA 1003 (EPA-821-R-02-013)		Green algae (S. capricornutum)

		113.071		020		ASTM E1218-04		Green algae (S. capricornutum)

		Saltwater Chronic

		113.076		011		EPA 1004 (EPA-821-R-02-014)		Sheepshead minnow (C. variegatus)

		113.081		009		EPA 1006 (EPA-821-R-02-014)		Silverside (Menidia spp.)

		113.091		012		EPA 1007 (EPA-821-R-02-014)		Mysid (M. bahia)

		113.101		013		EPA 1008 (EPA-821-R-02-014)		Sea Urchin (A. punctulata)

		113.120		008		EPA 600/R-95/136		Topsmelt (A. affinis)

		113.120		014		EPA 600/R-95/136		Pacific oyster (C. gigas)

		113.120		015D		EPA 600/R-95/136, Fertilization Test		Sand dollar (D. excentricus)

		113.120		015E		EPA 600/R-95/136, Development Test		Sand dollar (D. excentricus)

		113.120		016		EPA 600/R-95/136		Pacific mysid (H. costata)

		113.120		017D		EPA 600/R-95/136, Fertilization Test		Purple sea urchin (S. purpuratus)

		113.120		017E		EPA 600/R-95/136, Development Test		Purple sea urchin (S. purpuratus)

		113.120		019		EPA 600/R-95/136		Mussels (Mytilus spp.)

		113.120		022		EPA 600/R-95/136		Giant kelp (M. pyrifera)

		113.120		023		EPA 600/R-95/136		Red abalone (H. rufescens)

		113.141		024		ASTM E1218-04		Green algae (S. costatum)

		113.141		025		ASTM E1218-04		Diatom ( T. pseudonana)

		Matrix: Solid only 

						Freshwater Sediment

		113.160		026		EPA 600/R-99/064, EPA 100.1		Amphipod (H. azteca)

		113.170		027		EPA 600/R-99/064, EPA 100.2		Midge (C. tentans)

		113.180		028		EPA 600/R-99/064, EPA 100.3		Oligochaete (L. variegatus)

		113.190		026		EPA 600/R-99/064, EPA 100.4		Amphipod (H. azteca)

		113.200		027		EPA 600/R-99/064, EPA 100.5		Midge (C. tentans)

						Saltwater Sediment

		113.210		029		EPA 600/R-94/025, EPA 100.4		Amphipod (A. abdita)

		113.210		030		EPA 600/R-94/025, EPA 100.4		Amphipod (E. estuarius)

		113.210		031		EPA 600/R-94/025, EPA 100.4		Amphipod (L. plumulosus)

		113.210		032		EPA 600/R-94/025, EPA 100.4		Amphipod (R. abronius)







Laboratory Name: 

Lab Director or Representative:
  (Print Name)

Signature:	



Date:	Page &P of &N
E113 (0316)



Laboratory Name: 

Lab Director or Representative:
  (Print Name)

Signature:	



Date:	Page &P of &N
E113 (0316)






FOT114

		Field of Testing 114: Inorganic Chemistry & Toxic Chemical Elements of Hazardous Waste



		Lab Name:

		Certificate No.:





		Subgroup Code		Analyte Code		Method		Analyte				Enter "Y" for
Selection		Enter "A" for Aqueous Matrix Testing Only		Instrumentation/Sample Preparation

		114.010		001		EPA 6010B		Antimony

		114.010		002		EPA 6010B		Arsenic

		114.010		003		EPA 6010B		Barium

		114.010		004		EPA 6010B		Beryllium

		114.010		005		EPA 6010B		Cadmium

		114.010		006		EPA 6010B		Chromium

		114.010		007		EPA 6010B		Cobalt

		114.010		008		EPA 6010B		Copper

		114.010		009		EPA 6010B		Lead

		114.010		010		EPA 6010B		Molybdenum

		114.010		011		EPA 6010B		Nickel

		114.010		012		EPA 6010B		Selenium

		114.010		013		EPA 6010B		Silver

		114.010		014		EPA 6010B		Thallium

		114.010		015		EPA 6010B		Vanadium

		114.010		016		EPA 6010B		Zinc

		114.020		001		EPA 6020		Antimony

		114.020		002		EPA 6020		Arsenic

		114.020		003		EPA 6020		Barium

		114.020		004		EPA 6020		Beryllium

		114.020		005		EPA 6020		Cadmium

		114.020		006		EPA 6020		Chromium

		114.020		007		EPA 6020		Cobalt

		114.020		008		EPA 6020		Copper

		114.020		009		EPA 6020		Lead

		114.020		010		EPA 6020		Molybdenum

		114.020		011		EPA 6020		Nickel

		114.020		012		EPA 6020		Selenium

		114.020		013		EPA 6020		Silver

		114.020		014		EPA 6020		Thallium

		114.020		015		EPA 6020		Vanadium

		114.020		016		EPA 6020		Zinc

		114.025		001		EPA 6020A		Mercury

		114.030		001		EPA 7040		Antimony

		114.031		001		EPA 7041		Antimony

		114.040		001		EPA 7060A		Arsenic

		114.041		001		EPA 7061A		Arsenic

		114.050		001		EPA 7062		Antimony

		114.051		001		EPA 7062		Arsenic

		114.060		001		EPA 7080A		Barium

		114.061		001		EPA 7081		Barium

		114.070		001		EPA 7090		Beryllium

		114.071		001		EPA 7091		Beryllium

		114.080		001		EPA 7130		Cadmium

		114.081		001		EPA 7131A		Cadmium

		114.090		001		EPA 7190		Chromium

		114.091		001		EPA 7191		Chromium

		114.102		001		EPA 7195		Chromium (VI)

		114.103		001		EPA 7196A		Chromium (VI)

		114.104		001		EPA 7197		Chromium (VI)

		114.105		001		EPA 7198		Chromium (VI)

		114.106		001		EPA 7199		Chromium (VI)

		114.110		001		EPA 7200		Cobalt

		114.111		001		EPA 7201		Cobalt

		114.120		001		EPA 7210		Copper

		114.121		001		EPA 7211		Copper

		114.130		001		EPA 7420		Lead

		114.131		001		EPA 7421		Lead

		114.140		001		EPA 7470A		Mercury

		114.141		001		EPA 7471A		Mercury

		114.150		001		EPA 7480		Molybdenum

		114.151		001		EPA 7481		Molybdenum

		114.160		001		EPA 7520		Nickel

		114.161		001		EPA 7521		Nickel

		114.170		001		EPA 7740		Selenium

		114.171		001		EPA 7741A		Selenium

		114.172		001		EPA 7742		Selenium

		114.180		001		EPA 7760A		Silver

		114.181		001		EPA 7761		Silver

		114.190		001		EPA 7840		Thallium

		114.191		001		EPA 7841		Thallium

		114.200		001		EPA 7910		Vanadium

		114.201		001		EPA 7911		Vanadium

		114.210		001		EPA 7950		Zinc

		114.211		001		EPA 7951		Zinc

		114.221		001		EPA 9012A		Cyanide, Total

		114.222		001		EPA 9014		Cyanide

		114.230		001		EPA 9034		Sulfides, Total

		114.231		001		EPA 9215		Sulfide

		114.240		001		EPA 9040B		Corrosivity - pH Determination

		114.241		001		EPA 9045C		Corrosivity - pH Determination

		114.250		001		EPA 9056		Fluoride

		114.260		001		EPA 9213		Cyanide

		114.270		001		EPA 9214		Fluoride

		114.280		001		HML 939-M		Organic Lead

		114.281		001		HML 938-M		Organic Lead





		Footnote:

		HML = Hazardous Materials Laboratory, CA Department of Toxic Substances Control



Laboratory Name: 

Lab Director or Representative:
  (Print Name)

Signature:	



Date:	Page &P of &N
E114 (0316)


Laboratory Name: 

Lab Director or Representative:
  (Print Name)

Signature:	



Date:	Page &P of &N
E114 (0316)





FOT118

		Field of Testing 118: Radiochemistry of Hazardous Waste



		Lab Name:

		Certificate No.:





		Subgroup Code		Analyte Code		Method		Analyte				Enter "Y" for
Selection		Enter "A" for Aqueous Matrix Testing Only		Sample Preparation		Comments

		118.010		001		EPA 9310		Gross Alpha

		118.010		002		EPA 9310		Gross Beta

		118.020		001		EPA 9315		Radium, Total

		118.030		001		EPA 9320		Radium-228

		118.040		001		EPA (March, 1979), p19		Radium-226

		118.040		002		EPA (March, 1979), p19		Radium-228						*

		118.040		003		EPA (March, 1979), p33		Plutonium

		118.040		004		EPA (March, 1979), p33		Uranium

		118.040		005		EPA (March, 1979), p65		Strontium

		118.040		006		EPA (March, 1979), p87		Tritium

		118.050		001		EPA 00-05		Thorium

		118.050		002		EPA 00-05		Uranium

		118.060		001		EPA 00-07		Thorium

		118.060		002		EPA 00-07		Uranium

		118.070		001		EPA (March, 1979), p33		Thorium

		118.090		001		EPA AM-01-1		Americium-241

		118.100		001		EPA H-01		Tritium

		118.110		001		EPA Pu-01		Plutonium

		118.120		001		EPA Ra-01		Radium-226

		118.130		001		EPA Ra-03		Radium-226

		118.140		001		EPA Ra-04		Radium-226

		118.150		001		EPA Ra-05		Radium-228						*

		118.160		001		EPA Sr-01		Strontium

		118.170		001		EPA Sr-04		Strontium

		118.200		001		DOE 4.5.2.3		Gamma

		118.210		001		DOE Am-01		Americium-241

		118.211		001		DOE Am-02		Americium-241

		118.212		001		DOE Am-03		Americium-241

		118.220		001		DOE H-03		Tritium

		118.230		001		DOE Pu-02		Plutonium

		118.231		001		DOE Pu-03		Plutonium

		118.240		001		DOE Pu-10		Plutonium

		118.250		001		DOE Ra-04		Radium-226

		118.260		001		DOE Se-01		Radium-226

		118.260		002		DOE Se-01		Uranium

		118.270		001		DOE Sr-01		Strontium

		118.271		001		DOE Sr-02		Strontium

		118.280		001		DOE Tc-01		Technetium

		118.290		001		DOE U-02		Uranium





		Footnote:

		* For use with solid and non-aqueous matrices only



Laboratory Name: 

Lab Director or Representative:
  (Print Name)

Signature:	



Date:	Page &P of &N
E118 (0316)


Laboratory Name: 

Lab Director or Representative:
  (Print Name)

Signature:	



Date:	Page &P of &N
E118 (0316)





E124

		Field of Testing 124: Organic Chemistry of Pesticide Residues in Food by GC/MS



		Lab Name:

		Certificate #:





		Subgroup Code		Analyte Code		Method		Analyte		Technology		Enter Y for
Selection		Comments

		124.010		001		GC-MS		Pesticide Residue		Gas Chromatography

		124.020		001		GC-MS-MS		Pesticide Residue		Gas Chromatography

		124.030		001		HPLC-MS		Pesticide Residue		High Pressure Liquid Chromatography

		124.040		001		HPLC-MS-MS		Pesticide Residue		High Pressure Liquid Chromatography









































Page &P of &N


LABORATORY NAME: 

Lab Director or Representative
           (PRINT NAME)

Signature:	



Date:	



ELAP FOT 126 (0802)


Laboratory Name: 

Lab Director or Representative:
  (Print Name)

Signature:	



Date:	Page &P of &N
E124 (0316)





E125

		Field of Testing 125: Organic Chemistry of Pesticide Residues in Food (excluding GC/MS)



		Lab Name:

		Certificate #:





		Subgroup Code		Analyte Code		Method		Analyte		Technology		Enter Y for
Selection		Comments

		125.010		001		GC-MS		Pesticide Residue		Gas Chromatography

		125.020		001		GC-MS-MS		Pesticide Residue		Gas Chromatography

		125.030		001		HPLC-MS		Pesticide Residue		High Pressure Liquid Chromatography

		125.040		001		HPLC-MS-MS		Pesticide Residue		High Pressure Liquid Chromatography





































Page &P of &N


LABORATORY NAME: 

Lab Director or Representative
           (PRINT NAME)

Signature:	



Date:	



ELAP FOT 126 (0802)


Laboratory Name: 

Lab Director or Representative:
  (Print Name)

Signature:	



Date:	Page &P of &N
E125 (0316)





E126

		Field of Testing 126: Microbiology of Recreational Water



		Lab Name:

		Certificate #:





		Subgroup Code		Analyte Code		Method		Analyte		Technology/Media		Enter Y for
Selection		Comments

		126.010		001		SM 9221 B-2006		Total Coliform (Enumeration)		Multiple Tube Fermentation

		126.010		002		SM 9221 C,E-2006		Fecal Coliform (Enumeration)		Multiple Tube Fermentation

		126.010		003		SM 9221 B,F-2006		E. coli (Enumeration)		Multiple Tube Fermentation

		126.020		001		SM 9222 B-1997		Total Coliform (Enumeration)		Membrane Filter

		126.020		002		SM 9222 D-1997		Fecal Coliform (Enumeration)		Membrane Filter

		126.020		003		SM 9222 G-1997		E. coli (Enumeration)		Membrane Filter

		126.030		001		SM 9223 B-2004		E. coli (Enumeration)		Colilert/Idexx 

		126.030		002		SM 9223 B-2004		E. coli (Enumeration)		Colilert-18 /Idexx 

		126.040		001		EPA 1603		E. coli (Enumeration)		Membrane Filter

		126.050		001		EPA 1604		E. coli (Enumeration)		Membrane Filter

		126.060		001		mColiBlue 24		E. coli (Enumeration)		Membrane Filter

		126.070		001		SM 9230 C-2007		Enterococci 		Membrane Filter

		126.080		001		Enterolert		Enterococci 		Enterolert/Idexx

		126.090		001		SM 9230 B-2007		Fecal Streptococci		Multiple Tube Fermentation

		126.100		001		SM 9230 C-2007		Fecal Streptococci		Membrane Filter

		126.110		001		Enterolert		Fecal Streptococci		Enterolert/Idexx





		Please refer to 40 CFR 136 Table 1H



































Page &P of &N


LABORATORY NAME: 

Lab Director or Representative
           (PRINT NAME)

Signature:	



Date:	



ELAP FOT 126 (0802)


Laboratory Name: 

Lab Director or Representative:
  (Print Name)

Signature:	



Date:	Page &P of &N
E126 (0316)





FOT115

		Field of Testing 115: Extraction Test of Hazardous Waste



		Lab Name:

		Certificate No.:





		Subgroup Code		Analyte Code		Method		Analyte				Enter "Y" for
Selection		Comments

		115.010		001		EPA 1310A		Extraction Procedure Toxicity (EPTox)

		115.020		001		EPA 1311		Toxicity Characteristic Leaching Procedure (TCLP)

		115.021		001		EPA 1311		TCLP Inorganics

		115.022		001		EPA 1311		TCLP Extractables

		115.023		001		EPA 1311		TCLP Volatiles

		115.030		001		CCR Chapter11, Article 5, Appendix II		Waste Extraction Test (WET)

		115.040		001		EPA 1312		Synthetic Precipitation Leaching Procedure (SPLP)







Laboratory Name: 

Lab Director or Representative:
  (Print Name)

Signature:	



Date:	Page &P of &N
E115 (0316)


Laboratory Name: 

Lab Director or Representative:
  (Print Name)

Signature:	



Date:	Page &P of &N
E115 (0316)





FOT116

		Field of Testing 116: Volatile Organic Chemistry of Hazardous Waste



		Lab Name:

		Certificate No.:





		Subgroup Code		Analyte Code		Method		Analyte				Enter "Y" for
Selection		Enter "A" for Aqueous Matrix Testing Only		Instrumentation/ Sample Preparation

		116.010		001		EPA 8011		EDB and DBCP

		116.020		001		EPA 8015B		Nonhalogenated Volatiles

		116.020		002		EPA 8015B		Ethanol and Methanol

		116.030		001		EPA 8015B		Gasoline-range Organics

		116.040		001		EPA 8021B		Methyl tert-butyl Ether (MTBE)

		116.040		002		EPA 8021B		Halogenated Volatiles

		116.040		003		EPA 8021B		Aromatic Volatiles

		116.040		004		EPA 8021B		BTEX

		116.050		001		EPA 8031		Acrylonitrile

		116.060		001		EPA 8032A		Acrylamide

		116.080		001		EPA 8260B		Volatile Organic Compounds

		116.080		002		EPA 8260B		Oxygenates

		116.090		001		EPA 8316		Acrylamide, Acrylonitrile, Acrolein

		116.100		001		LUFT GC/MS		Total Petroleum Hydrocarbons - Gasoline

		116.100		002		LUFT GC/MS		BTEX and MTBE

		116.110		001		LUFT		Total Petroleum Hydrocarbons - Gasoline





		Footnote:

		LUFT = Current Leaking Underground Fuel Tank manual



Laboratory Name: 

Lab Director or Representative:
  (Print Name)

Signature:	



Date:	Page &P of &N
E116 (0316)


Laboratory Name: 

Lab Director or Representative:
  (Print Name)

Signature:	



Date:	Page &P of &N
E116 (0316)





FOT117

		Field of Testing 117: Semi-volatile Organic Chemistry of Hazardous Waste



		Lab Name:

		Certificate No.:





		Subgroup Code		Analyte Code		Method		Analyte				Enter "Y" for
Selection		Enter "A" for Aqueous Matrix Testing Only		Instrumentation/ Sample Preparation

		117.010		001		EPA 8015B		Diesel-range Total Petroleum Hydrocarbons

		117.015		001		LUFT GC/MS		Diesel-range Total Petroleum Hydrocarbons

		117.016		001		LUFT		Diesel-range Total Petroleum Hydrocarbons

		117.017		001		EPA 418.1		TRPH Screening

		117.020		000		EPA 8041		Phenols

		117.030		000		EPA 8061A		Phthalate Esters

		117.040		000		EPA 8070A		Nitrosoamines

		117.050		000		EPA 8091		Nitroaromatics and Cyclic Ketones

		117.060		000		EPA 8100		Polynuclear Aromatic Hydrocarbons

		117.070		000		EPA 8111		Haloethers

		117.080		000		EPA 8120A		Chlorinated Hydrocarbons

		117.090		000		EPA 8121		Chlorinated Hydrocarbons

		117.110		000		EPA 8270C		Extractable Organics

		117.111		070		EPA 8270C		PCBs

		117.111		071		EPA 8270C		Pesticides

		117.120		000		EPA 8280A		Dioxins and Dibenzofurans

		117.130		000		EPA 8290		Dioxins and Dibenzofurans

		117.140		000		EPA 8310		Polynuclear Aromatic Hydrocarbons

		117.150		000		EPA 8315A		Carbonyl Compounds

		117.170		000		EPA 8330		Nitroaromatics and Nitramines

		117.171		000		EPA 8330A		Nitroaromatics and Nitramines

		117.180		001		EPA 8331		Tetrazene

		117.200		000		EPA 8410		Semi-volatile Organics

		117.210		000		EPA 8081A		Organochlorine Pesticides

		117.220		000		EPA 8082		PCBs

		117.240		000		EPA 8141A		Organophosphorus Pesticides

		117.250		000		EPA 8151A		Chlorinated Herbicides

		117.270		000		EPA 8318		Carbamates, N-methylcarbamates

		117.280		000		EPA 8321A		Carbamates





		Footnote:

		LUFT = Current Leaking Underground Fuel Tank manual



Laboratory Name: 

Lab Director or Representative:
  (Print Name)

Signature:	



Date:	Page &P of &N
E117 (0316)


Laboratory Name: 

Lab Director or Representative:
  (Print Name)

Signature:	



Date:	Page &P of &N
E117 (0316)





FOT119

		Field of Testing 119: Toxicity Bioassay of Hazardous Waste



		Lab Name:

		Certificate No.:





		Subgroup Code		Species Code		Method		Species				Enter "Y" for
Selection		SOP No.		 CC's

		119.010		001		Polisini & Miller (CDFG 1988)		Fathead Minnow (P. promelas)

		119.010		002		Polisini & Miller (CDFG 1988)		Golden shiner (N. chrysoleucas)

		119.010		003		Polisini & Miller (CDFG 1988)		Rainbow trout (O. mykiss)

		Matrix: Solid only 

						Freshwater Sediment

		119.020		026		EPA 100.1		Amphipod (H. azteca)

		119.030		027		EPA 100.2		Midge (C. tentans)

		119.040		028		EPA 100.3		Oligochaete (L. variegatus)

						Saltwater Sediment

		119.050		029		EPA 100.4		Amphipod (A. abdita)

		119.050		030		EPA 100.4		Amphipod (E. estuarius)

		119.050		031		EPA 100.4		Amphipod (L. plumulosus)

		119.050		032		EPA 100.4		Amphipod (R. abronius)







Laboratory Name: 

Lab Director or Representative:
  (Print Name)

Signature:	



Date:	Page &P of &N
E119 (0316)


Laboratory Name: 

Lab Director or Representative:
  (Print Name)

Signature:	



Date:	Page &P of &N
E119 (0316)





FOT120

		Field of Testing 120: Physical Properties of Hazardous Waste



		Lab Name:

		Certificate No.:





		Subgroup Code		Analyte Code		Method		Analyte				Enter "Y" for
Selection		Instrumentation

		120.010		001		EPA 1010		Ignitability

		120.020		001		EPA 1020A		Ignitability

		120.022		001		EPA 1030		Ignitability

		120.030		001		EPA 1110		Corrosivity

		120.040		001		Section 7.3 SW-846		Reactive Cyanide

		120.050		001		Section 7.3 SW-846		Reactive Sulfide

		120.070		001		EPA 9040B		Corrosivity - pH Determination

		120.080		001		EPA 9045C		Corrosivity - pH Determination







Laboratory Name: 

Lab Director or Representative:
  (Print Name)

Signature:	



Date:	Page &P of &N
E120 (0316)


Laboratory Name: 

Lab Director or Representative:
  (Print Name)

Signature:	



Date:	Page &P of &N
E120 (0316)





FOT121

		Field of Testing 121: Bulk Asbestos Analysis of Hazardous Waste



		Lab Name:

		Certificate No.:





		Subgroup Code		Analyte Code		Method		Analyte				Enter "Y" for
Selection		Comments

		121.010		001		EPA 600/M4-82-020		Bulk Asbestos







Laboratory Name: 

Lab Director or Representative:
  (Print Name)

Signature:	



Date:	Page &P of &N
E121 (0316)


Laboratory Name: 

Lab Director or Representative:
  (Print Name)

Signature:	



Date:	Page &P of &N
E121 (0316)





FOT127

		Field of Testing 127: Shellfish Sanitation



		Lab Name:

		Certificate No.:





		Subgroup Code		Analyte Code		Method 		Analyte				Enter "Y" for
Selection		Technology/Medium		Comments

		127.010		001		APHA		Shellfish Meat Total/Fecal Coliforms						MPN

		127.010		002		APHA		Shellfish Meat Plate Counts						SPC

		127.030		001		APHA		Shellfish Growing Waters Total/Fecal Coliforms						MPN

		127.030		002		AOAC		Shellfish Growing Waters Fecal Coliforms						A-1

		127.040		001		WPCF		Shellfish Growing Waters Fecal Coliforms						mTEC





		References:

		APHA – American Public Health Association, Recommended Procedures for the Examination  						of Sea Water and Shellfish, 4th ed, 1970.

		AOAC – Association of Official Analytical Chemists – Official Methods of Analysis, 15th ed.

		WPCF – Journal of Water Pollution Control Federation, 59, 8 (1987)



Laboratory Name:

Lab Director or Representative:
   (Print Name)

Signature:	



Date:	Page &P of &N
E127 (0316)


Laboratory Name:

Lab Director or Representative:
   (Print Name)

Signature:	



Date:	Page &P of &N
E127 (0316)





FOT129

		Field of Testing 129: Parasites in Potable Water



		Lab Name:

		Certificate No.:





		Subgroup Code		Analyte Code		Method 		Analyte		Technology		Enter "Y" for
Selection		Comments

		129.010		001		EPA 1622		Cryptosporidium		Filtration/IMS/FA

		129.020		001		EPA 1623		Cryptosporidium and Giardia		Filtration/IMS/FA

		129.030		001		EPA 1623.1		Cryptosporidium and Giardia		Filtration/IMS/FA











Laboratory Name: 

Lab Director or Representative:
  (Print Name)

Signature:	



Date:	Page &P of &N
E129 (0316)


Laboratory Name: 

Lab Director or Representative:
  (Print Name)

Signature:	



Date:	Page &P of &N
E129 (0316)







Page 4 of 6 
ELAP 001 (0114 0315) 


PART C 
FIELDS OF TESTING 


 


 


 
 


Check the appropriate box(es) for the Fields of Testing (FoTs) for which your laboratory requests certification. 


 
[ ] E101 Microbiology of Drinking Water 


[ ] E102 Inorganic Chemistry of Drinking Water 


[ ] E103 Toxic Chemical Elements of Drinking Water 


[ ] E104 Volatile Organic Chemistry of Drinking Water 


[ ] E105 Semi-volatile Organic Chemistry of Drinking Water 


[ ] E106 Radiochemistry of Drinking Water 


[ ] E107 Microbiology of Wastewater 


[ ] E108 Inorganic Chemistry of Wastewater 


[ ] E109 Toxic Chemical Elements of Wastewater 


[ ] E110 Volatile Organic Chemistry of Wastewater 


[ ] E111 Semi-volatile Organic Chemistry of Wastewater 


[ ] E112 Radiochemistry of Wastewater 


[ ] E113 Whole Effluent Toxicity of Wastewater 


[ ] E114 Inorganic Chemistry & Toxic Chemical Elements of Hazardous Waste 


[ ] E115 Extraction Test of Hazardous Waste 


[ ] E116 Volatile Organic Chemistry of Hazardous Waste 


[ ] E117 Semi-volatile Organic Chemistry of Hazardous Waste 


[ ] E118 Radiochemistry of Hazardous Waste 


[ ] E119 Toxicity Bioassay of Hazardous Waste 


[ ] E120 Physical Properties of Hazardous Waste 


[ ] E121 Bulk Asbestos Analysis of Hazardous Waste 


  E122* Microbiology of Food 


  E123* Inorganic Chemistry and Toxic Chemical Elements of Pesticide Residues in Food 


[ ] E124 Organic Chemistry of Pesticide Residues in Food (measurements by MS techniques) 


[ ] E125 Organic Chemistry of Pesticide Residues in Food (excluding measurements by MS techniques) 


[ ] E126 Microbiology of Recreational Water 


[ ] E127 Shellfish Sanitation 


  E128* Air Quality Monitoring 


[ ] E129 Parasites in Potable Water 
 E130*  Parasites in Non Potable Water 


 


. 








 
 


Field of Testing Revisions Summary – March 16, 2016 
 
 


Matrix FOT # Summary of Revisions: 


Drinking Water 


101 


 Removed “Regulation” section headers 


 Added analytes for compliance with cited regulations 


 Deleted analytes not required by regulations, or that are 
duplicate entries  


 Rearranged analyte order 


 Revised analyte nomenclature 


 Revised technology description 


 Added “Notes” section  with references to applicable 
regulations 


102 
 Revised analyte nomenclature for compliance with DDW 


requirements 


 Added analyte for consistency with method 


103  Revised technology description 


104 


 Deleted analytes that are duplicate entries or that are not 
approved by method 


 Revised analyte nomenclature for consistency with 
method 


105 


 Deleted analytes that are duplicate entries  


 Added analytes for compliance with DDW requirements or 
that were missing from previous version 


 Revised analyte nomenclature for consistency with 
method 


 Rearranged analyte order based on updated analyte codes 


106 
 Added analytes for compliance with 40 CFR 141.25 


 Deleted analytes for compliance with 40 CFR 141.25 


Wastewater 


107 


 Deleted analytes that are not approved methods, or that 
are out of date 


 Rearranged analyte order 


 Revised analyte nomenclature 


 Revised technology description 


108 
 Deleted analytes that are duplicate entries  


 Separated analytes to provide clarity for laboratories  


 Added analytes for compliance with 40CFR 136   


109  Changes limited to formatting. 


110  Rearranged analyte order 







 


Revision date 3/16/16 


111  Rearranged analyte order  


112 
 Deleted analytes for compliance with Compliance with 40 


CFR 136 Table 1A 


113  Removed 4th edition acute methods (out of date) 


Recreational 
Water 


126 
 Added analytes for compliance with 40 CFR 136 


 Deleted analytes for compliance with 40 CFR 136 


Hazwaste 


114  Changes limited to formatting. 


115  Changes limited to formatting. 


116  Changes limited to formatting. 


117  Changes limited to formatting. 


118  Changes limited to formatting. 


119  Changes limited to formatting. 


120  Changes limited to formatting. 


121  Changes limited to formatting. 


Specialty 
Offerings 


124  Updated methods for consistency with FDA  


125  Updated methods for consistency with FDA 


127  Changes limited to formatting 


129  Changes limited to formatting 


 








 


 


 


State of California 


Water Resources Control Board 


 


 


Environmental Laboratory Accreditation Program 


 


 
 


 


Implementation of a Sustainable Accreditation Program 


Work Plan 


 


December 21, 2015 


 


 
 


 


 


 







State Water Resources Control Board 
Environmental Laboratory Accreditation Program Work Plan 


 


2 
 


Table of Contents 
 
List of Acronyms ......................................................................................................................................... 3 


Executive Summary ................................................................................................................................... 4 


Work Plan .................................................................................................................................................... 4 


1.0 Establish a Management System ............................................................................................ 4 


1.1 Adopt an Established Management System ...................................................................... 4 


2.0 Adopt Laboratory Accreditation Standards ............................................................................ 5 


2.1 Enact a Standard for Conducting Laboratory Accreditations .......................................... 5 


2.2 Explore Third-Party Training and Assessment Contract .................................................. 7 


3.0 Ensure Relevant Analytical Methods ...................................................................................... 8 


3.1 Update List of Approved Analytical Methods ..................................................................... 8 


4.0 Expand Resources ..................................................................................................................... 9 


4.1 Revise Fee Structure ............................................................................................................. 9 


4.2 Establish Enforcement Unit ................................................................................................ 10 


4.3 Establish Proficiency Testing Unit ..................................................................................... 11 


4.4 Invest in Staff Development ................................................................................................ 12 


4.5 Reduce Assessor Backlog .................................................................................................. 13 


5.0 Enhance Communication ........................................................................................................ 13 


5.1 Develop Communication Plan for ELAP Staff .................................................................. 13 


5.2 Develop Communication Plan for Laboratory Community ............................................. 14 


5.3 Develop Communication Plan for State Agency Data Users ........................................ 14 


Appendix A:  Work Plan Timeline .......................................................................................................... 16 


 


 


  







State Water Resources Control Board 
Environmental Laboratory Accreditation Program Work Plan 


 


3 
 


List of Acronyms 
 
AB Accrediting Body 
CDPH California Department of Public Health 
DAS Division of Administrative Services  
DT Department of Technology 
DWRL Drinking Water Radiation Laboratory  
ELAP Environmental Laboratory Accreditation Program 
ELTAC Environmental Laboratory Technical Advisory Committee 
ERP Expert Review Panel 
GO-Biz Governor’s Office of Business and Economic Development 
OAL Office of Administrative Law 
OCC Office of Chief Council 
OE Office of Enforcement 
OPA Office of Public Affairs 
ORPP Office of Research, Planning and Performance 
PT Proficiency Testing 
RFP Request for Proposal 
SCCWRP Southern California Coastal Water Research Project Authority 
SOP Standard Operating Procedure 
State Water Board State Water Resources Control Board 
TNI The NELAC Institute  
   


 


 


  







State Water Resources Control Board 
Environmental Laboratory Accreditation Program Work Plan 


 


4 
 


Executive Summary 
 
On July 1, 2014 the California Environmental Laboratory Accreditation Program (ELAP) 


transitioned from the California Department of Public Health (CDPH) to the California State 


Water Resources Control Board’s (State Water Board) - Division of Drinking Water.  Shortly 


after, the State Water Board contracted with the Southern California Coastal Water Research 


Project Authority (SCCWRP) to convene an Expert Review Panel (ERP) charged with 


developing recommendations for improving ELAP.  The ERP released its Year One Final Report 


in October 2015.   


With new ELAP management in place, the program will reestablish itself as a respected 


accreditation program.  Using the ERP’s report and recommendations as a guide, ELAP is 


moving forward with a series of immediate and long-term reforms.  


Work Plan 
 
In an effort to transform ELAP into a sustainable accreditation program, ELAP management will 


target five key programmatic components to focus on.         


 Management System 


 Laboratory Accreditation Standards 


 Analytical Methods 


 Staff Resources 


 Internal/External Communication 


This work plan provides a narrative description and a schedule of the tasks and activities 


necessary to accomplish the scope of work. 


1.0 Establish a Management System 


ELAP’s management team prior to the program’s transfer to the State Water Board was 


ineffective and lacked a robust, comprehensive internal management system.  Immediately 


selecting and implementing a management system for conducting operational functions will 


provide numerous benefits to ELAP and laboratories.      


1.1 Adopt an Established Management System  


ELAP’s strategy is to implement one of the two widely respected standards as 


recommended by the ERP. ELAP will establish a management system under The 


NELAC Institute (TNI) Standard – Volume 2: General Requirements for Accreditation 


Bodies Accrediting Environmental Laboratories. This management system is built 


around laboratory accreditation performance criteria under which both management and 


staff can be trained and held accountable.  ELAP will implement the management 


system with recommendations from the California Environmental Laboratory Technical 


Advisory Committee (ELTAC) on technical and scientific matters, the ERP regarding 







State Water Resources Control Board 
Environmental Laboratory Accreditation Program Work Plan 


 


5 
 


sufficiency of Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs), and the Office of Research 


Planning and Performance (ORPP) on ELAP performance metrics.   


  Completion Date 


1.1.1 Select management system November 2015 


1.1.2 
Reinvigorate ELTAC 


a. Release Final Draft By-Laws 
b. New ELTAC implemented  


March 2016 


1.1.3 
Draft SOPs with input from ERP and ORPP 


a. SOPs for administrative processes 
b. SOPs for operational functions 


April 2016 


1.1.4 
Develop a training program for internal ELAP 
processes, and an evaluation program for 
ELAP assessors 


April 2016 


1.1.5 


Institute operational processes 
a. Document control 
b. Records maintenance  
c. Quality Assurance Manual 


April 2016 


1.1.6 Develop internal review program May 2016 


1.1.7 
Collaborate with ORPP on performance 
measures 


June 2016 


 
  Resources: ELAP Staff 


Partners: ERP, ELTAC, ORPP   
 


2.0 Adopt Laboratory Accreditation Standards  
 
Auditable and enforceable laboratory accreditation standards are the foundation of a 
sustainable accreditation program.  The assessment and accreditation processes in ELAP’s 
current regulations are insufficient and out of date, resulting in inconsistencies when 
laboratories are assessed.  The solution is for ELAP to enact a new standard for conducting 
laboratory accreditations that meets its clients’ requirements and contains proper resources for 
both assessors and laboratories.   


 
2.1 Enact a Standard for Conducting Laboratory Accreditations 
 
ELAP anticipates new accreditation standards will be controversial and is likely to 
require adoption of new regulations. Critical to the overall success will be ELAP’s ability 
to effectively partner with the Office of Chief Council (OCC), Office of Administrative Law 
(OAL), ELTAC and the entire laboratory community regulated by the standards.  
 


Phase 1 – Select Accreditation Standard  
 


  Completion Date 


2.1.1 
Research accreditation standard options and 
assess feasibility (pros/cons) 


January 2016 







State Water Resources Control Board 
Environmental Laboratory Accreditation Program Work Plan 


 


6 
 


  Completion Date 


2.1.2 
Provide stakeholder outreach and education 
on accreditation standard options 


March 2016 


2.1.3 


Compile stakeholder feedback 
a. Analyze comments 
b. Draft response to comments 
c. Publish response to comments 


April 2016 


2.1.4 


Select proposed accreditation standard  
a. Draft report on proposed 


accreditation standard for 
management review and approval 


b. Publicize proposed accreditation 
standard 


May 2016 


 
  Resources: ELAP Staff 
  Partners: ERP, ELTAC 
 


Phase 2 – Rulemaking  
  


  Completion Date 


2.1.5 


Finalize proposed regulation package 
a. Regulation language 
b. Initial Statement of Reasons 
c. Std. 399 
d. CEQA – Notice of Exemption 
e. Submit for peer review 
f. Revise as necessary 


July 2016 


2.1.6 


Prepare final draft regulation package for OAL 
submittal  


a. Submit for internal review/sign off 
b. Submit for OCC review/sign off 
c. Submit for Budgets review/sign off 
d. Submit for EXEC review/sign off 
e. Submit for Cal/EPA Agency 


Secretary review/sign off 
f. Submit for Dept. of Finance 


review/sign off 
g. Prepare Form 400, etc 


January  2017 


2.1.7 


Submit to OAL for notice of publication 
a. Notice published in OAL Register 
b. Send Notice of Proposed 


Rulemaking to Interested Parties 
(Notice published on Web) 


c. 45-Day public comment period 
followed by Public Hearing 


March 2017 


2.1.8 Prepare Final Statement of Reasons May 2017 







State Water Resources Control Board 
Environmental Laboratory Accreditation Program Work Plan 


 


7 
 


  Completion Date 


2.1.9 


Submit proposed regulations for State Water 
Board consideration 


a. Prepare draft agenda item and 
resolution 


b. Submit proposed regulations and 
draft resolution to State Water 
Board - Clerk 


c. State Water Board approves 
proposed regulations at monthly 
Board Meeting 


July 2017 


2.1.10 


Submit Part B of Notice of 
Publication/Regulations Submission form to 
Executive Director for signature (include 
approved State Water Board regulations and 
resolution) 


August 2017 


2.1.11 


Final OAL review 
a. Submit Form 400, regulations, and 


rulemaking file  
b. OAL notifies State Water Board of 


any identified deficiencies 
c. OAL notifies State Water Board of 


approval/disapproval of regulations 


September 2017 


2.1.12 
OAL transmits approved regulations to the 
Secretary of State for filing 


September 2017 


2.1.13 Regulations become effective November 2017 


  
  Resources: ELAP Staff 


Partners: ELTAC, OCC, OAL  
 


Phase 3 – Implement Accreditation Standard 
 


  Completion Date 


2.1.14 
Provide stakeholders with a schedule for 
implementation 


November 2017 


2.1.15 
Provide compliance assistance to 
stakeholders 


February 2018 


 
  Resources: ELAP Staff 
  Partners: ELTAC 


 
2.2 Explore Third-Party Training and Assessment Contract 
 
As reforms are made, ELAP must provide training to ensure that all ELAP assessors 
have a fundamental understanding of accreditation standards, and the appropriate skills 
to conduct assessments of analytical methods being offered for accreditation.  ELAP 
does not have the resources to manage an in-house training program.  As a result, 







State Water Resources Control Board 
Environmental Laboratory Accreditation Program Work Plan 


 


8 
 


ELAP will explore a contract with a third-party accrediting body (AB) to formalize a 
training curriculum.  In addition, ELAP may include a measure in the contract to 
temporarily allow the selected third-party AB to assess its laboratories.     
 


Phase 1 – Third-Party Accrediting Body Contract 
 


  Completion Date 


2.2.1 
Research third-party AB training/auditing 
options and assess feasibility (pros/cons) 


May 2016 


2.2.2 
Prepare State Water Board Resolution for 
third-party AB contract funding 


June 2016 


2.2.3 
Submit Resolution to State Water Board for 
third-party AB contract funding approval 


July 2016 


2.2.4 
Solicit and evaluate RFPs and contract 
packages 


August 2016 


2.2.5 Award contract September 2016 


 
Resources: ELAP Staff, Division of Administrative Services (DAS) – Contracts 


Unit 
Partners: ELTAC, OCC 
 
Phase 2 – Incorporate Third-Party Assessment and Training Curriculum   


 


  Completion Date 


2.2.6 
Allow third-party AB to assess ELAP 
laboratories  


January 2017 


2.2.7 
Formalize training curriculum with input from 
ELAP management 


December 2019 


 
  Resources: ELAP Staff 
  Partners: ELTAC, OCC, Third-party AB 
   
3.0 Ensure Relevant Analytical Methods 
 
The list of analytical methods ELAP accredits is outdated and incorporated into current 
regulations (Tittle 22 Division 4 Chapter 19 Article 6 – Section 64811).  Due to the extended 
timeline of enacting new accreditation standards, ELAP will consult with legal counsel to pursue 
a short-term alternative within the context of the current regulations.   
 


3.1 Update List of Approved Analytical Methods 
 
It is of mutual benefit to both ELAP and laboratories to use newer analytical methods.  
However, it is the role of the State’s Regulatory Authorities to identify the methods 
needed to support their programs and communicate their needs to ELAP.    
  
 







State Water Resources Control Board 
Environmental Laboratory Accreditation Program Work Plan 


 


9 
 


  Completion Date 


3.1.1 
Compile a comprehensive list of approved 
methods 


June 2016 


3.1.2 Update Field of Testing Worksheets June 2016 


3.1.3 
Collaborate with State Agency Regulatory 
Partners and Data users 


On-going 


3.1.4 
Partner with ELTAC to draft standardized 
peer-reviewed checklists 


December 2016 


 
 Resources: ELAP Staff 
 Partners: State Agency regulatory partners, Data users, ELTAC, OCC 
 


4.0 Expand Resources 
 
A number of fundamental weaknesses that hinder ELAP’s ability to achieve its mission of 
ensuring that the State has access to quality data can be addressed by expanding 
programmatic resources.   


 
4.1 Revise Fee Structure 
 
According to the Environmental Laboratory Improvement Act, ELAP is to be fully fee-
supported.  Despite collecting fees, ELAP is operating at a loss and relying on general 
fund subsidies to continue operations.  ELAP with support from the DAS Fee Branch will 
develop a fair and equitable fee structure that allows ELAP to fully cover program 
expenditures.  
 
 Phase 1 – Draft New Fee Structure  
 


  Completion Date 


4.1.1 Draft fee structure options January 2016 


4.1.2 
Conduct stakeholder workshops 


a. Analyze comments 
February 2016 


4.1.3 
Provide fee structure workshop at State Water 
Board meeting 


March 2016 


4.1.4 
Select new fee structure and announce to 
stakeholders 


April 2016 


4.1.5 Draft proposed fee structure regulations  April 2016 


   
 Resources: ELAP Staff 
 Partners: ELTAC, OCC, DAS Fee Branch  
   


 
 
 
 
 







State Water Resources Control Board 
Environmental Laboratory Accreditation Program Work Plan 


 


10 
 


Phase 2 – Adopt New Fee Structure 
 


  Completion Date 


4.1.6 


Submit proposed fee structure for State Water 
Board consideration 


a. Prepare draft agenda item and 
resolution 


b. Submit proposed fee structure 
regulations and draft resolution to 
State Water Board - Clerk 


c. State Water Board approves 
proposed fee structure regulations  


May 2016 


4.1.7 Rollout new fee invoices July 2016 


 
 Resources: ELAP Staff 
 Partners: ELTAC, OCC, DAS Fee Branch 


 
4.2 Establish Enforcement Unit 
 
Enforcement is a necessary function of accreditation bodies to ensure that deficient 
laboratories perform corrective action before continuing to offer services.  ELAP will work 
in conjunction with the Office of Enforcement (OE) to establish a robust enforcement 
structure aimed at ensuring laboratories are competent to conduct analytical methods for 
which they are certified for.   
 


 Completion Date 


4.2.1 


Develop Enforcement Unit staff 
a. Train on ELAP enforcement 


authority 
b. Attend supplemental enforcement 


training 
1. Cal-EPA Basic Inspection 
2. Environmental Crimes Training 


On-going 







State Water Resources Control Board 
Environmental Laboratory Accreditation Program Work Plan 


 


11 
 


 Completion Date 


4.2.2 


Establish enforcement procedures 
a. Draft SOPs for 


1. PT follow up 
2. Comprehensive on-site  


assessments of laboratories  
with timely and objective  
reporting 


3. Timely and objective review of 
laboratory corrective action plans 


4. Follow-up assessments 
5. Assessment of complaints and 


response 
6. Surveillance/unannounced 


compliance assessment 
b. Create checklist for targeted on-site 


investigations  
c. Draft template letters for enforcement 


and citation 


June 2016 


4.2.3 


Establish procedures and authority for issuing 
violations 


a. Administrative fines/citation 
b. Decertification of specific 


methods/FOTs 
c. Complete decertification 
d. Criminal charges  


June 2016 


 
 Resources: ELAP Staff 
 Partners: ELTAC, OE  
 
4.3 Establish Proficiency Testing Unit 
 
ELAP lacks a systematic process for reviewing proficiency testing (PT) sample results.  
ELAP will focus on improving its PT program through the establishment of a PT Unit, 
where staff will be responsible for timely examination of PT data, and connecting review 
of PT samples to a remedial process.  To assist in tracking and evaluation of PT data, 
ELAP will work with the Division of Information Technology (DIT) to identify and 
incorporate a commercially available database.         
  


  Completion Date 


4.3.1 


Draft SOPs for: 
a. Evaluating PT samples 
b. Addressing nonconformities 
c. Verification of corrective action and 


enforcement authority 


December 2015 


4.3.2 Establish PT Unit staff performance metrics December 2015 


4.3.3 Assign staff to the PT Unit December 2015 







State Water Resources Control Board 
Environmental Laboratory Accreditation Program Work Plan 


 


12 
 


  Completion Date 


4.3.4 


Partner with DT to research database options 
a. Define project scope 
b. Business analysis 
c. Solution development 
d. Project readiness and approval 


December 2018 


 
 Resources: ELAP Staff 
 Partners: DIT 


 
4.4 Invest in Staff Development 


ELAP has a diverse set of established personnel, with a subset of recognized high 
performing assessors.  However, the program is plagued by a lack of an on-going 
training program, poor staff accountability, and out-of-date support measures; which are 
all negatively impacting staff productivity.  ELAP management recognizes these 
limitations and is committed to investing in staff development through partnerships with 
other State agencies, including CDPH Drinking Water Radiation Laboratory (DWRL), 
State Water Board Training Office, and ORPP. In addition, the ELAP management team 
will invest in training which focuses on performance management by pursuing 
participation in the Governor’s Office of Business and Economic Development (GO-Biz) 
Lean 6-Sigma Program. The program addresses process-based issues that cause 
delays in services to both internal and external stakeholders. Over a 6-month period, 
participants receive training on complex analytical and statistical tools that identify waste 
and inefficiencies in processes. 


  Completion Date 


4.1.1 
Utilize State Water Board Training Office and 
Academy for targeted administrative training  


On-going 


4.4.2 
Utilize potential third-party AB contract to train 
staff 


January 2017 


4.4.3 
Begin 6-Sigma Training/Initiate participation in 
Lean 6-Sigma program 


February 2016 


4.4.4 Establish staff performance metrics May 2016 


4.4.5 Implement periodic staff performance reviews 
On-going 
(annually) 


4.4.6 
Assign performance management training to 
ELAP management team 


April 2016 


4.4.7 
Institute rotating ELAP mock-assessments at 
ELTAC laboratories 


On-going (start 
March 2016) 


4.4.8 
Schedule routine educational visits with 
ELTAC laboratories  


On-going (start 
March 2016) 


 
 Resources: ELAP Staff 
 Partners: ELTAC, OCC, DAS, ORPP, CDPH-DWRL, GO-Biz 
 







State Water Resources Control Board 
Environmental Laboratory Accreditation Program Work Plan 


 


13 
 


4.5 Reduce Assessor Backlog 
 
Improving ELAP’s current staff productivity is a gradual process.  To immediately expand 
the resources at its disposal, ELAP will link to external programs in an effort to reduce 
the assessment backlog.   
 


  Completion Date 


4.5.1 


Implement Reciprocity Agreements with 
equivalent States and TNI/National 
Environmental Laboratory Accreditation 
Program recognition  


April 2015 


4.5.2 
Temporarily authorize third-party accreditation 
using third-party AB contract 


TBD 


4.5.3 
Utilize tablets or other mobile technology to 
expedite accreditation 


TBD 


 
 Resources: ELAP Staff 
 Partners: Third-party AB 
 


5.0 Enhance Communication 
 
ELAP has been less than effective in serving its clients, in part because of poor staff 
communication and outreach to stakeholders.  ELAP has developed a Strategic 
Communications Action Plan to overhaul its communication strategy.       


 
5.1 Develop Communication Plan for ELAP Staff 
 
In order for ELAP’s overall communication strategy to be successful, ELAP must first 
reform its own internal staff communication plan.  The focus will be on proper 
communication procedures and etiquette.     
 


  Completion Date 


5.1.1 


Establish expectations for staff communication 
a. Responsiveness 
b. Clarity 
c. Consistency 


On-going 
(annually) 


5.1.2 Provide ELAP staff communication training 
On-going 
(annually) 


5.1.3 


Reinvigorate Staff meetings 
a. Auditor Roundtable 
b. All-staff meetings 
c. Team building events 


On-going 


 
Resources: ELAP Staff 
Partners: ORPP 
 


 







State Water Resources Control Board 
Environmental Laboratory Accreditation Program Work Plan 


 


14 
 


5.2 Develop Communication Plan for Laboratory Community  
 
As ELAP undergoes considerable reforms, it is important that the laboratory community 
be fully informed of programmatic changes.  It is equally important that ELAP provide 
continuous outreach, compliance assistance, and education that meet diverse laboratory 
(e.g., small, medium, large) needs.  ELAP will partner with the Office of Public Affairs 
(OPA) in its efforts to inform and engage the laboratory community.  
 


  Completion Date 


5.2.1 


Train laboratories on new requirements 
established by ELAP 


a. Electronic applications 
b. New monitoring practices 
c. Broadened criteria for certification 


On-going 


5.2.2 


Outreach 
a. Email messages 
b. Meet and greet events 
c. Surveys 
d. Postcards/newsletter 
e. Broadcast ELAP produced  
f. Videos/films 
g. Promote various laboratory 


accreditation conferences and 
workshops 


On-going 


5.2.3 


Host/attend routine technical 
workshops/webinars 


a. Compliance assistance  
b. Enforcement activities  
c. ELTAC meetings 


On-going 


 
  Resources: ELAP Staff 
  Partners: ELTAC, OPA 


 
5.3 Develop Communication Plan for State Agency Data Users 
 
Communication with data users is key, as the data generated by accredited laboratories 
are used by these clients to make regulatory decisions.  In addition, there is a notable 
eagerness within ELAP’s State Agency partner organizations to engage with and assist 
ELAP.  Therefore, it is essential that ELAP establish an effective communication plan 
with these State Agency partners.       
 


  Completion Date 


5.3.1 


Schedule meetings with State Agency 
Regulatory Partners 


a. Introductory 
b. Inter-agency workgroups 
c. Region 9 US EPA meetings 


On-going 







State Water Resources Control Board 
Environmental Laboratory Accreditation Program Work Plan 


 


15 
 


  Completion Date 


5.3.2 
Hold routine technical workshops/webinars 


a. State assessor’s forum 
On-going 


 
  Resources: ELAP Staff 
  Partners: State Agency Regulatory Partners, Data users 
  







State Water Resources Control Board 
Environmental Laboratory Accreditation Program Work Plan 


 


16 
 


Appendix A:  Work Plan Timeline 
 


 








 


 


ELTAC Membership – March 1, 2016 
 
Mindy Boele, City of Vacaville  
Representative Member (representing CWEA) 
 
Jill Brodt, Brelje and Race Laboratories  
Representative Member (representing small Northern California commercial 
laboratories) 
 
Bruce Burton, Division of Drinking Water, State Water Resources Control Board 
State Regulatory Agency Employee 
 
Gail Cho, California Department of Fish and Wildlife 
State Regulatory Agency Employee 
 
Stephen Clark, Pacific EcoRisk 
Representative Member (representing specialty laboratories) 
 
Ronald Coss, Orange County Sanitation District  
Representative Member (Representing CWEA) 
 
Huy Do, Sanitation Districts of Los Angeles County  
Representative Member (representing CASA) 
 
Andy Eaton, Eurofins Eaton Analytical  
Representative Member (representing large, multistate commercial laboratories) 
 
Miriam Ghabour, Metropolitan Water District of Southern California  
Representative Member (representing large, municipal laboratories) 
 
Bruce Godfrey, Montrose Environmental Group 
Representative Member (representing ACIL) 
 
Anthony Gonzalez, Sacramento County Public Health Laboratory 
Representative Member (representing CAPHLD) 
 
Rich Gossett, Physis Environmental  
Representative Member (representing commercial and academic sectors) 
 
Dave Kimbrough, Pasadena Water and Power 
Representative Member (representing small, Southern California municipal laboratories) 







 


 


 
Mark Koekemoer, Napa Sanitation District Laboratory  
Representative Member (representing small, Northern California municipal laboratories) 
 
Bruce LaBelle, California Department of Toxic Substances Control 
State Regulatory Agency Employee 
 
 
Allison Mackenzie, Babcock Laboratories  
Representative Member (representing medium/large California commercial laboratories) 
 
Guilda Neshvad, Positive Lab Service 
Representative Member (representing Hazardous Waste laboratories) 
 
Renee Spears, State Water Resources Control Board 
State Regulatory Agency Employee 
 
 
 








 


 


 


 


 


 


 


HONOR TIME- In order to achieve 


meeting objectives, it is important to 


follow the time guidelines provided. 


 


 


ELECTRONIC COURTESY- Most 


participants have demanding 


responsibilities outside of this room. We 


ask for your full attention during the 


meeting. Please silence your 


communication devices, and feel free to 


leave the room at any time to take an 


important call. 


 


 


ALL IDEAS HAVE VALUE- You may hear 


something you do not agree with. You 


do not have to defend or promote your 


perspective, but we ask that you share 


it. All ideas have value in this setting. If 


you feel another approach is better, 


offer it as a constructive alternative. 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


SHARE THE AIR- Limit the length of time you are 


speaking so everyone has a chance to join in the 


conversation. 


 


AVOID EDITORIALS- Avoid ascribing motives to or 


judging the actions of others. Speak about your 


experiences, concerns, and suggestions. 


 


HUMOR IS WELCOME- But should never be at 


some else’s expense. 


 


BE COMFORTABLE – Have a snack or take breaks 


whenever necessary. Let ELAP know if you have 


other needs. 


 


SPELLING DOESN’T COUNT – Research indicates 


that writing on a vertical surface (like a whiteboard 


or flipchart) actually increases the number of 


spelling errors. 


 


 


Meeting Ground Rules 






		Proposed Meeting Dates

		

		Event


		

		Lab Accreditation Standard


		

		FOT Worksheets


		

		Fee Structure


		

		Communications Update


		

		Enforcement Briefing


		



		
          Key

		

		JULY 

S


M


T


W


Th


F


S


1


2


3


4


5


6


7


8


9


10


11


12


13


14


15


16


17


18


19


20


21


22


23


24


25


26


27


28


29


30


31




		11-15 Tentative ELTAC Meeting


Lab Accreditation Standard

Communications Update

Fee Structure



		

		

		

		



		

		

		AUGUST 

S


M


T


W


Th


F


S


1


2


3


4


5


6


7


8


9


10


11


12


13


14


15


16


17


18


19


20


21


22


23


24


25


26


27


28


29


30


31




		31 – Tentative Q3 ERP Webinar Update






		

		

		

		

		



		MARCH

S


M


T


W


Th


F


S


1


2


3


4


5


6


7


8


9


10


11


12


13


14


15


16


17


18


19


20


21


22


23


24


25


26


27


28


29


30


31




		23 ELTAC Meeting

Lab Accreditation Standard

FOT Worksheets

		

		SEPTEMBER 

S


M


T


W


Th


F


S


1


2


3


4


5


6


7


8


9


10


11


12


13


14


15


16


17


18


19


20


21


22


23


24


25


26


27


28


29


30




		12-16Tentative ELTAC Meeting


Fee Structure

20-21 Tentative SWRCB Board Meeting and Workshop on Fees






		

		

		

		

		



		APRIL

S


M


T


W


Th


F


S


1


2


3


4


5


6


7


8


9


10


11


12


13


14


15


16


17


18


19


20


21


22


23


24


25


26


27


28


29


30




		5 TNI Workshop – Nor. Cal

7 TNI Workshop – So. Cal

19 SWRCB Board Meeting on Training Contract Funds

		

		OCTOBER


S


M


T


W


Th


F


S


1


2


3


4


5


6


7


8


9


10


11


12


13


14


15


16


17


18


19


20


21


22


23


24


25


26


27


28


29


30


31




		



		

		

		

		

		



		MAY

S


M


T


W


Th


F


S


1


2


3


4


5


6


7


8


9


10


11


12


13


14


15


16


17


18


19


20


21


22


23


24


25


26


27


28


29


30


31




		2-6 Tentative ELTAC Meeting

Lab Accreditation Standard

FOT Worksheets

Communications Update

Fee Structure

27 Tentative Q2 ERP Webinar Update

		

		NOVEMBER


S


M


T


W


Th


F


S


1


2


3


4


5


6


7


8


9


10


11


12


13


14


15


16


17


18


19


20


21


22


23


24


25


26


27


28


29


30




		



		

		

		

		

		



		JUNE

S


M


T


W


Th


F


S


1


2


3


4


5


6


7


8


9


10


11


12


13


14


15


16


17


18


19


20


21


22


23


24


25


26


27


28


29


30




		6-10 Tentative ELTAC Meeting


Lab Accreditation Standard

Communications Update

Fee Structure

Enforcement Briefing

		

		DECEMBER

S


M


T


W


Th


F


S


1


2


3


4


5


6


7


8


9


10


11


12


13


14


15


16


17


18


19


20


21


22


23


24


25


26


27


28


29


30


31




		





PROPOSED ELTAC CALENDAR













ITEM #3 
March 23, 2016 


3 
 


ITEM #3 – Welcome – 9:10am 
 


1. Division of Drinking Water Executive Staff remarks – (Kurt Souza) 
 
Notes: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 
2. Designated ELAP Officer Remarks – (Christine Sotelo) 


 
Notes: 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 
 
 


 
3. Introduction of Committee Members – (All Participants) 


 
Item #3.3 Documents: 


 ELTAC Roster 
 ELTAC Bios 


 
 
 
 
Action Items: 


 
 
 








ITEM #6 
March 23, 2016 


 


13 
 


 
ITEM #6 – Field of Testing Lists – 3:00pm - (Christine Sotelo) 
 
Item #6 Documents: 
Revision Summary, FOT Worksheets (ELAP 101- ELAP 129) 
 


Notes:  
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 Action Items: 
 
 
 
 








ITEM #7 
March 23, 2016 
 


14 
 


ITEM #7 – Future ELTAC Planning – 3:30pm - (Christine Sotelo, All members) 
 


1. Alignment with Work Plan 
 


Item# 7.1 Documents: 
ELAP Work Plan 


 
Notes: 
 
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 Action Items: 
 
 
 


 







ITEM #7 
March 23, 2016 


 


 
 


15 


2. Discuss ELTAC Advisory Plan 
 


Notes: 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  Action Items: 
 
 
 
 







ITEM #7 
March 23, 2016 
 


16 
 


 
3. Meeting Dates and agenda items 


 
Proposed ELTAC Calendar 2016: 
 
Item 7.3 Documents: 
ELTAC Calendar 
 
Notes:  
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


  Action Items: 
 












ITEM #9 
March 23, 2016 


17 
 


ITEM #8 – Chairperson Selection Process – 4:00pm – (Christine Sotelo) 
 
See By-Laws, Article V: 


 
B. Nominating the Chairperson  
Before proceeding to the election for the Chairperson, one or more candidates must be nominated by a 
current Representative or SRAE at the October ELTAC meeting. The nomination must be accepted by 
the nominee in order to be considered as an eligible candidate in the voting process. When nominations 
are completed, the voting members, as provided for in these By-Laws, shall elect the Chairperson.  
 
C. Electing the Chairperson  
Voting for the Chairperson shall be conducted during the October ELTAC meeting. Each Representative 
shall be allowed one vote. The Chairperson shall be decided by a simple majority vote. Voting is not 
binding and the Deputy Director may appoint a different Chairperson if he/she deems it necessary. 


 


 Emergency election for first chairperson  


 Nominees? 


 Voting procedure: 
o ELAP will email voting members with a list of nominees 
o Reps will email Cindy Forbes cindy.forbes@waterboards.ca.gov their vote 


by close of business on Friday, April 1st. 
o Chairperson will be announced the week of April 4th 


 
Notes: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


Action Items: 


 



mailto:cindy.forbes@waterboards.ca.gov






ITEM #5 
March 23, 2016 


 


11 
 


ITEM # 5 – Laboratory Accreditation Standard – 10:00a.m. – (Gita Kapahi, Director, 
Office of Public Participation; All Members) 


 
1. How can we improve California’s laboratory accreditation standard? 


 
Notes: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 


 


Action Items: 


 
 
 







ITEM #5 
March 23, 2016 


12 
 


 
 
 
 
Notes: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 
 
Action Items: 
 








                                                                                


 


 ENVIRONMENTAL LABORATORY ACCREDITATION PROGRAM 
ELTAC MEETING 


 Wednesday, March 23, 2016 – 9:00 a.m. 
1001 I Street 


Sacramento, CA 95814 
 


 
 


 


 


 


Meeting Agenda 
 


 


 


TIME AGENDA ITEM PRESENTER(S) 


9:00am Item #1 - Call to Order Katelyn McCarthy 


9:05am Item #2 - Public Comments on Items 
not on Agenda 


Open 


9:10am Item #3 - Welcome 
1. DDW Executive Staff Remarks 
2. DELAPO Remarks 
3. Introductions of Committee 


Members 
 


Objective: Make introductions and 
welcome all to first meeting. 
 


All members 
 


9:30am Item #4 - Procedural Review 
1. Establish Ground Rules 
2. Review By-Laws to clarify 


ELTAC’s role 
3. Discuss development of mission 


statement 
4. Review Bagley Keene 
5. Review Robert’s Rules 
6. Roles and Responsibilities 
7. Reporting procedures 


 
Objective: Establish and understand 
operating procedures for meetings. 
 


Christine Sotelo; Catherine 
Ewing 







10:00am Item #5 - Laboratory Accreditation 
Standard – How can we improve 
California’s lab accreditation standard? 
 
Objective: Open discussion amongst 
committee members regarding 
recommendation 2 of the Expert 
Review Panel Report. 
 


Gita Kapahi, Director of 
Office of Public 
Participation; ELTAC 
members 


12:00pm Out to Lunch  


1:30pm Item #5 cont. - Lab Accreditation 
Standard Cont. 
 
Objective: Preliminary discussion 
regarding formally advising ELAP after 
next meeting (consensus or vote) 
 


ELTAC Members 


3:00pm Item #6 - Field of Testing Lists 
 
Objective: Present ELAP’s new FOT 
lists to committee members for review 
before public release. 
 


Christine Sotelo 


3:30pm Item #7 - Future ELTAC Planning 
1. Alignment with Work Plan 
2. Discuss advisory plan 
3. Potential meeting dates and 


agenda items 
 
Objective: Plan for future meetings. 
 


Christine Sotelo; All 
members 


4:00pm Item #8 - Chairperson Nomination 
process 
 
Objective: Review the voting 
procedure and accept nominations. 
 


Christine Sotelo 


4:15pm Item # 9 - Close 
1. Review action items 


 


Christine Sotelo 


4:30pm Adjourn  


 








 


 
 


 


 


 


 


 
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 
 


 


 


 


Mindy Boele, City of Vacaville 
Mindy Boele is currently the Water Quality Laboratory 
Supervisor for the City of Vacaville, responsible for 
analysis to support an NPDES permit, a WDR permit 
and the Water System. She has over 20 years 
Environmental and Analytical Laboratory experience, 
including 7 years in an oil refinery QA Lab. Mindy serves 
as Chairperson of the CWEA RES Lab committee and is 
an active member in the State CWEA, BACWA, and 
CVCWA Lab Committees, as well the PSC/NBA Users 
group and SAWWA organization. 
Representing: CWEA 
Contact: mindy.boele@cityofvacaville.com  
 


 


Jill Brodt, Brelje and Race Laboratories 
Jill Brodt has been the Laboratory Director at Brelje and 
Race Laboratories, Inc. since 2008, where she focuses 
on the analysis of drinking water and wastewater in the 
North Bay. In her role, Jill continues to successfully 
implement procedural and technical changes in order to 
meet current regulations. Jill holds a BA degree from 
Sonoma State University in Environmental Studies with 
an emphasis in Water Quality and lives with her family 
in Santa Rosa. 
Representing: small, Northern CA commercial labs 
Contact: jillb@brlabsinc.com  
 


Bruce Burton, SWRCB, Division of Drinking Water 
Bruce Burton holds B.S. in Ocean Engineering and a 
Masters of Engineering degree in Civil Engineering, and 
has over 36 years’ experience in the drinking water 
industry dealing with water utilities, consulting 
engineers, and regulatory agencies. Bruce has 
extensive experience conducing comprehensive 
evaluations of public water systems. He has also 
provided technical assistance to public water systems of 
varying sizes and treatment facility complexities on 
issues ranging from water treatment plant performance 
problems to regulatory compliance issues. Bruce is a 
registered Professional Engineer and currently serves 
as Assistant Deputy Director of the Northern California 
Field Operations Branch with the State Water Board. 
Representing: Division of Drinking Water 
Contact: bruce.burton@waterboards.ca.gov  
 



mailto:mindy.boele@cityofvacaville.com

mailto:jillb@brlabsinc.com

mailto:bruce.burton@waterboards.ca.gov





 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 
 


 


 


 


 
 
 


Gail Cho, California Department of Fish and Wildlife 


Gail Cho is the Quality Assurance officer for the 
California Dept. of Fish and Wildlife, Office of Spill 
Prevention and Response (OSPR) Laboratories. Ms. 
Cho has over 25 years of experience working in 
environmental and food testing laboratories. She has 
analyzed dairy products for compliance to state 
standards and water samples for compliance to drinking 
water and NPDES standards while working at a 
commercial laboratory before assuming roles in quality 
assurance. As a QA/QC officer for several large 
commercial environmental testing labs, her 
responsibility was to implement and oversee the quality 
assurance programs that met USEPA Contract 
Laboratory Program, state, and Department of Defense 
program requirements.   
Representing: Dept. of Fish and Wildlife 
Contact: gail.cho@wildlife.ca.gov  
 


Stephen Clark, Pacific EcoRisk  
Stephen received his B.S. in biology with a focus in 
marine biology from CSU, Stanislaus, and performed his 
doctorate research in ecotoxicology at UC Davis. For 
over 27 years, Stephen has been directing and 
participating in aquatic ecotoxicology and environmental 
chemistry research and testing. In 1999, Stephen joined 
Pacific EcoRisk (PER), an environmental consulting and 
testing company in Fairfield, CA. He has served as 
PER’s QA Officer, Laboratory Director, and is currently 
PER’s Vice President. 
Representing: Specialty laboratories 
Contact: sclark@pacificecorisk.com  
 


Ronald Coss, Orange County Sanitation District 
Ron Coss is currently the manager of the Environmental 
Laboratory and Ocean Monitoring Division for the 
Orange County Sanitation District (OCSD).  Ron has 
supervised or managed laboratories for over 30 years in 
both the public and private sectors. Ron holds a 
bachelor’s degree in biology and master’s degree in 
public health, in addition to a master’s degree in public 
administration. Ron has earned several professional 
certifications in the areas of laboratory analysis, 
environmental science and management.    
Representing: CWEA  
Contact: rcoss@ocsd.com  



mailto:gail.cho@wildlife.ca.gov

mailto:sclark@pacificecorisk.com

mailto:rcoss@ocsd.com





 


 
 


 


 


 


 


 
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 
 


Huy Do, Sanitation Districts of Los Angeles County 
Mr. Do is the current Quality Assurance (QA) Manager 
for the Sanitation Districts of Los Angeles County’s ten 
ELAP-certified environmental laboratories. He has more 
than 20 years of environmental laboratory experience 
from both privately and publicly owned laboratories. 
Prior to working in QA, Mr. Do was involved in the 
development and validation of analytical methods for the 
detection and quantitation of contaminants of emerging 
concern (CECs) in water matrices.  
Representing: CASA 
Contact: hdo@lacsd.org  
 


 
Andy Eaton, Eurofins Eaton Analytical 
Andy Eaton, PhD., BCES is currently Technical Director and 
VP and has spent more than 35 years with Eurofins Eaton 
Analytical, Inc. (EEA), the nation's largest potable water 
commercial lab.  Dr. Eaton received his PhD. in geochemistry 
from Harvard University and a postdoc at CalTech.  He has 
served on numerous state, federal, and industry work groups, 
including the former ELTAC and as chair of the Stakeholder 
Advisory Committee.   He has more than 100 publications 
and presentations. Dr. Eaton serves as a member of the Joint 
Editorial Board of Standard Methods and is also the chair of 
the Journal Editorial Board for the Journal of the American 
Water Works Association (JAWWA). 
Representing: Large, multistate commercial labs 
Contact: AndyEaton@eurofinsus.com  


 


 


 


 


Miriam Ghabour, Metropolitan Water District of 
Southern California 
Miriam Ghabour has 15 years of experience in the 
environmental laboratory field. She works at MWD, 
where she develops and maintains the quality system 
for its six certified laboratories. Miriam holds a B.S. in 
Chemistry from U.C. Berkeley. As a former chemist with 
the State of California, she used complex 
instrumentation to analyze a variety of matrices and 
holds certifications from the U.S. EPA, the U.S. FDA, 
and TNI. 
Representing: Large municipal laboratories 
Contact: MGhabour@mwdh2o.com  
 


 



mailto:hdo@lacsd.org

mailto:AndyEaton@eurofinsus.com

mailto:MGhabour@mwdh2o.com





 


 


 


 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 


 
 
Bruce Godfrey, Montrose Environmental Group, Inc. 
Dr. Bruce Godfrey manages interdisciplinary teams in 
process improvement, quality assurance, and 
organizational development for the Montrose 
Environmental Group (MEG), a national provider of 
environmental tests & measurements including; drinking 
and wastewater, air and stack testing, industrial 
hygiene, radiochemistry, contaminated site remediation, 
waste characterization, aquatic toxicity, and 
microbiology. He has 36 years’ commercial laboratory 
experience and earned BA and Ph.D. Degrees in 
Biochemistry from the University of California. 
Representing: ACIL 
Contact: bgodfrey@montrose-env.com  
 


 


 


 


Anthony Gonzalez, Sacramento County Public 
Health Laboratory  
Representing: California Association of Public Health 
Laboratory Directors 
Contact: gozaleza@saccounty.net  
 
 


 


 


 


Rich Gossett, Physis Laboratories 
Rich Gossett has nearly 39 years of experience in 
environmental chemistry.  From 1977 to 1991, he 
worked at the Southern California Coastal Water 
Research Project (SCCWRP), from 1991-1995 at the 
Orange County Sanitation Districts Trace Organics 
Laboratory, and from 1995-2009 at CRG Marine 
Laboratories, a commercial laboratory. In 2009, he took 
the position as Director of the Institute for Integrated 
Research in Materials, Environments, and Society 
located on the campus of California State University, 
Long Beach and concurrently in 2010 started a 
commercial laboratory, Physis Environmental 
Laboratories, in Anaheim. 
Representing: Commercial and academic sectors 
Contact: richgossett@physislabs.com  



mailto:bgodfrey@montrose-env.com

mailto:gozaleza@saccounty.net

mailto:richgossett@physislabs.com





 


 


 


 
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


David Kimbrough, Pasadena Water and Power 


Dr. Kimbrough (“kim broh”) has worked for over 30 
years in a wide variety of laboratory settings, including 
toxicology, food, indoor air chemistry, outdoor air 
chemistry, solid waste, wastewater, and drinking water 
all in Los Angeles County. He has chaired the 
Laboratory Accreditation Work Group and the 
Association of California Water Agencies’ Lab Issues 
Work Group. He was a member of the Federal Advisory 
Committee on Detection and Quantitation. He is 
currently the Water Quality Manager for Pasadena 
Water & Power. 
Representing: small, So. CA municipal laboratories 
Contact: dkimbrough@cityofpasadena.net  
 
Mark Koekemoer, Napa Sanitation District 
Mr. Mark Koekemoer serves as the Laboratory 
Supervisor for the Napa Sanitation District (NSD).  Mr. 
Koekemoer worked professionally as a chemist for NSD 
since 2003.  In oversight of the laboratory department, 
Mr. Koekemoer has implemented laboratory automation 
for the purposes of laboratory and agency 
compliance.  Mr. Koekemoer was a member of various 
Standard Method Joint Task Groups from 2003 to 2015, 
and served as a key representative for the North Bay 
Laboratory Committee. Mr. Koekemoer holds an M.S 
from Texas A&M University. 
Representing: small, Northern CA municipal laboratories 
Contact: mkoekemoer@napasan.com 
 


Bruce LaBelle, California Department of Toxic 
Substances Control 
Bruce LaBelle has directed the Department’s 
Environmental Chemistry Laboratory since 2005. From 
1989 until 2005, he worked in DTSC’s Pollution 
Prevention Program, evaluating environmental 
technologies. From 1987 until 1989, he was a field 
inspector in DTSC’s Enforcement Program. He has a 
Ph.D. in Organic Chemistry from the University of 
California, Davis, and postdoctoral research experience 
at the UC San Francisco Department of Pharmaceutical 
Chemistry in structure-activity relationships and at the 
University of Colorado, Boulder in the synthesis of 
optically active chemicals. 
Representing: Dept. Toxic Substances Control 
Contact: bruce.labelle@dtsc.ca.gov  



mailto:dkimbrough@cityofpasadena.net

mailto:mkoekemoer@napasan.com

mailto:bruce.labelle@dtsc.ca.gov





 


 
 
 
 


 
 
 
 
 


 
 
 
 
 


 
Allison Mackenzie, Babcock Laboratories 
Ms. Mackenzie is President and CEO of Babcock 
Laboratories, Inc., a significant environmental services 
and solutions provider to government and commercial 
clients in the State. Ms. Mackenzie has over 35 years of 
laboratory and laboratory management experience in 
food & beverage, drinking water, groundwater, 
wastewater, and hazardous materials testing. 
Representing: medium /large California commercial 
laboratories 
Contact: amackenzie@babcocklabs.com  
 
 
 
Guilda Neshvad, Positive Lab Services 
Dr. Guilda Neshvad is Laboratory Director for Positive 
Lab Service, a commercial environmental testing 
laboratory located in downtown Los Angeles.   
She has 28 years of experience in the environmental 
industry with extensive experience in data quality and 
system quality management with laboratories as data 
generators as well as environmental consulting groups 
as data users for a wide range of regulatory purposes 
and DOD projects. 
Representing: Hazardous Waste laboratories 
Contact: Guilda@positivelabservice.com 
 
 
 
Renee Spears, State Water Resources Control 
Board 
Renee graduated from California State University, 
Sacramento with a bachelor’s degree in Human Biology 
(1985). From 1985 to 2001, she worked as a laboratory 
analyst in both the food industry and environmental 
laboratories. Her career in state service began inin in 
2001 with the Department of Toxic Substances Control 
as a Hazardous Substance Control Scientist. In 2012, 
she transferred to the State Water Resources Control 
Board and serves as the Quality Assurance Officer in 
the Office of Information Management and Analysis. 
Representing: State Water Resources Control Board 
Contact: renee.spears@waterboards.ca.gov  
 



mailto:amackenzie@babcocklabs.com

mailto:Guilda@positivelabservice.com

mailto:renee.spears@waterboards.ca.gov






ITEM #4 
March 23, 2016 
 


4 
 


 
ITEM #4 – Procedural Review – 9:30am 
 


1. Establish Ground Rules for meetings - (Christine Sotelo, All participants) 
 
Item #4.1 Documents: 


 Proposed Ground Rules 
 
 
Notes:  


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


Action Items: 


 
 
 
 







ITEM #4 
March 23, 2016 


5 
 


 
2. Review By-Laws to clarify the role of ELTAC - (Christine Sotelo, All 


participants) 
 
Item #4.2 Documents: 


 ELTAC By-Laws 
 


See Article III: Objectives and Functions: 


 
ELTAC serves to implement objectives and requirements authorized in Section 100863 of the 
California Health and Safety Code. 
 
ELTAC is established in law to "assist, advise and make recommendations regarding technical, 
scientific, and administrative matters concerning the accreditation or certification of environmental 
laboratories." (Health and Safety Code Section 100863) The law further provides that: 
"Subcommittees of the committee may be appointed consisting of committee members and other 
persons having particular knowledge of a subject area, for the purpose of assisting the … [State 
Water Resources Control Board] on special problems and making recommendations to the 


Committee for consideration in the establishment of rules and regulations.” 
 
ELTAC shall assist the State Water Resources Control Board, Division of Drinking Water 
(hereafter referred to as “Division”), Environmental Laboratory Accreditation Program (hereafter 
referred to as “ELAP”) by providing advice and making recommendations regarding technical and 
scientific matters for the establishment of rules and regulations that will ensure the proper 
administration and enforcement of provisions pursuant to Health and Safety Code, sections 
100825-100920 as well as provisions in other statutes that impact environmental laboratory 
activity. 
 
The Committee shall also function as a means of exchanging information and opinions related to 
environmental laboratory technology, methods, and practice. In support of this function, ELAP 
may request ELTAC member laboratories participate in outreach and education efforts and allow 
assessors the ability to tour their laboratories in order to learn about technologies the assessors 
have not previously witnessed. 


 
ELTAC shall assist ELAP in: 
A. Developing scientifically rigorous recommendations regarding issues that impact the regulated 
laboratory community, regulatory agencies, and data users 
B. Improving communications and outreach between ELAP and its stakeholder communities 
C. The operation and improvement of ELAP 
D. The implementation of a performance based, transparent accreditation program that is 
accountable to ELAP stakeholders.” 


 
Notes:  


 
 
Action Items: 


 
 


 
 
 







ITEM #4 
March 23, 2016 
 


6 
 


 
 
 
 
 


3. Discuss development of Mission Statement - (All members) 
 
Consider: 


 What is our purpose? 


 How do we accomplish it? 


 Whom do we do it for? 


 What value are we bringing? 
 
Notes: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 
Action Items: 


 
 
 
 
 


 







ITEM #4 
March 23, 2016 


7 
 


4. Review Bagley-Keene Open Meeting Act - (Catherine Ewing) 
 
Item #4.4 Documents: 


 Bagley-Keene Open Meeting Act of 2014 
 
 
Key Points: 


 Created to give the public a seat at the table in the decision making 
process 


 Requires government bodies to notice meetings, prepare agendas, accept 
public testimony, and conduct meetings in public 


o Official notice and agenda - 10 days before meeting 
o Meeting materials as soon as possible 


 Rules governing communications between representatives outside of 
noticed meetings: 


o Convening a quorum 
o Serial meetings 


 
 
Notes: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 


Action Items: 
 


 


 







ITEM #4 
March 23, 2016 
 


8 
 


5. Review Robert’s Rules of Order – (Christine Sotelo) 
 


Item #4.5 Documents: 
 Robert Rule’s Cheat Sheet 


 
 
Key points: 


 Two principles govern each meeting: 
o One speaker at a time 
o Only one item can be discussed at a time 


 Goal: Reach group decision 


 Main points: 
o Agenda – stick to it 
o Minutes – record of what is done at a meeting 
o Chairperson – runs the meeting 
o Motion – move to recommend action by the committee 


 Amend a motion – change the motion 
 Amend an amendment – change the changed motion 


 
Notes: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Action Items: 
 
 
 
 


 







ITEM #4 
March 23, 2016 


9 
 


 
6. ELTAC member roles and responsibilities – (Christine Sotelo) 


 


 Designated ELAP Officer  (DELAPO)  


 Scribe 


 State Regulatory Agency Employee 


 Chairperson 


 Representative Member 
 


See By-Laws, Article VI: 
 
D. Expectations 
Representatives and SRAEs must have the resources and technical expertise to support 
participation on ELTAC. Representatives and SRAEs are expected to attend all ELTAC meetings, 
and provide an oral report out to ELTAC during the October meeting on communication held with 
their constituents. Failure to provide reports may result in dismissal from ELTAC at the discretion 
of the Deputy Director. In order to facilitate discussion, Representatives and SRAEs may attend 
meetings in person or remotely. Failure to attend ELTAC meetings may result in dismissal as 
outlined in Section E of this Article. 
 
E. Absences and Dismissal 
In the event a Representative or SRAE cannot attend an ELTAC meeting, he/she may choose an 
alternate to attend the meeting. An alternate may speak on behalf of a Representative or SRAE 
but the alternate’s presence does not count toward a quorum. If a Representative or SRAE has 
sent an alternate in his/her place, that alternate shall not vote on agenda items. If the Chairperson 
cannot attend an ELTAC meeting, he or she must select an alternate to act as the Chairperson 
from existing ELTAC membership. A Representative/SRAE may be removed by the Deputy 
Director or by a 2/3 vote by the voting members on ELTAC. In the event a Representative or 
SRAE obtains work in a new field or fails to represent his/her constituents, a new Representative 
or SRAE shall take his/her place in accordance with the process outlined in Article V. 


 
Notes: 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 


Action Items: 
 
 
 
 







ITEM #4 
March 23, 2016 
 


10 
 


 
7. Reporting Procedures – (Christine Sotelo) 


 
See By-Laws, Article VI: 
 
D. Expectations 
Representatives and SRAEs must have the resources and technical expertise to support 
participation on ELTAC. Representatives and SRAEs are expected to attend all ELTAC meetings, 
and provide an oral report out to ELTAC during the October meeting on communication held with 
their constituents. Failure to provide reports may result in dismissal from ELTAC at the discretion 
of the Deputy Director. In order to facilitate discussion, Representatives and SRAEs may attend 
meetings in person or remotely. Failure to attend ELTAC meetings may result in dismissal as 
outlined in Section E of this Article. 


 
Notes: 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


Action Items: 
 
 
 
 







